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About

CHINA GAS

China Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group” or “China
Gas”) are one of China’s largest trans-regional,
integrated energy suppliers and service providers.
Focusing on China, it is primarily engaged in the
investment, construction, and operation of city
and township gas pipelines, gas terminals,
storage and transport facilities, and gas logistics
systems to deliver natural gas and liquefied
petroleum gas (“LPG"”) to residential, industrial
and commercial users. The Group also builds and
operates compressed natural gas (“CNG")/
liquefied natural gas (“LNG") fueling stations
while developing and applying natural gas and
LPG technologies. In addition, it has drawn on its
extensive consumer base to form a
comprehensive business portfolio of value-added
services, urban heating, new energy, electricity
distribution and sales and charging stations.
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— MILESTONES

FY2001/02 FY2005/06
© ©

Commenced city gas businesses e 50 city gas projects in total
e 806,103 households connected
 176.4 million m? natural gas sold

FY2003/04 FY2007/08
\ 4 \ 4
e 40 city gas projects in total ® 68 city gas projects in total
® 266,992 households connected e 2,253,044 households connected
 39.1 million m? natural gas sold 1.1 billion m? natural gas sold
FY2009/10 FY2011/12
\ 4 \ 4
e 123 city gas projects in total e 160 city gas projects in total
e 4,837,436 households connected e 7,187,894 households connected
* 3.6 billion m? natural gas sold * 5.8 billion m? natural gas sold
FY2010/11 FY2012/13
\ 4 \ 4
e 148 city gas projects in total e 179 city gas projects in total

6,078,806 households connected
4.6 billion m® natural gas sold

8,438,991 households connected
7.0 billion m? natural gas sold
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FY2013/14

MILESTONES

FY2015/16

237 city gas projects in total
10,306,995 households connected
8.2 billion m? natural gas sold

FY2014/15

305 city gas projects in total
14,691,200 households connected
10.0 billion m? natural gas sold

FY2016/17

@
273 city gas projects in total
12,590,944 households connected
9.1 billion m? natural gas sold

FY2017/18

@
330 city gas projects in total
20,681,656 households connected
12.4 billion m? natural gas sold

FY2021/22

S

e 660 piped gas projects with concession

Thym

rights in total
e 43,095,245 households connected
 36.7 billion m?natural gas sold

FY2019/20

495 piped gas projects with
concession rights in total
24,570,321 households connected
18.9 billion m? natural gas sold

FY2018/19

o
604 piped gas projects with
concession rights in total
35,105,524 households connected
25.4 billion m? natural gas sold

FY2020/21

L 4
542 piped gas projects with
concession rights in total
29,678,157 households connected
24.7 billion m? natural gas sold

@
642 piped gas projects with
concession rights in total
40,153,824 households connected
31.2 billion m? natural gas sold

Milestones
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Financial Highlights

— FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

for the year ended 31 March 2021/22 2020721 Change
Turnover (HK$'000) 88,225,193 69,975,381 26.1%
Gross profit (HK$'000) 15,738,992 18,102,158 -13.1%
Profit attributable to owners of the Company (HK$’000) 7,662,036 10,478,683 -26.9%
Core profit attributable to owners of the Company (HK$’000) 8,052,394 10,317,718 -22.0%
Basic earnings per share (in HK$) 1.39 2.01 -30.8%
Annual dividend per share (in HK$) 0.55 0.55 —
2021/22 2020/21 Change

Total assets (HK$000) 163,146,352 140,720,642 15.9%
Bank balance and cash (HK$'000) 10,188,486 8,571,619 18.9%
Shareholders’ equity (HK$'000) 63,577,893 51,936,860 22.4%
Key Financial Indicators
for the year ended 31 March 2021/22 2020/21
Average finance costs 3.7% 4.1%
Current ratio (times) 1.02 1.09
Gross profit margin 17.8% 25.9%
Net gearing ratio 63.7% 65.0%

Definitions:

o Average finance costs 3 Current ratio

Total interest expenses/Average borrowing for the year

3 Net gearing ratio
Net borrowing/Total equity

China Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22

Current assets/Current liabilities

3 Gross profit margin
Gross profit/Turnover



OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS =

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
for the year ended 31 March

2021/22 2020/21 Change

Number of piped-gas projects 660 642 18
Connectable residential users for city gas projects

(million households) 53.5 53.0 1.0%
Penetration rate of residential users for city gas projects (%) 65.2% 60.8% 4.4 pts
Total natural gas sale volume (million m3) 36,703.2 31,210.7 17.6%
Natural gas sold through city and township gas projects 21,918.8 18,699.2 17.2%
Natural gas sold through direct-supply pipelines and trade 14,784.4 12,511.5 18.2%
Sales of natural gas in city and township gas projects

(customer breakdown) (million m?)
Residential 7,353.9 6,107.4 20.4%
Industrial 10,804.3 9,018.3 19.8%
Commercial 2,948.2 2,549.2 15.7%
CNG/LNG stations 812.4 1,024.3 -20.7%
New connections
Residential 2,941,421 5,048,300 -41.7%

City gas projects 2,668,059 3,360,769 -20.6%

Township gas projects 273,362 1,687,531 -83.8%
Industrial 2,762 2,368 16.6%
Commercial 31,200 32,777 -4.8%
Accumulated number of connected customers and gas stations
Residential 43,095,245 40,153,824 7.3%

City gas projects 34,897,911 32,229,852 8.3%

Township gas projects 8,197,334 7,923,972 3.5%
Industrial 19,808 17,046 16.2%
Commercial 297,664 266,464 11.7%
CNG/LNG stations 533 557 -4.3%

Operational Highlights 05










—— NATURAL GAS

08

Abundant and versatile, natural gas is clean, low-carbon,
efficient, safe, and stable, and is a vital resource for
effectively reducing GHG emissions.

In 2021, the first year of the 14th Five-Year Plan, the Chinese
government started a new chapter of high-quality energy
development and continued promoting the transition to
green energy. The 14th Five-Year Plan for a Modern Energy
System states that the modern energy system centers around
cleanliness, low carbon, safety, and efficiency. In recent
years, the central government has put air pollution control
high on its agenda and has been seeking to keep the energy
supply chain secure and stable in the medium to long run.
Following the government’s ambition to achieve carbon peak
and neutrality by 2030 and 2060, gradually replacing coal
and oil with renewables such as wind and solar power has
become an irresistible trend. This trend will rely heavily on
natural gas, a crucial energy source for China to steadily
transition to low-carbon energy consumption. Even after
China peaks its carbon emissions, the natural gas industry
will continue growing steadily for five to ten years, as the
core energy policymakers and experts unanimously
forecasted. Therefore, the Group is confident about the
prospects of China’s city gas industry, a sector in which it has
been deeply engaged for two decades. It will step up its
efforts to develop natural gas as the core business and fully
utilize natural gas to facilitate green development, energy-
saving, and CO, reduction.

The Group is one of China'’s largest trans-regional integrated
energy suppliers. Across cities and townships, the Group
delivers more than 7.35 billion m?® of natural gas to more
than 43 million households every year for bathing, heating,
and cooking. At restaurants, hotels, and gas stations,
317,472 industrial, commercial, and transport companies
receive more than 14.6 billion m? of natural gas from our
Group to keep their premises and vehicles running. Through
our nationwide pipelines of 525,461 kilometers, we have
made this clean, convenient, and safe energy accessible to
150 million Chinese people. By supplying natural gas as a
clean energy source, the Group not only contributes to
China’s economic prosperity but also helps to cut air
pollution significantly, thus improving people’s quality of life.

China Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

18

additional piped gas projects
with concession rights

RESIDENTIAL USERS DEVELOPMENT

2,941,421

additional households of
residential users

NATURAL GAS

INDUSTRIAL AND
COMMERCIAL USERS
DEVELOPMENT

33,962

additional industrial and
commercial users

Natural Gas 09
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NATURAL GAS

TOWNSHIP COAL-TO-GAS PROJECTS

In recent years, the Chinese government has been promoting coal-to-gas projects to boost economic development, enhance
rural living conditions, and mitigate coal-burning’s impacts on air quality. The projects mainly take place in northern provinces
and cities, where natural gas infrastructure was built to promote clean heating to replace coal. As the projects went ahead,
the air quality in the north significantly improved. Evidently, the projects contributed a third to the region’s PM2.5 reduction
and environmental improvement and demonstrated the significance of replacing coal with natural gas.

Following the central government’s policies, China Gas has fully engaged in environmental protection campaigns over the
past five years. During those years, the Group completed connections for over 8.2 million households under the township
coal-to-gas projects and provided 6.0 billion m? of natural gas to rural residents for winter heating, reducing CO, emissions
by 17.1 million tons.

Last year, the resurgences of COVID-19 across China intensified the impact of the industrial cycles and added to the
downward economic pressure. However, China Gas rose to the challenge and spared no effort in fulfilling its significant social
responsibility of ensuring gas supply in winter. Meanwhile, the Group stepped up its efforts to recover subsidies from the
government. We are dedicated to constructing high-quality, efficient gas projects, providing safe, clean gas for rural residents
in northern China, and contributing to China’s Beautiful Countryside Initiative and Rural Revitalization Strategy.

Natural Gas
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Operational Locations of

Natural Gas

1. INNER MONGOLIA AUTONOMOUS REGION

Hohhot, Wushen Banner, Baotou, Horinger County, Togtoh County, Tumed Left
Banner, Wuchuan County, Alxa League Wausitai Industrial Zone, Urad Front
Banner, Liangcheng County, Dengkou County, Jining District, Ulangab City,
Dongshan Industrial Park, Ningcheng County, Hohhot Shengle Economic Zone,
Qingshuihe County, Urad Middle Banner, Ejin Horo Banner, Yuanbaoshan District
in Chifeng, Chifeng Economic Transformation and Development Pilot Zone,
Xinghe County, Baarin Right Banner

2. XINJJANG UYGUR AUTONOMOUS REGION
Horgos Economic Development Zone, Huocheng County Economic Development
Zone

3. HEBEI

Shijiazhuang Gaocheng, Cangzhou Development Zone, Nanpi County, Qinghe
County, Wangdu City, Tangshan Nampo, Leting County, Xinle, Pingshan County,
Fengnan District of Tangshan, Neigiu County, Bohai New Zone, Cangzhou
High-tech Zone, Tang County, Handan Jinan New Zone, Luguan, Quyang County,
Raoyang County, Botou New Zone, Laishui County, Dingzhou, Dingxing County,
Yutian County, Yutian Town and Caitinggiao Town of Yutian County, Changli
County, Yu County, Xiahuayuan District, Chengan County, Wugiao County,
Ningjin County, Linzhang County, Zaogiang County, Longyao County, Xingtang
County, Gucheng County City Area, Gucheng County Administrative Jurisdiction,
Nangong City, Jize County, Xinhe County, Xingtai, Kangbao County, Zanhuang
County, Yu County Economic Development Zone, Nanhe County, Julu County,
Linxi County, Xian County, Guangping County, Baixiang County of Xingtai City

4. GANSU
Lingtai County, Huating County, Jingning County, Chongxin County, Huachi
County, Heshui County

5. TIANJIN
Baodi District in Tianjin, Jinghai Economic Development Zone, Ziya Industrial Zone

6. SHANXI
Shuozhou City, Xiangning County in Linfen City

7. SHANDONG

Dezhou, Qingdao, Leling, Qufu, Sishui, Qufu New Zone, Weifang Binhai
Economic Development Zone, Liaocheng, Dezhou Tianqu Industrial Zone, Linyi
City, Linyi Economic Zone, Linshu County, Zhanggiu District of Jinan City,
Rongcheng City, Haiyang City, Wendeng City, Rushan City, Weifang Free Trade
Zone, Jiaxiang County, Ningyang County, Laiyang Economic Development Zone

8. NINGXIA HUI AUTONOMOUS REGION
Zhongwei, Guyuan City

9. HENAN

Xinyang, Jiaozuo City, Qinyang City, Wuzhi County, Xiuwu County,

Luohe City 7 Projects, Xiping County, Jiyuan City, Sanmenxia City, Shanxian
County, Sanmenxia Industrial Park, Lingbao City, Yanshi City, Yongcheng City,
Yongcheng Industrial Zone, Xinmi City, Huangchuan County, Guangshan
County, Gushi County, Huiguo Town, Gongyi City, Yuanyang County, Hui
County, Mengzhou City, Wen County, Puyang County, Puyang Industrial Zone,
Tangyin County, Nanyang City Wolong District, Suiping County, Shangcheng
County, Ningling County, Xi County, Luoshan Town, Neihuang Town, Puyang
Town, Yanjin Town, Changyuan Town, Gongyi Town, Nanyang Town, Luoning
Town, Zhengyang Town

10. SHAANXI
Baoji, Qishan County, Yulin, Linyou County, Shangnan County, Heyang County

11. JJIANGSU

Nanjing Jiang Bei, Pizhou, Yangzhong, Pu Kou District, Nanjing, Jiawang District,
Xuzhou, Xinyi, Xuzhou, Yangzhou City, Taixing East District, Lianyungang
Haizhou Economic Development Zone, Nanjing Jinggiao, Donghai County, Tong
Shan, Sihong County City Center, Sihong County, Guannan County, Nanjing
Changlu Industrial Park, certain villages and towns of Sihong County

12. ANHUI

Wuhu, Huainan, Shouxian, Suzhou, Wuhu County, Nanling County, Huoshan
County, Fengtai County, Wuwei County, Qimen County, Xiuning County, Maoji
Development Zone, Huoqu County, Susong Linjiang Industrial Zone, Suzhou Si
County, Suzhou Yonggiao Economic Zone, Wuhe County, Si County, Susong
City, Taihu County, Hefei Binghu New District, She County, Huinan Town of
Wuhe County, Linbei Village, Xinji Town, Toupu Town, Wuhe Economic Zone,
town of Si County

13. HUBEI
Yichang, Xiaogan, Hanchuan, Yingcheng, Yunmeng, Suizhou, Tianmen,
Dangyang, Wuhan Jiangnan, Laohekou, Danjiangkou, Yuanan, Dawu
County, Yun County, Wuxue Industrial Zone, Shiyan Wudangshan Zone,
Donghu High-tech Zone, Jianli County, Honghu City, Songzi City, Xinzhou
District in Wuhan, Wuxue City, Yingshan County, Tuanfeng County,
Longganhu district in Huangmei County, Huanggang City, Xishui County,
Meichuan Town in Wuxue City, Huangmei County, Shiyan, Zigui County,
Yunxi County, Huangshi Port Industrial Park, Yunxi County, Xiaogan
High-tech Zone, Chongyang County, Honghu Economic Development Zone
of Wuhan, Yunxi County

14. ZHEJIANG

Hangzhou Xiaoshan District, Taizhou, Jinhua, Hangzhou Jiangdong
Development Zone, Daishan Economic Development Zone, Yueging City,
Xiushan Village of Zhejiang

15. CHONGQING
Yubei

16. JIANGXI

Nanchang Wanli District, Xinfeng County, Wuyuan County, Yihuang
County, Xinfeng Industrial Park, Nancheng County, Quannan County,
Shangyou County, Jinyuan New District in Yichun City

17. HUNAN

Yiyang, Youxian, Zhangjiajie, Yiyang Datonghu, Yiyang City New Zone,
Huaihua National Agriculture and Technology Zone, Anhua County,
Zhijiang Dong Autonomous County, Baojing County, Huishangang
Concentrated Industrial Park of Yiyang, Chaling County, Nan County, Lu
Kou County, Yanlin County

18. FUJIAN

30 cities/regions, Sanming City, Shaowu City, Wuping County, Taining
County, Qingliu County, Youxi County, Datian County, Jianning County,
Huaan Economic Zone, Ninghua County in Sanming

19. GUIZHOU
Kaili City

20. YUNNAN
Dali Haidong New Zone, Baoshan City, Luchun County

21. GUANGXI ZHUANG AUTONOMOUS REGION
Nanning, Yulin, Qinzhou, Liuzhou, Fangchenggang, Nanning ASEAN
Development Zone, Laibin, Baise, Bobai, Chongzuo, Guiping, Luchuan,
Tiandeng County, Dahua County, Hechi, Tianlin County, Cenxi, Napo
County, Liucheng County, Luocheng Mulao Autonomous County, Yulin
Environmental Protection Industrial Park

22. GUANGDONG

Maoming, Conghua, Meizhou, Yunfu, Shanwei, Xinxing County, Fengshun
County, Pingyuan County, Dapu County, Wuhua County, Huazhou, Luhe
County, Mei County, Jieyang Industrial Park, Ruyuan County




23. HAINAN PROVINCE
Qiongzhong Li-Miao Autonomous County

24 HEILONGIJIANG

Harbin, Jiamusi, Mudanjiang, Daxing’anling Jiagedaqi District,
Huachuan County, Tangyuan County, Huanan County, Suibin
County, Tongjiang, Mudanjiang Jiangnan Development Zone,
Nongkenbaoquanling, Raohe County, Qitaihe Jinsha New
Zone, Mulan County, Chengguan of Teili City, Fuyu County,
Boli County, Luobei County, Yichun City Xinging District, Jixi,
Lingdong District in Shuangyashan, Heihe City, Nongken
Hongxinglong District, Wudalianchi City, Xunke County,
Qingan County, Sunwu County, Shuangyashan City, Tailai
County, Acheng, Anda, Bin County, Wuchang, Zhaoyuan
County, Fangzheng County, Jiansanjiang, Yilan Economic
Development Zone

25. JILIN

Fusong, Baishan City, Changbai Mountain International Tourist
Resort Zone, Jingyu County, Fuyu City, Zhenlai County,
Gongzhuling City National Agricultural Science and Technology
Park, Jiaohe City, Huadian City, Dongfeng County, Lushuihe
Town and Quanyang Town in the administrative region of
Fusong County, Changbai County

26. LIAONING

Shenyang City, Fushun, Jinzhou Economic Hi-Tech
Development Zone, Shenyang Sujiatun, Dalian Jinzhou
Development Zone, Liaoyang, Gaizhou, Zhuanghe City,
Zhuanghe Industrial Park, Pulandian, Liaoyang Economic Zone,
Liaoyang Taizi River, Xinbin County, Jinzhou Longxiwan New
Zone, Qingyuan County, Fushun County, Yixian Qilihe,
Changhai County, Jinzhou Dayou Economic Area, Yingkou
Bohai Tech City, Jinzhou City, Kuandian Manchu Autonomous
County, Dalian Puwan Economic Zone, Dandong City,
Fengcheng City

27. BEJING
Beijing Mentougou District, Beijing Economic-Technological
Development Area

¢

6 6 0 Piped Gas Projects

1 5 Provincial Capital Cities &
Municipalities

—O— Long Distance Pipeline Project

Major National Natural Gas Pipelines

==O— West-East Gas Pipeline No. 1 —O—— Sichuan-East Gas Pipeline
~~O-—— West-East Gas Pipeline No. 2 —O— China-Russia Natural Gas Pipeline
~~_— Shaanxi-Beijing Pipeline No. 2 =—O— China-Myanmar Natural Gas Pipeline

=—O— Zhongwu Pipeline (not drawn to scale)
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— LIQUEFIED PETROLEUM GAS

LPG is a colorless and volatile gas. It is pollution-free and has a
high calorific value and a stable thermal mass, therefore, is easy
to transport, low-carbon, efficient, and clean. It has supported
Chinese industries and cities growing stably for years as a
widely-used chemical raw material and commercial, industrial,
and transport fuel. It reaches households mainly through gas
pipelines and cylinders and has become an indispensable clean
energy source for daily life in the city and the countryside.

Before 2020, China’s LPG production and imports grew every
year, and the increasing use of propane dehydrogenation (PDH)
equipment pushed up LPG demand. After 2020, China’s carbon
peak and neutrality policy encouraged the integration of LPG
and natural gas and boosted LPG demand, leading the sector to
the high-quality development stage. In addition, as the world
economy slowly recovers from the pandemic, global home fuel,
chemical, and deep processing industries are returning to
normal, leading to an increase in LPG production. In 2021,
China’s LPG production was 47.57 million tons, up 6.9% from
the previous year, and the LPG import was 24.42 million tons,
up 24.2% year-on-year. LPG has become a sound supplement
to natural gas in Chinese cities and villages.

After more than a decade of development, the Group’s LPG

business covers the entire supply chain from imports, terminals,

and trading to warehousing, logistics, filling, distribution, and

retail. As a result, it has become China's largest vertically

integrated comprehensive LPG operator and service provider, offering stable gas supplies to residential, commercial, and
industrial users. This year, the Group continued integrating demand from industrial users, trade, retail, and Smart MicroGrid
users. It emphasized procurement-sales integration, trade coordination, quality improvement, innovation, coordination, and
complementarity to promote vertical supply chain integration of the LPG industry and achieve high-quality development.

16 China Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22




LIQUEFIED PETROLEUM GAS

In the upstream sector, the Group cooperates with international resource providers and traders to broaden procurement
channels. It operates seven LPG terminals and four large storage and logistics bases for petrochemical products in China’s
coastal areas. It has also built a large domestic coastal LPG shipping fleet and a VLGC ocean-going fleet. The terminals’
annual import capacity is more than 10 million tons. The capacity of the LPG storage facilities is more than 400,000 m?, and
the figure for the chemical storage facilities is more than 100,000 m®. In addition, because the government encourages using
clean energy and lightweight raw materials, the Group has utilized its advantages in raw gas sourcing channels and the
capacity of ship fleets to collaborate with deep processing companies and raw material distributors. For example, the Group
has launched a light hydrocarbon deep processing project in Taixing, Jiangsu Province, through Jiangsu Yanchang Zhongran
Chemical Co., Ltd; a storage project in a liquefied hydrocarbon terminal in Quanzhou, Fujian Province; and two liquefied
hydrocarbon storage facility projects in Jiangsu Province, and the Dongying Port, Shandong Province. These projects will
increase annual LPG sales by over three million tons, enabling the Group to form a full supply chain from international
sourcing and shipping to trade and terminal warehousing, thus consolidating its leading position in the Chinese LPG industry.

In the downstream sector, the Group has boosted the sales of bottled gas and increased LPG users every year through its
logistics fleet and smart, nationwide distribution network. Furthermore, the Group has been integrating trade and retail to
utilize the end-user market. By drawing on dozens of hazardous chemicals transport fleets and the advanced logistics
management system, the Group has integrated procurement, transport, and sales to enhance business performances. In
addition, the Group seeks to digitize the retailing business by developing new, platform-based retailing models and set up a
sound and efficient retail network management system to lead the innovation in China’s LPG retail sector.

Liquefied Petroleum Gas
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LIQUEFIED PETROLEUM GAS

LPG SMART MICROGRID

Now that the Chinese government has proposed to encourage using gas and support the construction of safe and reliable
gas storage tanks and MicroGrids in rural areas, the Group has rolled out the innovative Smart MicroGrid system to fulfill
social responsibilities. Previously, villagers accessed natural gas through gas cylinders and had to store and look after the
cylinders themselves. Under the Smart MicroGrid system, they access gas through pipelines linked to small storage tanks. Gas
for the tanks comes from fuel trucks, so there is no need to build long pipelines and large gas supply stations. Moreover, this
system’s equipment follows technical specifications for ensuring intrinsic safety, incorporates features that guard against
leaks, overpressure, and earthquakes, and is under gas companies’ remote monitoring. Thus, it is safer, more flexible, and
more economical. In addition, when combined with automation, loT, cloud platform, and Al, the system has immense
potential to become intelligent to fulfill market needs. It enables automated operation and remote online monitoring and
management of the equipment. This feature will allow China’s rural gas supply system to be safer and more digitalized and
contribute to the national Rural Revitalization strategy. Moreover, now that the Group has integrated the up, middle, and
downstream sectors of the LPG industry chain, it can provide Smart MicroGrids with stable resources and extensive sales
channels, boost LPG-MicroGrid synergy, and steadily increase LPG sales.

Following the prudent-investment principle, the Group will continue innovating Smart MicroGrid technologies, cultivating the
market, and steadily promoting the system as the primary supply method for China’s coastal and southern rural areas.

Liquefied Petroleum Gas
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—— VALUE-ADDED SERVICES

24

In addition to its gas business, the Group has tapped into its gas service networks, consumer stickiness, and the brand’s
impact to develop value-added services. This business is an effective means for the Group to explore and extract potential
consumer values, enhance brand competitiveness, and cultivate endogenous growth. The Group has nearly 50 million
residential natural gas and LPG users in 30 provinces, municipalities, and autonomous regions across China, covering a
population of more than 150 million in cities and townships. This vast user base contains an immense potential value.

Relying on its vast customer base and corporate brand strategies, the Group promotes gas-related equipment and kitchen
products under Gasbo, the Group’s proprietary brand. These products are primarily gas stoves, gas water heaters, gas
furnaces, range hoods, disinfection cabinets and integrated stoves. Sales of these products have been snowballing for
multiple years in a row. Additionally, the Group sells integrated gas insurance, corrugated pipes, alarms, smart home
products, and integrated home products and services. Furthermore, following the country’s carbon peak and neutrality goals,
the Group promotes the sales of gas-fired boilers and energy-saving equipment, coal-fired boiler retrofitting, and energy-
saving consultancy and renovation. Moreover, after the Group diversified gas-related products and expanded sales channels,
it has drawn on Smart Living’s cutting-edge technology to integrate smart equipment with e-commerce and meet users’
household needs. Dedicated to creating a simple, optimal, and beautiful life and filling the kitchen with love, the Group
provides families with frequently consumed daily products, kitchen products, and residential complex conveniences to
gradually realize the “China Gas Family +" business ecosystem strategy.
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VALUE-ADDED SERVICES

As value-added services become more well-developed, the Group continues tapping into Yipin Smart Living’s online platform
and the Group’s user base, through the use of mobile Internet, big data on energy consumption, and Al to upgrade the
process of production, transport, and sales and integrate online services with offline experience and modern logistics.
Additionally, the Group has carried out various online and offline marketing events by utilizing the “new retail” platform,
which covers customer services and community-based vertical e-commerce sales. Furthermore, the Group has introduced the
3x3x3 grid-based retail business model. The model seeks to build trust with users, become a one-stop kitchen manager for
families, and provide B2C carefree services from product sales to installation, safety checks, and maintenance. In the future, it
will further integrate online and offline services and resources to create the China Gas Smart Living Ecosystem, targeting
individuals, households, residential compounds, and cities. The Group will utilize this system to provide users with holistic,
prompt, and accessible smart community services. Meanwhile, the Group will integrate household IoT terminals and gas
consumption data to conduct precise marketing activities and deliver customized services. The Group strives to become a
comprehensive service platform for smart cities that integrates energy, communities, information, shopping, and urban public
services.

GRID-TYPE SERVICES, O20 INTEGRATION

Social Media E-Commerce Shopping Guide
Incentivize grid managers, social
media group partners, team leaders
and users to promote the services

Provide tips associated with the use of
gas and kitchen such as product rating,
local service and recommendations for

through commissions and accrued Val ue- good products. “Buy now” function
points rewards available
Added
Membership Reward Program Services Grid-Type Services

Leveraging China Gas' advantages,
our reward program allows customers
to redeem accrued points in exchange
for gas volume, further increasing
customer stickiness

Vertical E-Commerce

Meet users’ demand in kitchen, such
as safety check, repair and cleaning,
through delivery and door-to-door
service

Address users’ need for necessity, domestic and
kitchen related products, such as rice, flour, grain

and oil, small kitchen appliances, with related

e-commerce functions and marketing campaign

templates provided

Value-Added Services
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URBAN HEATING

Urban heating is the Group’s integrated solution to promote distributed centralized heating in residential
compounds within non-conventional heating areas in southern Chinese cities. It relies on distributed heat
sources to provide centralized heating and fulfill heating demands in southern cities. Unlike the traditional
method of supplying centralized heating used in northern China, the Group’s urban heating does not
require the construction of large municipal heating pipelines and therefore does not disrupt urban
planning or people’s lives. Furthermore, by combining multiple forms of energy and incorporating various
energy-saving measures, it reduces investment costs and pipeline impairment and creates favourable
conditions for supplying heating to multiple southern regions. The project can tailor its services to actual
situations of residential compounds and supply heat on a flexible schedule. As a result, it avoids the issues
commonly associated with the traditional centralized heating method used in the north, such as
insufficient use of pipelines, substantial energy loss, and mismatches between heat temperatures and the
season. The project can provide stable and high-quality heating to maintain an optimal indoor
temperature and humidity and ensure a readily available hot water supply. Therefore, this technology will
improve users’ quality of life, enhance the energy efficiency, and reduce air pollution, benefiting the
economy and society.

Regarding urban heating’s

operation and safety management,

China Gas's heating solution can

monitor the equipment’s energy

consumption and collect data on

key parameters of the equipment’s

operation and external conditions.

By analyzing and comparing the

energy consumption data and

operational parameters, the

monitoring system draws on big

data to determine the optimal

energy consumption level and

identify the ideal energy

consumption scenario. Moreover,

the monitoring system contributes to safety management: by collecting and analyzing real-time
operational data and connecting to safety alarm equipment, the monitoring system can conduct
intelligent scenario analysis on equipment failures, thus detecting significant hazards online and triggering
alarms promptly, with defects and safety hazards being handled and eliminated in a timely manner. As
the 5G technology develops rapidly and becomes increasingly used in commercial fields, the Group will
adopt a market and business oriented approach and increase investments in research and development to
integrate urban heating with 5G, and make the project more digital, network-based, and intelligent, to
boost energy efficiency.

The target markets of the Group’s urban heating business are located along the Yangtze River Economic
Belt, including Sichuan, Chongging, Hubei, Hunan, Anhui, Jiangxi, Zhejiang, Jiangsu, and Shanghai. These
cities and provinces cover a population of about 600 million and account for over RMB40 trillion, more
than 44%, of China’s GDP, representing some of the most economically robust, socially advanced, and
promising regions in China.

Urban Heating
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—— DUAL-CARBON & NEW ENERGY
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Since China announced its goals for carbon peak by 2030 and neutrality by 2060, its energy structure and consumption
habits have changed profoundly. The traditional energy and manufacturing industries urgently need to shift from power-
hungry and emission-intensive models to environmental-friendly and low-carbon models. In contrast, new energy, green and
carbon reduction technologies, green production, and green consumption industries will grow exponentially. Following
China’s strategic carbon peak and neutrality goals, the Group is committed to establishing a low-carbon business ecosystem
in collaboration with leading companies across various industries.

Leveraging its operational networks and user base throughout China, the Group has tapped into its strengths in safety
management, capital resources, operational experience, and technical professionals. It has established digital platforms on
carbon peak and neutrality goals and energy-efficiency management based on advanced technologies such as the digital twin
technology, cloud computing, big data, and Al. The Group will develop renewable energy through these platforms and
introduce green power to build “zero-carbon industrial parks” and “urban green pilot zones.” It will also invest in low-carbon
and carbon-reduction industries to help the government, industries, and companies achieve their carbon peak and neutrality
goals.

The Group has utilized the digital platforms to actively develop integrated energy projects in government industrial parks and
landmark buildings. Currently, the Group is preparing for a demonstration project for integrating the generation, distribution,
load, and storage of power at an industrial park in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area. The project will
integrate the production, transmission, and sales of cooling, heating, electricity, and natural gas within the park, thus
skipping intermediaries, saving energy, reducing carbon emissions for the companies, and helping them reach their carbon
neutrality goals.
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DUAL-CARBON & NEW ENERGY

The Group and the Shanghai Environment and Energy Exchange have established carbon management service centers across
China. These centres bring together advanced service providers of carbon management, carbon technology, carbon finance,
and green energy at home and abroad. They will ride on the world’s green development trend and help local governments
and companies grow sustainably, upgrade industries, and attract investments. These carbon service centers provide local
governments and companies with customized systems for managing carbon emissions, carbon assets, carbon trading, carbon
neutrality, and carbon credit ratings. Furthermore, the Group will work with local governments and develop customized
carbon management systems for enterprises to help them carry out green financial services or obtain low-cost funds such as
green loans and green bonds to support the development of green industries. At the same time, the Group will keenly
develop carbon verification, management, and trading services.

In the coming fiscal year, the Group will closely follow China’s carbon peak and neutrality policy and continue to expand the
low-carbon business ecosystem. Meanwhile, the Group will leverage national preferential policies on green finance and
provide a portfolio of products and services related to China’s dual-carbon goals. These include but are not limited to PV and
renewable energy, green electricity sales, carbon assets management, energy saving in low-carbon buildings, green transport,
and digital micro-grids.

Dual-Carbon & New Energy
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— CHAIRMAN'’S
STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of
Directors of China Gas
Holdings Limited,

| am pleased to present to
the shareholders the
2021/22 annual report.

Mr. LIU Ming Hui
Chairman, Managing Director and President
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DIVIDEND

The board of directors (“Directors”, each a “Director”) of
the Company (”“Board”) resolved to recommend payment
of a final dividend of HK45 cents per share to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 29 August 2022 (the record date for
determining the entitlement of the shareholders to receive
the proposed final dividend). Together with the interim
dividend of HK10 cents per share paid to the shareholders
on 28 January 2022, the total dividend for the year ended
31 March 2022 amounts to HK55 cents per share (total
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted to
HK55 cents per share).

The final dividend, if approved by the shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, is expected to be
payable on or around 3 October 2022 (Monday).

CHAIRMAN'S STATEN

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To be eligible to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting

For the purpose of determining the shareholders who are
entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from 15 August 2022 (Monday) to 18 August
2022 (Thursday) (both days inclusive), during which no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In
order to qualify for attending and voting at the forthcoming
annual general meeting to be held on 18 August 2022
(Thursday), all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-16, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 12 August 2022 (Friday).

Chairman’s Statement

33



34

CHAIRMAN'S STATEM

To qualify for the proposed final dividend

For the purpose of determining the shareholders who are
entitled to receive the proposed final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2022, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from 25 August 2022 (Thursday) to
29 August 2022 (Monday) (both days inclusive), during
which no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. Subject to the approval of the shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, the final dividend
will be payable to the shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on 29 August
2022 (Monday). In order to qualify for the proposed final
dividend, all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
at Shops 1712-16, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30
p.m. on 24 August 2022 (Wednesday).
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PROSPECTS

As the pandemic drags on, the world’s economic recovery
remains sluggish. The geopolitical conflict has cast a
shadow on the global value chain and energy supply. In
China, the economy faces multiple challenges from supply
chain disruptions caused by regional pandemic outbreaks
and increasing complexities and uncertainties in the
international environment. In this context, China continues
the strategy of shifting to clean, low-carbon, safe, and
efficient energy and works towards the carbon peak and
neutrality goals. These policies have accelerated energy mix
upgrading, market-oriented reforms, and the transition to
the supply and consumption of efficient, clean, and low-
carbon energy, which has brought numerous opportunities
to the natural gas industry and the new energy sector.

As one of China’s primary energy sources, natural gas is
significant for meeting the country’s energy needs,
improving people’s living standards, and developing the
economy. It is also the only premium and clean energy
among primary energy sources that can balance energy
security, economic development, and the need to respond
to climate change. In the future, it will play a central role in
fulfilling increased energy demand under the energy
structure reform. In addition, it will be vital for improving
the country’s energy consumption habits, achieving
complementarity among different energy sources, and
reaching the carbon peak and neutrality goals. Over the
past few years, China has announced many policies and
plans to support the natural gas industry. Notably, on 26
October 2021, the State Council published the Notice on
the Action Plan for Carbon Peaking before 2030, proposing
to accelerate large-scale exploitation of unconventional oil
and gas and encourage the use of natural gas. It also calls
for optimizing the structure of natural gas consumption,
prioritizing gas supply for daily life, and integrating natural
gas with other energy. Furthermore, it encourages
harnessing local environmental conditions to build natural
gas peak shaving plants, using natural gas for industrial
operations and as a chemical raw material, and fueling
vehicles and vessels with LNG. It is foreseeable that China’s
natural gas industry will usher in a golden decade of
development.



As the Group’s 20th anniversary, FY2021/22 was an
extraordinary year marked with an innovative reform as a
milestone for all members of the Group. This year, we
tackled various internal and external challenges by
remedying shortcomings, raising efficiency, and
strengthening safety management. Despite the COVID
outbreaks and floods, we acted in solidarity to maintain
stable gas supplies for the people and fulfill corporate social
responsibilities. Furthermore, we adapted our development
model, reformed the Group innovatively to pursue high-
quality development, and pressed ahead against all odds.

In the coming year, the Group will continue to enhance
safety control for gas transmission and distribution systems,
adopt ‘agile management’ to better satisfy clients’ needs,
improve main business operational models, and prioritize
gas price management and receivable collections to achieve
high-quality development. Furthermore, the Group will
increase the accountability of regional operation and
management centres and first-line companies, optimize
performance assessment and incentive schemes, provide
strategic guidance and empowerment through
headquarters, and take effective measures to motivate first-
line workers. Moreover, it will implement economic value
added (EVA) assessments across the segments and projects,
strengthen customer services, and enhance our safety
control and capital management skills. Following the
headquarters’ strategic guidance and empowerment, the
Group will cultivate businesses for carbon peak and
neutrality goals, new energy, and new retail, pursue
business innovations, and charter new territories.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEI

The Group will press ahead in solidarity, embrace market
changes, and continue fulfilling social responsibilities in the
face of new challenges and opportunities. With greater
resolve, more effective measures, and a more pragmatic
and rigorous attitude, we will continue striving for
breakthroughs, contribute a green force to China’s energy
reform and economic growth, and create greater value for
shareholders, society, and employees. Lastly, on behalf of
all directors of the Board, | wish to thank the Management
and staff of the Group for your passion and hard work this
year.

Chairman’s Statement
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COMPANY OVERVIEW

The Group is one of China’s largest trans-regional, integrated energy suppliers and service providers. Focusing on China, it is
primarily engaged in the investment, construction, and operation of city and township gas pipelines, gas terminals, storage
and transport facilities, and gas logistics systems to deliver natural gas and LPG to residential, industrial, and commercial
users. The Group also builds and operates CNG/LNG fueling stations while developing and applying natural gas and LPG
technologies. In addition, it has drawn on its extensive consumer base to form a comprehensive business portfolio of value-
added services, urban heating, new energy, electricity distribution and sales, and charging stations.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Last year was extraordinary for the Group and China’s city gas industry.

The world economy and energy supply landscape experienced profound adjustment amid setbacks to global economic
integration, persistent COVID-19 pandemic, and energy supply and price risks that resulted from the geopolitical conflict. The
irresistible trend of decarbonization worldwide fundamentally altered the global energy mix. The digital revolution triggered
rapid shifts in business paradigms and consumption habits, shaking up traditional business models and philosophies.

Domestically, the city gas industry started to see dwindling growth space and slower user increase after a decade of rapid
expansion and amid the sluggishness in the housing market in recent years. Internationally, tight gas supply led to price
fluctuations that were inevitably passed on to the domestic market and weighed on the industry’s overall dollar margin.
These changes in business climate posed new challenges to the industry’s development model.

During the period, the staff of the Group worked in solidarity to pursue high-quality development. The Group sought
innovation and breakthroughs in transaction methods, market development and operational models of the natural gas, LPG,
microgrid, and urban heating segments. It also continued to require value-added services, digital development, and dual-
carbon and new energy segments to utilize its channels fully and extend value chains.

Faced with higher-than-usual gas demand in both off and peak seasons, the Group undertook the social responsibility and
provided stable gas supply to over 43 million residential users nationwide. It also offers a clean and warm winter to millions
of rural households in North China who use natural gas for heating. Notably, the Group secured stable gas supplies for some
districts in Zhangjiakou, a Beijing Winter Olympic Games host city, and contributed to the event’s success. Racing against
time under daunting tasks, the Group swiftly carried out main and service line engineering projects and built about 36.5 km
of high and sub-high pressure pipelines, three gate stations, and four regulator stations before the Olympics kicked off. This
ensured sufficient gas supplies for the event and laid a solid foundation for a “green” Olympics.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSS

During the financial year, the Group’s total natural gas sales volume increased by 17.6% to 36.7 billion m’. During the
period, the Group followed the steady development principle and slowed down investments and connections in rural areas
strategically and significantly, resulting in a significant drop in connection revenue and profit. Total revenue increased year-
on-year by 26.1% to HK$88,225,193,000. Gross profit amounted to HK$15,738,992,000, representing a decrease of
13.1%. Profit attributable to owners of the Company decreased by 26.9% to HK$7,662,036,000. Basic earnings per share
were HK$1.39, representing a year-on-year decrease of 30.8%. When excluding the effects of non-operating or one-off
factors such as exchange gain or loss, core profit attributable to owners of the Company would be HK$8,052,394,000,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 22.0%.

SAFETY MANAGEMENT

A serious gas explosion occurred during the financial year involving the Group’s joint venture in Shiyan. The tragedy pains our
hearts and has prompted us to reflect upon ourselves profoundly. To avoid similar accidents, the Group adopted multiple
measures swiftly to improve safety management. First, the Group immediately carried out a three-year action plan to ensure
production safety, thoroughly checking for hazards across the Group, identifying blind spots in safety management, and thus
ensuring accountability. Additionally, the Group enhanced its safety management system: it accelerated the development of
the HSE management system, established five Safety Supervision Centres, hired external experts to conduct independent
safety reviews, assessment, training, guidance and services. Furthermore, the Group set up pipeline testing companies and
pipeline technology companies to implement key safety management measures and build up employees’ skills and
technologies for safety control.

The Group continued to invest in digital safety management. It has built a full-fledged intelligent management system and
applied advanced intelligent inspection equipment. Through technologies such as the SCADA platform, surveying systems,
and the Geographic Information System (GIS), the Group can monitor business operations in real-time, caution against risks,
and enhance safety throughout business processes. On such basis, the Group accelerated the development of the advanced
OMP system (Operational Management Platform) that will eventually cover the entire Group. The first phase of the OMP was
piloted in 40 project companies in April. Upon completing the construction of the system, the Group will become China’s first
nationwide gas corporation with full OMP system coverage.

NEW PROJECTS

During the financial year, the Group acquired 18 additional city and township piped gas projects. As at 31 March 2022, the
Group had obtained 660 piped gas projects with concession rights in 30 provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions in
China. The Group also had 32 long-distance natural gas pipeline projects, 533 CNG/LNG vehicle refilling stations, one coalbed
methane development project, and 106 LPG distribution projects.

During the financial year, the Group indirectly held a 49% equity interest in Beijing Huayou United Gas Development Co.,
Ltd.* Jb RIS MBS A REIZ AR A 7)) (“Beijing Huayou”) through acquisition. This company’s principal businesses cover
the investment and operation of city piped gas projects, natural gas refilling stations and LNG trading. Its gas projects are
located in Majugiao Town, Tongzhou District (operated from Beijing Economic and Technological Development Zone, Daxing
District, and Majugiao Town), Mentougou District (operated from Mentougou District and Tanzhe Temple Town), Changping
District and Shijingshan District of Beijing Municipality, Qihe County in Shandong Province and Suizhong County in Liaoning
Province. In addition, the company has built eight natural gas processing stations, six CNG mother and refueling stations, a
43 km network of high-pressure pipelines, a 95 km network of sub-high pressure pipelines, and a 583 km network of
medium-pressure pipelines. During the period, annual gas sales of Beijing Huayou and its subsidiaries amounted to 670

million m°.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSS

NATURAL GAS

Pipeline Building and Connections

City gas pipelines are the foundation for gas suppliers’ operations. By building main and service lines, the Group connects its
gas network to residential, industrial and commercial users, charging connection fees and gas bills.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had built a gas pipeline network with a total length of 525,461 km.

Development of New Users

After examining the macro environment and studying future development trends, the Group adjusted its investment and
development strategies. It significantly slowed down its investment and installation business of residential coal-to-gas projects
in rural areas in Northern China. Meanwhile, persistent downward pressure in the real estate industry also created challenges
for the Group to acquire new users. In addition, since the first quarter of 2022, the frequent outbreaks of the COVID-19
pandemic across China have hindered traveling, transport and cargo logistics, thus hampering pipeline building and user
connections. As a result, during the financial year, the Group increased residential connections by 2,941,421 households,
down by approximately 41.7% year-on-year.

As at 31 March 2022, the accumulated number of connected residential users of the Group was 43,095,245, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 7.3%. The penetration rate of residential households of city gas projects reached
65.2%.

During the financial year, the Group connected a total of 2,762 new industrial users and 31,200 new commercial users. As at
31 March 2022, the Group had cumulatively connected 19,808 industrial users and 297,664 commercial users, representing
a year-on-year increase of approximately 16.2% and 11.7%.

Transport Users (CNG/LNG Refilling Stations for Vehicles and Vessels)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a total of 533 CNG/LNG refilling stations for vehicles and vessels. The rise of new
energy vehicles, gas price hikes and COVID control measures continued to undermine the development of CNG refilling
stations in China. In addition, the rising LNG prices discouraged logistics companies from purchasing LNG heavy trucks,
adding pressure to LNG vehicle refilling business. Following market changes, the Group proactively applied strategies to
increase gas sales through individual refilling stations by scaling up promotion, strengthening management and enhancing
services. Meanwhile, the Group adjusted business strategies based on continuous research and gradually converted some gas
refilling stations into integrated stations that provide oil and electricity as the primary energy source and gas and hydrogen as
the secondary energy source.

Natural Gas Sales

Although the pandemic control measures reduced gas demand from industrial and commercial users, these negative impacts
were mostly offset by the new demand induced by environmental protection policies and the low-carbon transition. During
the financial year, the Group's total natural gas sales maintained relatively rapid growth and reached 36.7 billion m?, up by
17.6% year-on-year. The gas was mainly sold through city and township pipelines, trading and direct-supply pipelines. Sales
through city and township pipelines accounted for 21.92 billion m®, up by 17.2% year-on-year, and the amount for trading
and direct-supply pipelines was 14.78 billion m?, up by 18.2% year-on-year.

China Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22




MANAGEMENT DISCUSS

LPG

The Group has seven LPG terminals and 106 LPG distribution projects. With wide distribution footprints across 19 provinces,
it is China’s largest vertically integrated LPG operator and service provider.

Now LPG is increasingly popular among rural and suburban residents, and LPG demand from industrial and commercial users
has been growing steadily for a long time. Notably, demand for LPG as a raw material for producing petrochemical synthesis
and deep processing has surged. As a result, China’s LPG demand has been growing steadily. The Group has been drawing
on its LPG terminals, storage facilities and the assets and networks of vessel and vehicle fleets to extend the value chain. It
has been integrating sales for industrial users, trade, retail and Smart MicroGrid to maximize the profit of the entire supply
chain. In trade, the Group has boosted sales by diversifying gas sources and building trading grids. In retail, the Group has
been consolidating local bottled gas markets and investing in the end-user business in core cities suitable for combining trade
and end-users. In Smart MicroGrid, the Group has fully utilized “Central Document No. 1" and other state policies on rural-
area infrastructure development and collaborated with governments on launching demonstration projects. The Group has
been promoting new businesses actively and has remained strategically prudent about making additional investments. It will
reduce investment in Smart MicroGrid until local government subsidies have materialized.

During the financial year, the Group’s total LPG sales volume increased by 0.5% year-on-year to 4.27 million tons, of which
wholesale business accounted for 3.55 million tons, representing a year-on-year increase of 0.6%. The end-user retail
business accounted for 0.72 million tons, representing a year-on-year decrease of 0.3%. The international energy price hikes
increased the Group’s LPG procurement cost during the financial year and affected the overall profitability. The LPG sales
revenue increased to HK$23,080,845,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2021: HK$13,163,822,000), representing a year-on-
year increase of 75.3%. Core net profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company accounted for
HK$142,791,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2021: HK$417,801,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of 65.8%.

VALUE-ADDED SERVICES

With an ever-increasing penetration rate of connections, the Group’s customer base has rapidly expanded. Currently, the
Group provides natural gas and LPG services to approximately 50 million residential, industrial and commercial users. This
network has significant potential for providing added value. The Group’s value-added services (VAS) include sales of gas
heaters and kitchen appliances under Gasbo (China Gas’s proprietary brand), smart household products, comprehensive gas
insurance broker services, corrugated pipes, gas alarms, and high-frequency products. After seven years of rapid
development, the Group has established a VAS business model and a new retail platform well-suited to the gas industry. The
business model has been evolving to continuously boost the VAS in the medium to long run.

The management is confident that the Smart Living System will further enhance consumer experience based on gas-related
value-added services. While the previous business model revolved around gas services, the upgraded one centers around
kitchen scenarios to provide users with integrated smart household services. Horizontally, Smart Living has been extending to
essential utility services, and vertically it has been expanding into the life convenience market, thus forming a 3x3x3 grid-
based service business model known as GaaS (Grid as a Service). This model will enable value-added services to develop
sustainably in the long term and maximize business opportunities and market shares. During the reporting period, the Group
continued to improve the organizational structure of its value-added services business and optimized the sales strategies for
e-commerce platforms, offline markets, and city gas companies. The Group increased its shareholding ratio in Smart Living,
thereby enabling the Group to explore and create customer value to the fullest extent.

Management Discussion and Analysis

39



40

MANAGEMENT DISCUSS

During the financial year, the Group's revenue from value-added services amounted to HK$6,798,837,000, representing a
year-on-year decline of 11.9%; gross profit amounted to HK$3,301,635,000, representing a year-on-year growth of 13.2%;
and operating profit amounted to HK$2,492,122,000, representing a year-on-year growth of 7.4%.

CARBON PEAK AND NEUTRALITY, NEW ENERGY, AND INTEGRATED ENERGY

Over the years, the Group has expanded the market share of the integrated energy business by utilizing its extensive market
and user base and promoting exogenous and endogenous growth. It has developed natural gas distributed energy,
centralized heating, PV power generation, electricity distribution and sales and electric vehicle charging piles across China.
This business provides users with efficient integrated energy to meet their gas, heating, electricity and cooling needs. During
the financial year, the Group achieved the sales of integrated energy of 7.6 billion kWh.

Following the enforcement of environmental protection policies, energy mix upgrading and consumption habit changes,
major economies worldwide have announced their decarbonizing targets. As a result, the global energy industry, including in
China, is undergoing an unprecedented shift to clean, diversified and integrated energy supplies.

China will fully implement its carbon peak and neutrality policy and the 14th Five-Year Plan in the next three years. Chinese
major energy companies will enact strategies to comply with the carbon policy and carry out strategic transformation. Seizing
new opportunities, the Group leveraged its well-accumulated market experience and technological innovations swiftly to
prepare for various low-carbon and decarbonizing businesses and facilitate long-term and sustainable development.

During the financial year, the Group entered into strategic cooperation agreements with industry leaders such as China Three
Gorges Corporation, Shanghai Environment and Energy Exchange, Dongfeng Motor Corporation, and State Power
Investment Corporation to jointly develop carbon emission estimation standards and carbon asset management services,
enabling China Gas to create its unique low-carbon business ecosystem. At the same time, the Group has entered into
cooperation agreements with multiple local governments, including the Xujiahui District of Shanghai, the Luohu District of
Shenzhen, and the Conghua District of Guangzhou, to build carbon management service centres. By introducing renewable
energy such as green power, the partnerships will develop and invest in green transport, digital micro-grid, building energy
efficiency management, the integration of power production, distribution, load management, and storage, thus enabling the
cities and industries to achieve carbon peaking ahead of their peers.

In the future, the Group will closely follow changes in national policies and continue to expand the low-carbon business
ecosystem. The Group has formed a portfolio of zero-carbon products and services, including renewable energy, carbon asset
management services, low-carbon building energy saving, green transport and digital micro-grid. In the future, it will provide
clients with holistic energy and carbon solutions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSS

HUMAN RESOURCES

Convinced of well-trained professionals’ significance to business success, our Group adheres to the philosophy of putting
people first. Therefore, we have enhanced our talent scheme by providing better on-the-job training for existing staff and
recruiting excellent professionals from the market. In addition, the Group has also started to optimize the workforce’s age
structure by assigning more and more young people to important positions.

The Group continues to improve the employees’ professional expertise and competence by encouraging them to obtain
widely recognized certificates and initiating internal accreditation schemes. Meanwhile, the Group has created platforms for
vocational training, knowledge exchange and experience sharing. Furthermore, it strives to attract and retain outstanding
professionals by enhancing their job satisfaction and developing optimal remuneration policies.

When determining the employees’ remunerations, the Group primarily considers their qualifications and experience while
factoring in standard practices in the local industry. Apart from basic salaries and pension fund contributions, eligible
employees may be awarded bonuses, share options or share awards based on the Group’s financial results and the
employees’ performance.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group's sales revenue amounted to HK$88,225,193,000 (for the year ended 31
March 2021: HK$69,975,381,000), representing a year-on-year increase of 26.1%. Gross profit amounted to
HK$15,738,992,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2021: HK$18,102,158,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of
13.1%. The overall gross profit margin was 17.8% (for the year ended 31 March 2021: 25.9%). Profit attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to HK$7,662,036,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2021: HK$10,478,683,000), representing a
year-on-year decrease of 26.9%. When excluding the effects of non-operating or one-off factors such as exchange gain or
loss, core profit attributable to owners of the Company would be HK$8,052,394,000, representing a year-on-year decrease
of 22.0%.

Basic earnings per share amounted to HK$1.39 (for the year ended 31 March 2021: HK$2.01), representing a year-on-year
decrease of 30.8%.

FINANCE COSTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s finance costs increased by 2.7% to approximately HK$1,456,530,000 from
approximately HK$1,418,781,000 for the same period last year. The increase in finance costs for the period was mainly due
to the increase in total average outstanding debt balances.

SHARE OF RESULTS OF ASSOCIATES

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group's share of results of associates amounted to HK$920,714,000 (for the year
ended 31 March 2021: HK$892,995,000).
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SHARE OF RESULTS OF JOINT VENTURES

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s share of results of joint ventures amounted to approximately
HK$514,583,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2021: HK$715,006,000).

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s income tax expenses decreased by 17.1% to HK$2,004,446,000 (for the
year ended 31 March 2021: HK$2,417,766,000).

LIQUIDITY

The Group's primary business generates cash flows in a steadily growing manner. Coupled with an effective and well-
established capital management system, the Group has maintained stable business development and a healthy cash flow,
despite uncertainties in the macro-economy and capital market.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s total assets amounted to HK$163,146,352,000 (31 March 2021: HK$140,720,642,000).
Bank balances and cash amounted to HK$10,188,486,000 (31 March 2021: HK$8,571,619,000). The Group had a current
ratio of 1.02 (31 March 2021: 1.09). The net gearing ratio was 0.64 (31 March 2021: 0.65), as calculated based on net
borrowings of HK$45,940,603,000 (total borrowings of HK$56,129,089,000 less bank balance and cash of
HK$10,188,486,000) and net assets of HK$72,069,153,000 as at 31 March 2022.

The Group has always followed a prudent financial management policy, under which a majority of available cash of the
Group is deposited in reputable banks as current and fixed deposits.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has been actively building up long-standing cooperation relationships with Chinese (including Hong Kong) and
overseas banks. As the principal cooperating banks of the Group, China Development Bank, Industrial and Commercial Bank
of China, Bank of Communications as well as Agricultural Bank of China have provided the Group with long-term credit
facilities of over RMBG60 billion under a maximum term of 15 years, which has given substantial financial support to the
Group's project investments and stable operations. Other major domestic and overseas banks such as Asian Development
Bank, Bank of China, China Merchants Bank, HSBC, MUFJ Bank, Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation as well as Australia
and New Zealand Banking Group have also granted long-term credits to the Group. As of 31 March 2022, over 20 banks
offered syndicated loans and standby credit facilities to the Group. Such bank loans are generally used to fund the Group’s
operations and project investments.
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The Group attaches great importance to green and sustainable development. In April 2021, the Group obtained a four-year
sustainability-linked loan of RMB1 billion from Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation. In August 2021, the Group obtained a
sustainability-linked loan of USD900 million granted by HSBC and MUFJ Bank as the mandated lead arrangers, and received
the sustainability assessment and certification from Vigeo Eiris, a French sustainability assessment expert, and Hong Kong
Quality Assurance Agency. The Company, acting as an overseas issuer, and the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiaries
incorporated in China all actively participated in the issuance of RMB bonds on stock exchanges and the interbank bond
market in China. As at 31 March 2022, the remaining balance of the RMB corporate bonds and medium-term RMB notes
issued by the Group amounted to RMB3.33 billion.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's total bank loans and other loans amounted to HK$56,129,089,000.

In April 2021, the Company completed the placing of shares, and the net proceeds amounted to approximately HK$11.6
billion. The Company intended to use the net proceeds for the following purposes: acquisition of city gas projects in China;
expansion of LPG Smart MicroGrid business; development of Urban Heating business; and as general working capital of the
Group. The financing has further optimized the Group’s capital structure, lowered the debt ratio, and provided financial
support for the Group’s long-term sustainable development.

The Group's operating and capital expenditure has been financed by the operating cash flow, indebtedness, and equity
financing. The Group has maintained a sufficient source of funds to satisfy its future capital expenditure and working capital
requirements.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND INTEREST RATE

Based on the principle of prudence, the Board has formulated strict exchange rate risk management and control policies to
closely monitor the trends of market interest rates and foreign exchange rates and adjust its debt structure in a timely and
reasonable manner to avoid risks effectively. In accordance with such exchange rate risk management and control policies,
the Group actively adjusted the structure of debt in domestic currency (RMB) and foreign currencies and adopted currency
and interest rate hedging derivatives to hedge the currency risk and interest risk of a small portion of existing foreign currency
loans, which significantly lowered the potential exchange rate risks. The strict control measures on debt in foreign currencies
immensely mitigated the effect of exchange gain or loss on the Group’s results.

Cash Flows, Contract Assets/liabilities, Trade Receivables, and Trade and Bill Payables

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had contract assets of HK$17,138,269,000 (31 March 2021: HK$16,925,010,000), contract
liabilities of HK$9,443,070,000 (31 March 2021: HK$8,037,261,000), trade and bill receivables of HK$5,740,964,000 (31
March 2021: HK$5,784,368,000), and trade and bill payables of HK$16,290,070,000 (31 March 2021: HK$15,028,779,000).

During the period, the Group further managed investments with prudence and controlled the growth of contract assets and
trade receivables. At the same time, the Group managed its operating cash flow efficiently.
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CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group pledged other deposits of HK$67,902,000 (31 March 2021: HK$65,476,000), pledged bank
deposits of HK$177,968,000 (31 March 2021: HK$277,899,000), pledged property, plant and equipment and investment
properties of HK$2,992,542,000 (31 March 2021: nil) and certain subsidiaries pledged their equity investments to banks to
secure loan facilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had capital commitments amounting to HK$284,911,000 (31 March 2021:
HK$1,630,321,000) and HK$243,323,000 (31 March 2021: HK$284,944,000), respectively, in respect of the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment and construction materials contracted but not provided for in the condensed consolidated
financial statements, which would require the utilization of the Group’s cash on hand and external financing. The Group has
undertaken to acquire shares of certain Chinese enterprises and set up joint ventures in China.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities (31 March 2021: nil).
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Executive Directors

Mr. LIU Ming Hui, aged 59, is currently the chairman of the Board, managing director and president of the Company. He is
also the chairman of the Executive Committee and the Nomination Committee, a vice chairman of Sustainability Committee
and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. LIU was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company in
August 2012 and was elected as an executive Director of the Company in September 2012. Mr. LIU was a non-executive
Director of the Company from April 2002 to July 2002, an executive Director of the Company from July 2002 to April 2011
and the managing director of the Company from July 2002 to January 2011. He was re-appointed as the managing director
and president of the Company in August 2012. Mr. LIU is the founder of the Group. He is responsible for the Group's overall
strategic planning, and development of new business and leading the works in respect of sustainability. Mr. LIU received a
bachelor's degree in science from Hebei Normal University in 1984, a master’s degree in political economics from the
Graduate School of Renmin University of China in 1999 and completed the education of DBA (Doctor of Business
Administration) program from the Shenzhen Research Institute of Renmin University of China in 2006. He has substantial
experience in the infrastructure and energy industry in China. He is the elder brother of Mr. LIU Mingxing, a non-executive
Director of the Company and the father of Ms. LIU Chang, an executive Director of the Company. Mr. LIU has discloseable
interest in the shares and underlying shares of the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
and the relevant information is disclosed in the Directors’ Report.

Mr. HUANG Yong, aged 59, is currently the executive president and a member of each of the Executive Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. HUANG was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company in June 2013. He is the founder of the Group and has been the executive
president of the Company since joining the Company in 2002. He is responsible for the formulation and implementation of
the Group's overall strategies and plans, investment and research on new business, supervision of risk controls of Group. Prior
to joining the Company, he worked at Shenzhen Nanyou (Holdings) Ltd. and Asia Environmental Development Company
Limited. Mr. HUANG received a bachelor’'s degree and a master’s degree in law from Wuhan University in 1985 and 1988
respectively. He has extensive experience in legal affairs and corporate management.

Mr. ZHU Weiwei, aged 49, is currently the managing vice president and the chief financial officer of the Company. He is
also a member of the Executive Committee and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. ZHU was appointed as
an executive Director of the Company in September 2002. He is responsible for the Group’s overall financial management,
financing, capital management, internal control matters and general operation of the Group’s business including procument,
supply chain and management of regional operation centres. Mr. ZHU received a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree in
economics from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in 1993 and 1996 respectively. He has substantial experience in
financing and capital management.
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Ms. LI Ching, aged 64, is currently a member of the Executive Committee and a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Ms. LI was appointed as an executive Director of the Company in January 2014. She is responsible for business
management and operation of gas supply and infrastructure projects in China. Since 1998, she has been an executive director
of Fortune Oil Limited (formerly known as Fortune Oil PLC and was listed on the London Stock Exchange) which has
discloseable interest in the shares and underlying shares of the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO and the relevant information is disclosed in the Directors’ Report. She has been working in Fortune QOil Limited for
more than 15 years. Prior to joining Fortune Oil Limited, Ms. LI worked in China North Industries Corporation for 15 years and
was in charge of finance and audit departments. Ms. LI received a bachelor’s degree in economics from Central University of
Finance and Economics in 1982. She has extensive experience in finance and corporate management.

Ms. LIU Chang, aged 33, is currently a vice president and a member of the Executive Committee of the Company. She is also
the deputy general manager of Capital Management Centre (corporate finance and investor relations), the deputy general
manager of the Office of the Board and Company Secretarial Department of the Company and the chairperson of Yipin
Smart Living Technology Limited* (F 2 4/ERHEAMR A7), a subsidiary of the Company. Ms. LIU is also a director of
China Gas Group Limited which has discloseable interest in the shares and underlying shares of the Company under the
provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the relevant information is disclosed in the Directors’ Report. Ms. LIU
was appointed as an executive Director of the Company in April 2020. Before such appointment, she was an alternate
director to Mr. LIU Mingxing, a non-executive director of the Company, and his alternate member of the Corporate
Governance and Risks Control Committee (“CGRC Committee”) from November 2017 to April 2020. Ms. LIU is in charge of
value-added services business, digitalization division, dual-carbon and new energy division and also responsible for legal
affairs and corporate finance and investor relations of the Group. From 2016 to 2017, Ms. LIU served as a legal associate at
the office of Vitol Inc. in Houston, the USA. She has been admitted to practise law in New York State, the USA. Ms. LIU
received a bachelor’s degree in economics and finance and a master’s degree in economics from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology in 2011 and 2012 respectively and a juris doctor degree in law from Cornell Law School in 2016. She
has extensive experience in legal affairs, investor relations and operation and management of business. Ms. LIU is the
daughter of Mr. LIU Ming Hui, an executive Director of the Company, and the niece of Mr. LIU Mingxing, a non-executive
Director of the Company.

Mr. ZHAO Kun, aged 45, is currently a vice president and the executive officer of Work Safety Committee of the Group. He
was appointed as the executive director of the Company and the member of the Executive Committee in August 2021. He is
responsible for safety management of the Group and in charge of the Production Safety Committee and Safety Supervision
Department. Mr. ZHAO joined Beijing Gas Engineering Co., Ltd.* JtRMHERTEBRAE]) in 2000 and served as the
secretary to the party committee and the chairman, and joined Beijing Enterprises Energy Investment Co., Ltd.,* (At =it#EaE
RIS EBRAF]) (“Beijing Enterprises Energy”) in 2013 until June 2021 and served as the deputy secretary of the general
party branch, the chairman of labour union and employee representative director. Beijing Enterprises Energy is a subsidiary of
Beijing Enterprises Group Company Limited (“Beijng Enterprises Group”). Beijing Enterprises Group has discloseable interests
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the
relevant information is disclosed in the Directors’ Report. Mr. ZHAO received an equivalent of bachelor’s degree in city gas
engineering of urban construction engineering at Beijing Institute of Civil Engineering and Architecture (currently known as
Beijing University of Civil Engineering and Architecture) in 2000, and a master’s degree in architecture and civil engineering at
Beijing University of Civil Engineering and Architecture in 2015, respectively. He has extensive experience in operation and
management of natural gas business.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. XIONG Bin, aged 55, is currently a member of CGRC Committee of the Company. Mr. XIONG was appointed as the vice
chairman of the Board and a non-executive Director of the Company in March 2022. He is currently an executive director and
the chief executive officer of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (“Beijing Enterprises Holdings”) (Stock Exchange Stock
Code: 392), the assistant to the general manager of Beijing Enterprises Group and a director of Beijing Gas Group Co., Ltd.
("Beijing Gas Group”). Mr. XIONG joined Beijing Gas Group in 1999, Beijing Enterprises Group in 2011 and Beijing
Enterprises Holdings in 2021. Both Beijing Enterprises Holdings and Beijing Enterprises Group have discloseable interests in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the
relevant information is disclosed in the Directors’ Report. Mr. XIONG is a PRC engineer. He graduated from the department
of thermal engineering of the School of Mechanical Engineering of Tongji University in 1989 and received an EMBA degree
from the School of Economics and Management of the Tsinghua University in 1998. He has substantial experience in public
infrastructure facilities management and in strategic and investment management.

Mr. LIU Mingxing, aged 49, is currently a member of the CGRC Committee of the Company. Mr. LIU was appointed as a
non-executive Director of the Company in July 2014. He is currently a professor of Economics of China Institute for
Educational Finance Research, Peking University. He was an associate professor of Economics of China Institute for
Educational Finance Research, Peking University from January 2008 to July 2013, and a lecturer of economics and an
associate professor of Economics of the School of Government, Peking University from September 2003 to December 2007.
From 2001 to 2003, he did postdoctoral research at The National Bureau of Economic Research in the United States. Mr. LIU
acted as a consultant and provided policy advisory services to the Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of Education of China,
the World Bank, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), the United Nations Educational,
Scientific and Cultural Organization and Department for International Development of the United Kingdom on various
occasions. Mr. LIU published a large number of academic papers and books in respect of economics and finance in China and
worldwide. He received a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree in economics from Zhongnan University of Economics and
Law in 1994 and 1997 respectively and a doctorate degree in economics from Peking University in 2001. He has substantial
experience in finance and economics. Mr. LIU Mingxing is the younger brother of Mr. LIU Ming Hui (an executive Director of
the Company) and the uncle of Ms. LIU Chang (an executive Director of the Company).

Mr. JIANG Xinhao, aged 57, is currently the chairman of the CGRC Committee of the Company. Mr. JIANG was appointed
as a non-executive Director of the Company in June 2015. He is a chief senior economist and currently an executive director
and vice chairman of Beijing Enterprises Holdings (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 392). He also serves as a vice general manager
of Beijing Enterprises Group and an executive director of Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited (Stock Exchange Stock
Code: 371). Mr. JIANG served as a policy analyst of the Chinese State Commission of Restructuring Economic System from
1987 to 1989. He was a lecturer at Peking University between 1992 and 1994. From 1995 to 1997, Mr. JIANG was a deputy
general manager of Jingtai Finance Company in Hong Kong, and subsequently a director and vice president of BHL Industrial
Investment Company. From 1997 to February 2005, Mr. JIANG was a director and the chief executive officer of Tramford
International Limited, a public company listed on Nasdag. Mr. JJANG was a manager of the investment development
department of Beijing Holdings Limited and a general manager of Beijing BHL Investment Center between May 2000 and
February 2005. From January 2011 to June 2016, Mr. JIJANG was an executive director of Beijing Properties (Holdings) Limited
(Stock Exchange Stock Code: 925). Both Beijing Enterprises Holdings and Beijing Enterprises Group have discloseable interests
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the
relevant information is disclosed in the Directors’ Report. Mr. JIANG received a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree in
law from Fudan University in 1987 and 1992 respectively. He has extensive experience in economics, finance and corporate
management.
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Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER, aged 58, is currently a member of the CGRC Committee of the Company. Mr. IYER was
appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company in January 2021. He is currently a director (business development) of
GAIL (India) Limited (“GAIL"), a chairman of Central U. P. Gas Limited, a director of ONGC Tripura Power Company Limited,
a chairman of Konkan LNG Limited and GAIL Global Singapore Pte. Limited. Mr. IYER has joined GAIL since 1986 and is
currently responsible for building GAIL's business portfolio in India and abroad, mergers and acquisitions, petrochemical
operation and maintenance and expansion, exploration and production, research and development, start-up, health safety
and environment management, quality management and project development. Prior to this, Mr. IYER was an executive
director (projects) at GAIL and was responsible for execution of projects. Mr. IYER received a bachelor’s degree in electrical
engineering at Bhopal University in 1986. He has substantial experience in midstream sector of oil and gas industry.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHAO Yuhua, aged 54, is currently the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the CGRC Committee of the Company. Mr. ZHAO was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company in November 2002. He has been engaging in corporate financing and
financial advisory business since 1993. Mr. ZHAO received a bachelor’s degree and a master’'s degree in economics from
Nankai University in 1989 and 1993 respectively. He has substantial experience in finance.

Dr. MAO Erwan, aged 59, is currently the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the CGRC Committee of the Company. Dr. MAO was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company in January 2003. He is currently a deputy professor of School of
International Business, Beijing Foreign Studies University, a committee member of China Institute of Finance, Financial
Engineering and Deputy Director of Financial Quantity Analysis and Computation Committee. He was a senior economist of
Da Cheng Fund Management Co. Ltd. Dr. MAO received a bachelor’s degree in science from Hebei Normal University in
1984, a master’s degree in science from Sichuan University in 1989 and a doctorate degree in science from Chinese Academy
of Sciences in 1998. He has substantial experience in finance.

Ms. CHEN Yanyan, aged 59, is currently a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the CGRC Committee of the Company. Ms. CHEN was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company in December 2012. She is an economist, senior political engineer, and an expert in
Logistics and Supply Chain Management Specialty of Expert Database of Science and Technology Expert Committee of
Shenzhen Municipal Government. She is also a research fellow of the Chinese Logistics Society and a representative of the
11th Women's Congress of Guangdong Province. Ms. CHEN is currently an independent director of Shenzhen Woer Heat-
Shrinkable Material Co., Ltd. (Shenzhen Stock Exchange “SZSE” Stock Code: 2130) (She was also an independent director of
the company from 2010 to 2016), Shenzhen Cheng Chung Design Co., Ltd. (SZSE Stock Code: 2811) and Shenzhen Manst
Technology Co., Ltd.. She has also been appointed as an expert member of the MBA Advisory Committee of the Renmin
University of China Business School since May 2019, and the vice convenor of the 100 Scholars of Shenzhen Ma Hong
Foundation for the Economic Improvement Research in 2021. Ms. CHEN received a post-graduate education in Economics
from Guangdong Provisional Committee Party School of the Communist Party of China in 1999 and “Second Prize of
Technological Progress by the China Federation of Logistic and Purchasing” in 2008 and 2009. She has substantial experience
in logistics and supply chain management, including experience in gas-related logistics.

China Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22




BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRE
AND SENIOR MANAGIE

Mr. ZHANG Ling, aged 66, is currently a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
CGRC Committee of the Company. Mr. ZHANG was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company in
November 2017. He is currently a professor and a mentor of doctoral students at the China University of Political Science and
Law, a director of the China Law Society, an executive vice president and a legal representative of the Chinese Society of
Criminology*, the person-in-charge of the National Victimology Professional Committee* and an officer of the Asian Law
(Eastern Asia) Research Institution of the China University of Political Science and Law. Mr. ZHANG also serves as an
independent director of each of Luzhou Laojiao Co., Ltd. (SZSE Stock Code: 000568) and Zhengzhou Sino-Crystal Diamond
Co., Ltd. (Shenzhen Growth Enterprise Market Stock Code: 300064). In 1999, Mr. ZHANG was an external lecturer in the law
department of Aichi University in Japan. From 2000 to 2002, Mr. ZHANG was a foreign researcher in the law research centre
of Waseda University in Japan. Subsequently, Mr. ZHANG served as the deputy procurator and a committee member of the
inspection committee of Beijing Chaoyang People’s Procuratorate* during 2004 to 2010, and has been serving as a
committee member of the expert consultation committee of the Forth Court of Beijing People’s Procuratorate (Railway
Inspections)* since 2015. Mr. ZHANG served as an independent director of Huadian Energy Company Limited (Shanghai
Stock Exchange (“SSE") Stock Code: 600726) from 2010 to 2014. Mr. ZHANG received a master’s degree in law from lJilin
University in 1987, a doctorate degree in law from the same university in 1995 and a doctorate degree in law from Waseda
University in Japan in 2002. He has substantial experience in law and legal affairs, as well as risk management.

Dr. MA Weihua, aged 74, is currently the chairman of the Sustainability Committee, a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the CGRC Committee of the Company. Dr. MA was appointed as an independent non- executive Director of
the Company in February 2022. He is responsible for leading and steering the Group’s work on sustainability and ESG
governance. He is the chairman and a non-executive director of Bison Finance Group Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code:
888), an independent non-executive director of Legend Holdings Corporation (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 3396) and Hidilao
International Holding Ltd. (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 6862), an independent director of Guangdong Qunxing Toys Joint
Stock Co., Ltd.* (BRAEITARMNER A R]) (SZSE Stock Code: 0002575), the chairman of National Fund for Technology
Transfer and Commercialization, chairman of the board of China Global Philanthropy Institute, chairman of China Alliance of
Social Value Investment, the director-general of One Foundation and held positions including adjunct professor in various
higher education institutes such as Peking University and Tsinghua University. Dr. MA previously served as the executive
director, president and chief executive officer of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 3968, SSE
Stock Code: 600036), the chairman of the board of CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited (formerly known as Wing Lung Bank
Limited), CIGNA and CMC Life Insurance Company Ltd. and China Merchants Fund Management Co., Ltd., as well as the
deputy of the 10th National People’s Congress and the member of the 11th and 12th National Committee of the China
People’s Political Consultative Conference. He was appointed as Special Advisor by United Nations Development Programme
in China and chairman of SDG Financing Advisory Committee in March 2019, and was appointed as a member of SDG
Impact Steering Group* (FIFHE R E /118 & 2158 Z% 5]) by the United Nations Development Programme in April of
the same year. Dr. MA was an independent director of Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd. (Stock Exchange Stock Code:
1658), China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 670, SSE Stock Code: 600115) and China
World Trade Center Co. Ltd. (SSE Stock Code: 600007). Dr. MA received a bachelor's degree in economics from lJilin
University in 1982, and a doctor of philosophy degree in economics from Southwest Finance and Economics University in
1999. He has substantial experience in bank credit risk management, corporate management, risk management and
sustainbility.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. DENG Yaobo, aged 50, is currently a vice president and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. DENG has
joined the Company since May 2002. He is responsible for strategic development, investment development and executive
management of the Company. Mr. DENG received a bachelor’s degree in industrial economics from Zhongnan University of
Economics and Law in 1993, and holds the registered qualification certificate for cost engineer of the PRC and the registered
qualification certificate for certified public valuer of the PRC. He has substantial experience in project investment and
management.

Mr. CHEN Youmin, aged 52, is currently a vice president of the Company. Mr. CHEN has joined the Company since
December 2002. He is responsible for natural gas business and management of customer services. Mr. CHEN received a
bachelor’s degree in internal combustion engine from College of Automotive Engineering, Jilin University of Technology in
1992 and a master’s degree in internal combustion engine from Department of Automotive Engineering, Jiangsu University
of Technology* (currently known as Jiangsu University) in 1995. He has substantial experience in project investment and
operation management.

Ms. GUO Juan, aged 47, is currently a vice president of the Company. Ms. GUO has joined the Company since July 2005.
She is responsible for legal affairs, legal compliance and risk management and audit supervision of the Group in the PRC. She
is a PRC qualified lawyer, an investment project analyst and a registered risk manager. Ms. GUO received a master’s degree in
law from Wuhan University in 2011. She has substantial experience in legal affairs.

Mr. GAO Zhiyuan, aged 47, is currently a vice president of the Company. Mr. GAO has joined the Company since
September 2019. He is responsible for capital and finance management. Mr. GAO received a bachelor’'s degree from
Department of Investment and Economics, Central University of Finance and Economics in 1997. He has substantial
experience in investment and economics.
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The Company is committed to maintaining high standard of corporate governance. The Board believes that good corporate
governance is essential for sustainable development and growth of the Company and enhancement of shareholders’ value
and is therefore in the long-term interests of the Company and the shareholders.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) and, where
applicable, the recommended best practices of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”), as set out in Appendix 14
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company complied with all the Code Provisions, except Code Provision A.2.1
(which has been re-numbered as Code Provision C.2.1 since 1 January 2022), the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and performed by different individuals, details of which are explained in the paragraph headed “Chairman,
and Managing Director and President”.

THE BOARD

The Company is headed by the Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the Group. The Directors
are collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by directing and supervising its affairs in an effective
manner. The Board is responsible for all major aspects of the Group's affairs, including setting overall strategies and priorities,
identifying and assessing the opportunities and challenges that the Group might face, approving annual budgets, ensuring
that sound internal control and risk management systems are in place, monitoring the performance of the management and
other significant financial and operational matters. All operational decisions are delegated to the Executive Committee, which
comprises six executive Directors of the Company. Details of the committee are set out in the paragraph headed “Executive
Committee” below. All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major development of the Group’s businesses. The
daily management, administration and operation of the Group are delegated to the senior management. The delegated
functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board.

The Board meets regularly at least four times each year and additional meetings are arranged as and when required. The
Company schedules regular board meetings in advance to give Directors the opportunity to participate actively.

Directors receive written notices of the regular board meetings at least 14 days in advance and an agenda with supporting
board papers no less than three days prior to the meeting. All Directors are consulted for matters to be included in the
agenda for regular Board meetings. For non-regular Board meetings, reasonable notices were given. Special board meetings
are convened as and when needed. Minutes of meetings of the Board, Board committees and general meetings are kept by
the company secretary and are made available and circulated to all Directors periodically. Directors have full and timely access
to all relevant information as well as the advice and services of the company secretary, with a view to ensuring that Board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Management has an obligation to supply to the Board and
its committees adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely manner to enable them to make informed decisions.
Each Director also has separate and independent access to the management.

Except for those circumstances permitted by the bye-laws of the Company (“Bye-laws”) and the Listing Rules, Directors are
required to declare their interests (if any) in any business proposals discussed by the Board, and, where appropriate, they are
required to abstain from voting. If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with in accordance with
applicable rules and regulations and, if appropriate, an independent board committee will be set up to deal with the matter.
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In the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Company held 11 Board meetings. The attendance record is set out below.

Number of
meetings

Name of Director attended/held
Executive Directors
Mr. LIU Ming Hui 10/11
Mr. HUANG Yong 10/11
Mr. ZHU Weiwei 11/11
Ms. LI Ching 10/11
Ms. LIU Chang 11/11
Mr. ZHAO Kun (note 1) 6/6
Non-executive Directors
Mr. XIONG Bin (note 2) 2/2
Mr. LIU Mingxing 9/11
Mr. JIJANG Xinhao 8/11
Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER 7/11
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua 11/11
Dr. MAO Erwan 10/11
Ms. CHEN Yanyan 11/11
Mr. ZHANG Ling 11/11
Dr. MA Weihua (note 3) 2/2

Apart from Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of the other executive Directors and non-executive Directors during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises 15 Directors, including six executive Directors, four non-executive
Directors and five independent non-executive Directors. The names and biographical details of the Directors are set out on
pages 45 to 49. The list of Directors and their roles and function is also available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

On 19 August 2021, Mr. ZHAO Kun was appointed as an executive Director. Following his appointment, the Company has
not been able to comply with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, which sets out that the Company must appoint independent
non-executive directors representing at least one-third of the Board. Pursuant to Rule 3.11 of the Listing Rules, the Company
should appoint an additional independent non-executive Director within three months after failing to meet the requirement
under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. On 1 February 2022, the Company appointed Dr. MA Weihua as an independent non-
executive Director and re-complied with the requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.
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Board Diversity Policy

A Board Diversity Policy has been adopted by the Company since 2013 so as to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Group's business. The diverse backgrounds of
the Board members ensure that they can fully represent the interests of all shareholders of the Company and to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board and corporate governance. The Company believes that the active involvement of the non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors in the management and decision making of the Board and its committees
strengthens the objectivity and independence of the Board. Further details relating to the diversity of the Board are set out in
the paragraph headed “Nomination Committee” below.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”, there is no financial, business,
family and other material or relevant relationships among members of the Board.

The Company has received annual confirmations from all of the independent non-executive Directors acknowledging full
compliance with the relevant requirements in respect of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is therefore of the view that all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Chairman, and Managing Director and President

The roles of the chairman as well as the managing director and president of the Company were taken by Mr. LIU Ming Hui. Under
the current organization structure of the Company, the functions of chief executive officer are also performed by Mr. LIU Ming Hui.
Mr. LIU provides leadership for the Board and undertakes the management of the Group's business and overall operation, with the
support from other executive directors, vice presidents and senior management. This structure constitutes a deviation from Code
Provision A.2.1 (new re-numbered as Code Provision C.2.1) that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
performed by different individuals. Nevertheless, the Board considers that this structure will not impair the balance of power and
authority between the Board and the management of the Company, and has been effective in discharging its functions
satisfactorily. The Board will review the reasonableness and effectiveness of the structure from time to time.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The procedures and processes of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are laid down in the Bye-laws. The Board,
with the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, is responsible for developing and formulating the relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of Directors, monitoring the appointment and succession of Directors and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

Pursuant to bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, the Board may appoint a director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the Board from time to time during the year. Any director so appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting (in the case of filling a vacancy) or until the next following annual general meeting (in the case of
an addition to their number) of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Pursuant to bye-law
87(1) of the Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being,or, if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years.

None of the existing non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors were appointed with specific term, but
are subject to the aforesaid rotation requirements in the Bye-laws. All Directors have retired from the office by rotation and have
been re-elected in the past three years. The rotating directors who are subject to retirement and re-election at forthcoming 2022
annual general meeting are set out on page 69 in Directors’ Report. Following the amendments to the CG Code which took
effect on 1 January 2022, non-executive directors are no longer required to be appointed for a specific term.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has delegated authority to five committees, namely the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and the CGRC Committee to deal with specific matters under defined
terms of reference. Sufficient resources, including advice of the external auditor and independent professional advisers, are
provided to the board committees to enable them to discharge their duties.

Executive Committee

The Board has delegated the power, authorities and discretions for the management of the Group’s operations and activities
to a formally established Executive Committee, which currently comprises six executive Directors of the Company, namely Mr.
LIU Ming Hui (Chairman), Mr. HUANG Yong, Mr. ZHU Weiwei, Ms. LI Ching, Ms. LIU Chang and Mr. ZHAO Kun.

The major responsibilities and authorities of the Executive Committee are:

o advising the Board in formulating policies and strategies in relation to the management and business operation of the
Company and supervising the management in implementing such policies and strategies;

o supervising and directing the management on the conduct of the business operations of the Company;

o preparing monthly management reports and annual business plans and budgets of the Company;

o formulating and implementing remuneration policies for the staff of the Group below the level of vice president;

o approving the appointment and removal of the staff of the Group below the level of vice president;

o approving the appointment of directors of the Group'’s subsidiaries and joint venture companies;

o approving loan facilities or debt financing, each with a principal amount (or, in respect of the same series of loan
facilities or debt financing, an aggregate principal amount) representing not more than 5% of the total banks and
other borrowings of the Company as stated in, whichever is more recent: (A) the most recently published audited
consolidated statement of financial position of the Company for a full financial year, or (B) the most recently published
interim condensed consolidated statement of financial position of the Company; and

o execute any exercise of options which were issued by the Company pursuant to its share option scheme.

Certain matters including matters which are subject to disclosure and/or shareholders’ approval requirements, and fund
raising above certain predetermined thresholds are specifically reserved for approval by the Board.

In respect of the decision making process, the management, pursuant to the levels of authority formally approved by the
Executive Committee, submits written proposals with detailed analysis and recommendations to the Executive Committee for
consideration and approval. Where the subject matter exceeds the authority of the Executive Committee or relates to any
matters specifically reserved to the Board as aforesaid, it would be submitted to the Board for approval.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Executive Committee approved, among others, numerous loan facilities of the
Company and its subsidiaries, acquisition of shares of listed company and cancellation of repurchased shares.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises five independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. ZHAQO Yuhua (Chairman), Dr.
MAO Erwan, Ms. CHEN Yanyan, Mr. ZHANG Ling and Dr. MA Weihua (note 3).

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and assists the Board to oversee the Company’s financial reporting process
and to review the Group's interim and annual consolidated financial statements. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Attendance of members at Audit Committee meetings for the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below:

Number of

meetings

Name of member attended/held
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua (Chairman) 2/2
Dr. MAO Erwan 2/2
Ms. CHEN Yanyan 2/2
Mr. ZHANG Ling 2/2
Dr. MA Weihua (note 3) N/A

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the principal work performed by the Audit Committee included:

o review of the Company’s interim and annual financial statements and making recommendation to the Board for
approval,

o making recommendation to the Board to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as external auditors of the Company for
the 2021/22 financial year subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM"),

o review of the external auditor’s independence and engagement of non-audit services;
o approval of the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors;
o approval of the annual audit fee;

o review of the report and the management letter submitted by the external auditors for the matters arising from their
audit on the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022;

o review of the Group’s external auditors’ significant findings and recommendations, and monitoring of the subsequent
implementation;

o review of the Group’s financial information, financial reporting procedures and financial and accounting policies and
practices;

o review of the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting functions and related issues; and

o meeting with the external auditors in the absence of executive Directors and management.
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A summary of remuneration paid and payable in connection with the services provided by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the
Company’s auditors, for the year ended 31 March 2022, is as follows:

Audit services Amount HK$
Final results for the year ended 31 March 2022 (to be agreed) 10,400,000
Final results for the year ended 31 March 2021 10,200,000
Non-audit services Amount HK$
Others 1,150,000

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditor.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors and two executive Directors,
namely Mr. LIU Ming Hui (Chairman), Mr. HUANG Yong, Mr. ZHAO Yuhua, Dr. MAO Erwan, and Ms. CHEN Yanyan.

In reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and making recommendations on any proposed changes, the
Nomination Committee is mindful of the principle of achieving a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. The Board
adopted a Board Diversity Policy upon the recommendation of the Nomination Committee to set out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board members. When recommending nominations to the Board for approval, the Nomination Committee
will consider the merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board, having due regard for a range of
diversity perspectives (including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) as set out in the Board Diversity Policy.

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the existing composition of the Board and considered the existing
diversity policy was effective.

Nomination Policy

The Board adopted a Nomination Policy which aims to identify and nominate suitable candidates to the Board from time to
time to enhance and strengthen the management quality of the Board.

Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria in evaluating and selecting
candidates for directorships:

o reputation for integrity;

o accomplishment and experience in the industry and scope of businesses of the Company;
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time commitment;
the diversity policy of the Company;

requirements of the memorandum of association and the Bye-laws of the Company, and the laws and regulations of
Bermuda, Hong Kong and other applicable laws and regulations; and

any other factors which the Nomination Committee considers relevant.

In selecting and recommending candidates for directorship, the Nomination Committee shall follow the procedures below:

The company secretary shall convene a meeting of the Committee, and provide information of candidates for the
Committee’s consideration prior to its meeting;

candidates will be asked to submit the necessary personal information, together with their written consent to be
appointed as directors and to the public disclosure of their personal data on any relevant documents or relevant
websites for the purpose of or in relation to their standing for election as directors according to applicable regulations;

Members of the Nomination Committee shall make resolve on whether the candidates are suitable for becoming
directors of the Company. After making resolutions, the Nomination Committee shall report the comments and
suggestions of the Committee to the Board. If the Board accepts its suggestions, and appoints a candidate as a director
of the Company, the candidate will be duly appointed as a director of the Company. The company secretary will make
disclosure in accordance with applicable regulations. The newly appointed director shall be subject to retirement and
re-election at a general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws;

if a shareholder wishes to nominate a person to be elected as a director, he/she has to serve a notice in accordance
with the procedures set out in the Bye-laws of the Company;

in order to provide information of a candidate nominated by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and
to invite nominations from shareholders, a circular will be sent to shareholders by the Company. The circular will set out
the lodgment period for shareholders to make the nominations. The names, brief biographies (including qualifications
and relevant experience), independence, proposed remuneration and any other information, as required pursuant to
the applicable laws, rules and regulations, of the proposed candidate will be included in the circular to shareholders;
and

the Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election
at any general meeting.

The Committee will review the nomination policy from time to time to ensure the effectiveness of the Policy. Should the need
arise, it will propose amendment to the Board for approval. The Board shall have the responsibility of selecting and appointing
directors.

Having due regard to the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board when it identifies an individual who is suitable for becoming directors of the Company. The
Board shall consider the recommendation and make decision for the appointment.
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The composition, structure and size of the Board are reviewed annually by the Nomination Committee to ensure that it has a
balance of appropriate skills, experience and diversity of perspectives to meet the business needs of the Group. Members of
the Board have a diverse range of business, financial and professional expertise. Brief biographical details of the Directors are
set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”.

An analysis of the current Board composition is set out in the following chart:

Directorship with

Number of Skills/industry the Company
Directors Gender Designation Ethnicity Age group experience (number of years)
15 Female Executive Non-Chinese  under 40 Engineering 1-10 years
14 Chinese 41-50
13 Economics
12 Male
11 51-60
10 Accounting & Finance
9 Non-executive
8 Business administration
7
6
5 Independent Legal
non-executive
4
3 Over 60 Over 10 years
2 Marketing
1 Logistics

Attendance of members at Nomination Committee meetings for the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below:

Number of

meetings

Name of member attended/held
Mr. LIU Ming Hui (Chairman) 4/5
Mr. HUANG Yong 5/5
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua 5/5
Dr. MAO Erwan 5/5
Ms. CHEN Yanyan 5/5
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During the year ended 31 March 2022, the principal work performed by the Nomination Committee included:

o review of the structure, size and composition of the Board taking into account a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural background, educational background, skills, knowledge, professional experience and/or
length of service;

o review of the board diversity policy and the measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board;

o review of the nomination policy;

o approval of nomination to the Board on selection of candidates for directorship and the appointment of directors;
o approval of the recommendations by the management of the removal and appointment of vice presidents;

o assessment of independence of the independent non-executive Directors; and

o determination of the rotation and re-election of the Directors for the forthcoming AGM.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises four independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. MAO Erwan
(Chairman) , Mr. ZHAO Yuhua, Ms. CHEN Yanyan and Mr. ZHANG Ling.

The Remuneration Committee is delegated with the authority of determining and reviewing remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management with a view to attracting, retaining and motivating Directors and senior management of
the quality required to run the Company successfully. The Remuneration Committee determines remuneration of all executive
Directors and senior management and make recommendation to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive Directors.
The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The objective of the Company’s remuneration policy for the Directors and senior management is to attract, motivate and
retain talented employees to achieve the Group’s long-term corporate goals and objectives. The remuneration of the Directors
and senior management is determined with reference to the performance and responsibilities of the individuals, the
performance of the Company, prevailing market conditions and remuneration benchmarks from comparable companies. No
individual Director or senior management of the Company is permitted to determine his/her own remuneration. Details of the
remuneration, as well as the share option benefits of Directors, for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in notes 11
and 35 of the 2021/22 Financial Report.
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Attendance of members at Remuneration Committee meetings for the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below:

Number of

meetings

Name of member attended/held
Dr. MAO Erwan (Chairman) 5/5
Mr. LIU Ming Hui (note 4) 4/5
Mr. HUANG Yong (note 4) 55
Mr. ZHU Weiwei (note 4) 5/5
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua 5/5
Ms. CHEN Yanyan 5/5
Mr. ZHANG Ling 5/5

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the principal work performed by the Remuneration Committee included:
o review and approval of remuneration of newly appointed vice presidents and senior management;

o review and approval of remuneration adjustment of executive Directors and employees ranking vice president and
above;

o review and approval of payment of bonus to executive Directors and employees ranking vice president and above;

o review and making recommendation on payment of bonus to all non-executive and independent non-executive
directors; and

o review emolument policy.
No Directors was involved in deciding his own remuneration.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the annual remuneration of the senior management who are not Directors was within
the following band:

Number of
senior
management

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 4

Corporate Governance and Risk Control Committee

The CGRC Committee is accountable to the Board and assists the Board to oversee the corporate governance and risk control
on business operations and financial management of the Group. The terms of reference of the CGRC Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The CGRC Committee currently comprises all the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. JIJANG Xinhao (Chairman), Mr. XIONG Bin (note 2), Mr. LIU Mingxing, Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER, Mr. ZHAQO Yuhua,
Dr. MAO Erwan, Ms. CHEN Yanyan, Mr. ZHANG Ling and Dr. MA Weihua (note 3).

Attendance of members at CGRC Committee meetings for the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below:

Number of

meetings

Name of member attended/held
Mr. JIANG Xinhao (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. XIONG Bin (note 2) N/A
Mr. LIU Mingxing 1/2
Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER 2/2
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua 2/2
Dr. MAO Erwan 2/2
Ms. CHEN Yanyan 2/2
Mr. ZHANG Ling 2/2
Dr. MA Weihua (note 3) N/A

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the principal work performed by the CGRC Committee included:

o review of interim and annual reports of the Group’s corporate governance and risk management and internal audit;
o review of and advising on general corporate governance and risk control policy and procedures of the Group;

o review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management system;

o review of the Group’s internal audit and the internal audit plan; and

o review of the effectiveness of internal audit function of the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company provides support to the Board by ensuring good information flow within the Board
and Board policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is also responsible for advising the Board through the
chairman and/or the Executive Committee on governance matters and should facilitate induction and professional
development of Directors.

The company secretary had complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Every Director must always know his/her responsibilities as a director of a listed company and its conduct, business activities
and development. Each newly appointed Director receives a comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment so as to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Group’s operations and business and his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and the relevant regulatory requirements. In addition, all Directors are
advised to participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Company also continues its effort in providing updates on the changes in the relevant regulatory requirements applicable
to the Group from time to time and recommending and organizing relevant seminars and trainings to the Directors as and
when appropriate.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company organized an in-house seminar for the Directors. Details of trainings
received by each Director for the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below:

Reading Attending
Name of Director materials seminars
Executive Directors
Mr. LIU Ming Hui v
Mr. HUANG Yong v
Mr. ZHU Weiwei v
Ms. LI Ching v v
Ms. LIU Chang v
Mr. ZHAO Kun (note 1) v
Non-executive Directors
Mr. XIONG Bin (note 2) v v
Mr. LIU Mingxing v
Mr. JIANG Xinhao v v
Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER v
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua v v
Dr. MAO Erwan v v
Ms. CHEN Yanyan v v
Mr. ZHANG Ling v
Dr. MA Weihua (note 3) v

The Directors acknowledge the need for continuous professional development, and the Company provides support whenever
relevant and necessary. All Directors are required to provide the Company with the records of the training they received
annually.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment in respect of
annual and interim reports, announcements of inside information and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and
other regulatory requirements. The Directors also acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of
the Company for each financial period.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).

Following the specific enquiries by the Company, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2022.

Formal notifications were sent by the Company to all Directors and relevant employees reminding them that they should not
deal in the securities of the Company during the black-out periods specified in the Model Code.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is committed to implementing effective and sound internal control system to safeguard the interest of shareholders
and the Group's assets. The internal control system includes a well-defined management structure with limits of authority,
clear and written policies, standard operation procedures, and risk control self-assessment conducted for all major operating
units of the Group. The system is designed to provide reasonable assurance of no material misstatement or loss and to
manage risks failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group's objectives.

The CGRC Committee, via internal audit which is independent of the Group’s management, has reviewed and evaluated the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system put in place by management covering financial, operational and compliance
controls. Internal audit function provides independent assurance to the Board and executive management as to the adequacy
and effectiveness of internal compliance for the Group on an ongoing basis, which is carried out by the Company’s audit and
supervisory department. The internal audit team has free access to review all aspects of the Group’s activities and systems.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the audit and supervisory department performed operational and financial reviews with
objectives to ensure that all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions are in place and functioning effectively. The audit and supervisory department focused on review on the code of
conduct and anti-fraud issues such as bribery and corruption, conflicts of interests and fair dealing. The department emphasized
on whistleblowing policy which provided a reporting channels and guidance for employees and other parties who deal with the
Group such as contractors and suppliers to report possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting and other matters. The
team summarised audit findings and control weaknesses, analyzed causes for errors and irregularities, followed up procedures
on corrective actions, provided consulting and advisory services on control and related matters, conducted independent
investigations of situations raised by whistleblowers and provided learning materials for staff training. The audit and supervisory
department reported directly to the CGRC Committee on a biannual basis. The CGRC Committee considered the internal control
system of the Company was effective and adequate in all material respects.
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In addition to the Company’s audit and supervisory department and the CGRC Committee, with the assistance of the legal
and compliance department of the Company, also assists the Board to review the adequacy and effectiveness of corporate
governance and risk management. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the legal and compliance department upgraded
the controlling system, set up controlling system for non-controlling companies and small and medium size project companies
in various cities, strengthened the supervision of contracts management in different regions and provided seminars and
trainings on risks prevention and management. The legal and compliance department also reported directly to the CGRC
Committee on a biannual basis. The CGRC Committee considered that all material risks are identified and appropriately
managed and the risk management system of the Company was effective.

Other than the above, the Group also examined the risks faced by each of the Group’s business units. In light of outbreak
and development of COVID, the Board closely monitored the potential impacts of COVID. The Group ensured that sufficient
resources were allocated to the internal control and risk management.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2022, neither the audit and supervisory department nor the legal and compliance
department was aware of any material internal control issues that would have been a material adverse effect on the financial
position or operations of the Group. The Board, through the review of the CGRC Committee, considered the internal control
system of the Group effective and adequate in all material respects.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is aware of the obligations under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“SFO"), the applicable Listing Rules and other statutory regulations with regard to the timely and proper disclosure of
inside information, announcements and financial disclosures and authorizes the publication. It follows the relevant Listing
Rules and code for securities dealing for governing the securities transactions of those employees are likely to have access to
confidential or inside information. The Company has identified and authorized senior management to act as the Company’s
spokespersons and respond to external enquiries.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board places considerable importance on communication with shareholders and recognises the significance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which enables shareholders and investors to make the most
informed investment decisions.

Information in relation to the Group is disseminated to shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal
channels, which include interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars published in accordance with the Listing
Rules. Such published documents, together with the latest corporate information and news, are also available on the
Company'’s website.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the capital management centre (corporate finance and investor relations) of the
Company, carried out various functions, such as more than 500 meetings with analysts and investors in Hong Kong and
Shenzhen, three analyst and investor briefings, 21 international investors forums and road shows. The Company has made
available its contact details, such as telephone hotline and email address, on the Company’s website, in order to enable
shareholders to make any queries that they may have with respect to the Company.
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They can also send their enquiries to the Board by the following means:

Post: Room 1601, 16th Floor, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
E-mail: investor@chinagasholdings.com.hk
Phone: +852 2877 0800

The Board considers that there are sufficient communication channels for the shareholders to communicate with the
Company.

The AGM also provides a valuable forum for the Board to communicate directly with the shareholders every year. The
chairman of the Company attended the annual general meeting to answer any questions from the shareholders. In addition,
the chairmen of the various Board committees, or in their absence, other members of the relevant committees and the
Company’s external auditor are available to answer questions at the meeting.

In order to minimize the risk exposure to COVID, special arrangements and precautions were put in place for our 2021 AGM
held on 18 August 2021. The Chairman and Directors attended the 2021 AGM online at a off-site venue and the senior
management and the auditors attended the meeting physically. Shareholders were encouraged to appoint the Chairman of
the 2021 AGM as their proxy to vote on the resolutions instead of attending the meeting in person.

Attendance of Directors at general meetings of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below:

Number of
meetings

Name of Director attended/held
Executive Directors
Mr. LIU Ming Hui 11
Mr. HUANG Yong 11
Mr. ZHU Weiwei 11
Ms. LI Ching 11
Ms. LIU Chang 11
Mr. ZHAO Kun (note 1) N/A
Non-executive Directors
Mr. XIONG Bin (note 2) N/A
Mr. LIU Mingxing 71
Mr. JIJANG Xinhao 0/1
Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER 0/1
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua 11
Dr. MAO Erwan 11
Ms. CHEN Yanyan Al
Mr. ZHANG Ling 11
Dr. MA Weihua (note 3) N/A
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Board and the management shall ensure that all shareholders are treated equitably and fairly. Pursuant to the Bye-laws,
any shareholder entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint another person as his/
her proxy to attend and vote instead of him/her. Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary, to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. In addition, according to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, shareholders holding not
less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights or not less than 100 shareholders may submit a written request to the
Company stating the resolution intended to be proceeded at the annual general meeting.

Any vote of the shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll (other than procedural matters). Voting results are
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on the day of the general meeting. Since August 2009,
there were no changes to the memorandum of association of the Company and Bye-laws. The updated versions of the
memorandum of association of the Company and Bye-laws will be available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Detailed procedures for the shareholders to convene a special general meeting, putting forward proposals at a general
meeting and proposing a person for election as a Director are also available on the website of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS OF THE COMPANY

During the year, there was no change in the constitutional documents of the Company. The Company proposes to seek the
approval of the shareholders for certain amendments to the Bye-laws at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Please
refer to the circular of the Company dated 18 July 2022 for detail of the proposed amendments.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy with an aim to giving reasonable returns on investment to investors and
shareholders and, at the same time, to maintain the long-term sustainable development of the Company.

The Company expects to distribute dividends (an interim dividend and a final dividend) to shareholders twice a year. The
dividend is payable in cash or scrip or in cash and scrip or other means permitted by the law to shareholders. In proposing any
dividend payout, the Board shall take into account, among others, the Group’s current and future operations, profitability,
level of liquidity, capital requirements, and the overall financial position etc. The Board in its sole discretion makes suggestions
and decisions in relation to dividend distribution, and obtains shareholders’ approval (if applicable).

Notes:
1. Mr. ZHAO Kun was appointed as an executive Director and a member of the Executive Committee on 19 August 2021.
2. Mr. XIONG Bin was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Board, a non-executive Director and a member of the CGRC Committee on 8 March 2022.

3. Dr. MA Weihua was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Sustainability Committee and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the CGRC Committee on 1 February 2022.

4. Mr. LIU Ming Hui, Mr. HUANG Yong and Mr. ZHU Weiwei resigned as members of the Remuneration Committee on 24 June 2022.
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The Directors present this annual report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2022 (the “2021/22 Financial Report”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is one of China’s largest trans-regional, integrated
energy suppliers and service providers. Focusing on China, it is primarily engaged in the investment, construction, and
operation of city and township gas pipelines, gas terminals, storage and transport facilities, and gas logistics systems to
deliver natural gas and LPG to residential, industrial, and commercial users. The Group also builds and operates CNG/LNG
fueling stations while developing and applying natural gas and LPG technologies. In addition, it has drawn on its extensive
consumer base to form a comprehensive business portfolio of value-added services, urban heating, new energy, electricity
distribution and sales, and charging stations. Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates as at
31 March 2022 are set out in notes 46, 19 and 18 respectively to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 as required pursuant to Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), comprising analysis of the Group’s performance during the year,
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, important events affecting the Company that have
occurred since 1 April 2021, an indication of likely future development in the Group's business, a discussion on the Group’s
environmental policies and performance, the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group and an account of the Group’s key relationships of the Group and its stakeholders, is set out
in the sections headed “Financial Highlights”, “Operational Highlights”, “Natural Gas”, “Operational Locations of Natural
Gas”, “Value-Added Services”, “Urban Heating”, “Dual-carbon & New Energy”, “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management

noou

Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Governance Report”, and “2021/22 Financial Report” of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the 2021/22 Financial Report.

The interim dividend of HK10 cents per share for the six months ended 30 September 2021 (2020/21: HK10 cents) was paid
on 28 January 2022.

The Board resolved to recommend payment of a final dividend of HK45 cents per share for the year ended 31 March 2022
(2020/21: HK45 cents) to the holders of shares of the Company whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 29 August 2022 amounting to approximately HK$2,448,151,000 subject to shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming AGM.

The final dividend, if approved by the shareholders, is expected to be payable on or about 3 October 2022 (Monday).

Directors’ Report

67



68

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the bank and other borrowings of the Group are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements of the
2021/22 Financial Report.

DEBENTURE ISSUED DURING THE YEAR

During the year, the Company has not issued any debentures and notes.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is set out on page 227
of the 2021/22 Financial Report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group revalued all of its investment properties at the end of the financial year. The net increase in fair value of
investment properties in the amount of HK$349,682,000 has been credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Details of movements during the year in investment properties and property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in
notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements of the 2021/22 Financial Report respectively.

MAJOR PROPERTIES

Details of the major properties of the Group as at 31 March 2022 are set out on page 228 of the 2021/22 Financial Report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements of the 2021/22 Financial Report.

RESERVES

The Company'’s reserves, comprising the accumulated profits, available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2022
amounted to approximately HK$6,742,503,000.

Movements in the reserves of the Company during the year are set out in the movement in the Company’s reserves on page
226 of the 2021/22 Financial Report.

China Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22




DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. LIU Ming Hui

Mr. HUANG Yong

Mr. ZHU Weiwei

Ms. LI Ching

Ms. LIU Chang

Mr. ZHAO Kun (note 1)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. XIONG Bin (note 2)

Mr. LIU Mingxing

Mr. JIANG Xinhao

Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHAO Yuhua

Dr. MAO Erwan

Ms. CHEN Yanyan

Mr. ZHANG Ling

Dr. MA Weihua (note 3)

Pursuant to Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, the Directors shall have power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a causal vacancy on the Board or, subject to authorization by the shareholders in general
meeting, as an addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting (in the case of filling a vacancy) or until the next following annual general meeting (in the case of an addition
to their number) of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. In this connection, Mr. ZHAQO Kun,
Mr. XIONG Bin and Dr. MA Weihua will retire, and being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Pursuant to Bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-laws and the Code Provision B.2.2, Mr. ZHU Weiwei, Mr. JIANG Xinhao, Dr. MAO
Erwan and Ms. CHEN Yanyan will retire by rotation, and they, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM.

Notes:
1. Mr. ZHAO Kun was appointed as an executive Director on 19 August 2021.
2. Mr. XIONG Bin was appointed as a non-executive Director on 8 March 2022.

3. Dr. MA Weihua was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1 February 2022.
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DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.51B (1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed below, there is no change in the information of the Directors required to be disclosed in this annual report
pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1) of the Listing Rules:

1. Dr. MA Weihua was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, chairman of the Sustainability Committee
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the CGRC Committee with effect from 1 February 2022.

2. Mr. XIONG Bin was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Board, a non-executive Director and a member of the CGRC
Committee with effect from 8 March 2022.

3. Mr. JIANG Xinhao and Mr. XIONG Bin waived all the emoluments, allowances and discretionary bonus as a Director, a
member of the CGRC Committee and a Vice Chairman of the Board.

4. On 23 June 2022, the Remuneration Committee of the Company has (1) approved (a) payment of bonus equivalent to
seven months’ salary to be made to each of Mr. LIU Ming Hui, Mr. HUANG Yong and Mr. ZHU Weiwei; (b) payment of
bonus equivalent to five months’ salary to be made to Ms. LI Ching, (c) payment of bonus equivalent to six months’
salary to be made to Ms. LIU Chang and (d) payment of bonus equivalent to three months’ salary to be made to Mr.
ZHAO Kun; and (2) resolved to make recommendation to the Board of Directors of the Company payment of bonus
equivalent to four months’ salary to be made to each of Mr. LIU Mingxing, Mr. ZHAO Yuhua, Dr. MAO Erwan, Ms.
CHEN Yanyan and Mr. ZHANG Ling for the year ended 31 March 2022.

5. On 24 June 2022, the Board of the Company has confirmed and approved the above bonus payment.

6.  Mr. LIU Ming Hui, Mr. HUANG Yong and Mr. ZHU Weiwei resigned as members of the Remuneration Committee on 24
June 2022.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Other than Mr. LIU Ming Hui, Mr. HUANG Yong and Mr. ZHU Weiwei, none of the Directors has entered into any service
contract with the Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation). Each of Mr. LIU Ming Hui, Mr. HUANG Yong and Mr. ZHU Weiwei has entered into a term of
10-year senior executive employment contract with the Company. The employment contracts of Mr. LIU Ming Hui and Mr.
HUANG Yong were approved by shareholders in the 2018 annual general meeting and the employment contract of Mr. ZHU
Weiwei was approved by shareholders in the 2017 annual general meeting. The details were disclosed in the circulars of the
Company dated 11 July 2017 and 20 July 2018.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits schemes are set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements set out in
the 2021/22 Financial Report.
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DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

(@) Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company (the “Shares”)

Number of Approximate percentage
Shares held of total issued Shares of

Name of Director Nature of interest (long position*) the Company (%) (note 1)

Mr. LIU Ming Hui (“Mr. LIU") Personal and corporate 1,024,895,428 18.51
(note 2)

Mr. HUANG Yong (Mr. HUANG") Personal 168,783,200 3.05
(note 3)

Mr. ZHU Weiwei Personal 6,000,000 0.11

Ms. LI Ching Personal 2,000,000 0.04

Mr. LIU Mingxing Personal 800,000 0.01

Mr. ZHAO Yuhua Personal 2,400,000 0.04

Dr. MAO Erwan Personal 2,200,000 0.04

(b) Ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each of China Gas Fortune Marine Transportation Limited (an
associated corporation of the Company)

Number of Approximate percentage
shares held of total issued shares of

Name of Director Nature of interest (long position*) the company (%)
Mr. LIU Corporate 189,356,089 60.00
(note 4)

(c) Ordinary shares of US$1.00 each of Electronic Business Development Company Limited (a
subsidiary of the Company)

Number of Approximate percentage
shares held of total issued shares of
Name of Director Nature of interest (long position*) the company (%)

Mr. LIU Personal 23.5 (note 5) 23.50
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors nor the chief executives of the Company had or
was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or () to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) on 20 August 2013 and a share award scheme (“Share
Award Scheme”) on 27 November 2020 for the purpose of recognizing the contributions of eligible employees and eligible
persons and providing them with incentives in order to retain them for continual operation and development of the Group
and to attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

(A) Share Option Scheme

Particulars of the Share Option Scheme and details of movements in the share options under the Share Option Scheme
during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements of the 2021/22
Financial Report and summarized as below:

Number of share options
Lapsed/
Exercise Granted Exercised cancelled Transferred
Name or category price Balance asat duringthe duringthe duringthe duringthe  Balance as at
of grantee Date of grant Exercise period (HKS) 1 April 2021 period period period period 31 March 2022
Directors
Mr. LIU 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 23.80 50,000,000 — — — — 50,000,000
31 December 2026
Mr. HUANG Yong 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 23.80 45,000,000 — — — — 45,000,000
31 December 2026
Mr. Zhu Weiwei 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 2380 4,000,000 - — — — 4,000,000
31 December 2026
Ms. LI Ching 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 23.80 2,000,000 = — = — 2,000,000
31 December 2026
Ms. LIU Chang 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 23.80 2,000,000 — — — — 2,000,000
31 December 2026
Mr. LIU Mingxing 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 23.80 1,000,000 — — — — 1,000,000

31 December 2026
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Number of share options
Lapsed/
Exercise Granted Exercised cancelled Transferred
Name or category price Balanceasat duringthe duringthe duringthe duringthe  Balance as at
of grantee Date of grant Exercise period (HKS) 1 April 2021 period period period period 31 March 2022
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 23.80 1,000,000 — — — 1,000,000
31 December 2026
Dr. MAO Erwan 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 23.80 1,000,000 — — — 1,000,000
31 December 2026
Ms. CHEN Yanyan 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 23.80 1,000,000 — — — 1,000,000
31 December 2026
Mr. ZHANG Ling 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 23.80 1,000,000 — — — 1,000,000
31 December 2026
Sub-total 108,000,000 — — — — 108,000,000
Eligible employees 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 23.80 152,793,800 — — (7,250,400)  (367,600) 145,175,800
(note 6) 31 December 2026 (note 8) (note 9)
Consultants 23 April 2020 15 October 2022 to 23.80 2,546,000 = = (304,000) 367,600 2,609,600
(note 7) 31 December 2026 (note 8) (note 9)
Sub-total 155,339,800 — —  (7,554,400) — 147,785,400
Total 263,339,800 — —  (7,554,400) — 255,785,400
Notes:
* Long position in Shares (other than pursuant to equity derivatives such as share options, warrants or convertible bonds)

1. The percentage was calculated based on 5,535,794,372 Shares in issue as at 31 March 2022.

2. Mr. LIU was deemed to be interested in a total of 1,024,895,428 Shares, comprising:

(i) 335,633,228 Shares beneficially owned by him;

(ii) 70,000,000 Shares beneficially owned by Joint Coast Alliance Market Development Limited, a company wholly-owned by Mr. LIU;

(iii) 569,262,200 Shares beneficially owned by China Gas Group Limited. China Gas Group Limited was owned as to 50% by Joint Coast
Alliance Market Development Limited which, in turn, is wholly-owned by Mr. LIU; and

(iv) 50,000,000 underlying Shares for the share options granted to him by the Company.
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(B)

3. The number of shares held included the 770,000 Shares held by Ms. ZHAO Xiaoyu, the spouse of Mr. HUANG Yong.

4. Mr. LIU was deemed to be interested in 189,356,089 shares of China Gas Fortune Marine Transportation Limited beneficially owned by China Gas
Group Limited (incorporated in Anguilla) which was owned as to 50% by Joint Coast Alliance Market Development Limited, which, in turn, is
wholly-owned by Mr. LIU.

5. Mr. LIU held as to 29% interest and the Company held as to 71% in Electronic Business Development Company Limited (“Electronic Business”)
respectively, a subsidiary of the Company. Among 29% interest held by Mr. LIU, 5.5% of which was intended to be allocated to the eligible
individuals who contribute to the growth and development of Electronic Business.

6. Such share options were granted to eligible employees pursuant to the share option scheme adopted on 20 August 2013.

7. Such share options were granted to director and eligible employees who subsequently ceased to be the Group's director and employees but were
retained by the Group as consultants.

8. As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 9 February 2022, 5,380,600 share options were granted to grantees who ceased to be
eligible participants under the Share Option Scheme and hence those options should have lapsed during the year ended 31 March 2021 (but the
lapse of such options were not disclosed in the 2020/21 annual report of the Company). The total balance of outstanding options held by the
eligible employees and consultants of the Group as at 1 April 2021 should be 155,339,800 instead, comprising 152,793,800 held by eligible
employees and 2,546,000 held by consultants of the Group.

9. During the year, the grantees of 367,600 share options who ceased to be eligible employees but were retained by the Group as consultants and
therefore these grantees continue to be eligible participants.

10. The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which the options were granted was HK$23.2 per share.

Pursuant to the limit stipulated under the Share Option Scheme, as of 31 March 2022, the maximum number of further
share options permitted to be granted thereunder was 253,135,897, representing approximately 4.6% of the number
of total issued shares of the Company as of 31 March 2022.

Regarding the maximum entitlement of each eligible participants under the Share Option Scheme, unless shareholders’
approval is obtained in accordance with the Listing Rules, the Board cannot grant any option (“Triggering Option”) to
any eligible participant which, if exercised, would result in that eligible participant becoming entitled to subscribe for
such number of Shares as, when aggregated with the total number of Shares already issued or to be issued to him
upon exercise of all options granted to him under the Share Option Scheme or any other share option scheme in the
12-month period immediately preceding the grant date of the Triggering Option to exceed one per cent of the number
of shares of the Company in issue as at that grant date.

Share Award Scheme

The Company adopted the Share Award Scheme on 27 November 2020. Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, the
Board may from time to time at its absolute discretion select eligible persons including the directors, senior
management and consultant of any member of the Group and employee of any member of the Group to participate in
the Share Award Scheme and determine the shares to be awarded. The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term
of 10 years commencing on the adoption date.

The Board shall not make any further award of shares under the Share Award Scheme which will result in the total
nominal value of the aggregate of Shares awarded by the Board under the scheme exceeding 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time. For the avoidance of doubt, the awards lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Share Award Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the limit of the scheme. The maximum
number of shares which may be awarded to a selected participant under the scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company in any 12-month period.
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Tricor Trust (Hong Kong) Limited was appointed as a trustee of the Share Award Scheme. Subject to the terms and
conditions of the Share Award Scheme and the fulfilment of all vesting conditions, the shares awarded held by the
trustee on behalf of a selected participant shall vest in such selected participant and the trustee shall transfer the shares
to such selected participant.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the trustee purchased 15,784,800 shares of the Company under the
Share Award Scheme and no share was awarded by the Company to any of the eligible persons under the Share Award
Scheme.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2022, so far as was known to the Directors and chief executive of the Company, the interests or short
positions of substantial shareholders and other persons of the Company (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company), in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under section

336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company, were as follows:

Long and short positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company:

Approximate

percentage of total
issued Shares of the

Number of Company (%)

Name Capacity Shares held (note 1)

Beijing Enterprises Group Company Interest of controlled 1,274,433,143 23.02
Limited ("BE Group”) corporation (note 2)

Beijing Enterprises Group (BVI) Company  Interest of controlled 1,271,463,143 22.97
Limited (“BE Group BVI") corporation (note 2)

Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited Beneficial owner and interest 1,271,463,143 22.97
("Beijing Enterprises”) of controlled corporation (note 2)

Hong Mao Developments Limited Beneficial owner 1,164,911,143 21.04
(“Hong Mao") (note 2)

Mr. LIU Beneficial owner and interest 1,024,895,428 18.51
of controlled corporation (note 3)

Joint Coast Alliance Market Development Interest of controlled 639,262,200 11.55
Limited (“Joint Coast”) corporation (note 3)

China Gas Group Limited (“CGGL") Beneficial owner 569,262,200 10.28
(note 4)
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Approximate
percentage of total
issued Shares of the

Number of Company (%)
Name Capacity Shares held (note 1)
Mr. CHIU Tat Jung Daniel (“Mr. CHIU") Interest of controlled 894,077,635 16.15
corporation (note 5)
First Level Holdings Limited (“First Level”) Beneficial owner and interest 894,077,635 16.15
of controlled corporation (note 5)
Fortune Dynasty Holdings Limited Interest of controlled 893,077,635 16.13
("Fortune Dynasty”) corporation (note 5)
Fortune Oil Limited (“Fortune Qil") Interest of controlled 893,077,635 16.13
corporation (note 5)
Fortune Oil PRC Holdings Limited Beneficial owner and interest 825,763,744 14.92
("Fortune Oil PRC") of controlled corporation (note 5)
Notes:
1. The percentage was calculated on the basis of 5,535,794,372 Shares in issue as at 31 March 2022.

2. BE Group was deemed to be interested in 1,274,433,143 Shares, 2,970,000 of which were directly and beneficially owned by Beijing Holdings Limited,
and 1,271,463,143 of which were beneficially owned by Beijing Enterprises, and of which 1,164,911,143 were directly and beneficially owned by Hong
Mao. Hong Mao was wholly-owned by Beijing Enterprises which was owned as to 0.35% by Beijing Holdings Limited, 41.06% by BE Group BVI, 7.93%
by Modern Orient Limited (“Modern Orient”) and 12.97% by Beijing Enterprises Investments Limited (“Beijing Enterprises Investments”). Modern Orient
was wholly-owned by Beijing Enterprises Investments which was owned as to 72.72% by BE Group BVI. BE Group BVI and Beijing Holdings Limited were

both wholly-owned by BE Group.

3. Mr. LIU was deemed to be interested in a total of 1,024,895,428 Shares, comprising:

(i) 335,633,228 Shares beneficially owned by him;

(ii) Joint Coast was deemed to be interested in 639,262,200 Shares, 70,000,000 Shares of which were directly and beneficially owned and
569,262,200 Shares were directly and beneficially owned by CGGL which was owned as to 50% by Joint Coast and Joint Coast was wholly-

owned by Mr. LIU; and

(iii) 50,000,000 underlying Shares for the share options granted to him by the Company.

4. 569,262,200 Shares were beneficially owned by CGGL. CGGL is owned as to 50% by Joint Coast which, in turn, is wholly-owned by Mr. LIU.
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5. Each of Mr. CHIU and First Level was deemed to be interested in a total of 894,077,635 Shares, comprising:
(i) 569,262,200 Shares beneficially owned by CGGL. CGGL was owned as to 50% by Fortune Oil PRC;

(ii) 825,763,744 Shares owned by Fortune Qil PRC, 569,262,200 of which were deemed to be interested through CGGL and 256,501,544 Shares
were beneficially owned. Fortune Oil PRC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fortune Qil. Fortune Oil is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fortune Dynasty
which is owned as to 70% by First Level;

(iii) 27,617,919 Shares beneficially owned by First Marvel Investment Limited which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fortune Oil;
(iv) 39,695,972 Shares beneficially owned by Fortune Qil Holdings Limited which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fortune Oil; and

(v) 1,000,000 Shares beneficially owned by First Level which, in turn, is owned as to 99% by Mr. CHIU.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, there was no other person (other than directors or chief executive of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

On 8 October 2021, China Gas Capital Management Limited ("“CGCM"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the total return swap transaction (“TRS Transaction”) with Nomura Singapore Limited (“TRS Counterparty”) in
order to hedge its exposure to future Share price appreciation in connection with the Share Award Scheme. The maximum
equity notional amount of the TRS Transaction is HK$780 million and the maximum number of Shares underlying the TRS
Transaction is 37,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 0.66% of the Company’s issued share capital as of the date of
the TRS Transaction. The TRS Transaction has a term of approximately 12 months. Upon the expiry of such term or at an early
termination of the TRS Transaction by CGCM, the TRS Counterparty should pay CGCM an amount in cash determined by
reference to the final price. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 8 October 2021 for further details.

Other than the TRS Transaction and the Share Option Scheme of the Company as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated

financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end
of the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme as mentioned above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements which enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of the Shares in, or debenture of, the Company or any other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, there was a connected transaction which was required to be disclosed in accordance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules.
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INCREASE IN STAKE IN A VALUE-ADDED SERVICE COMPANY

On 9 March 2022, the Company entered into an acquisition agreement with Mr. LIU and Mr. HUANG (the “Sellers”)
pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to purchase, and the Sellers conditionally agreed to sell, 20% of the
total issued shares in Electronic Business Development Company Limited (a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability and a subsidiary of the Company) (“Electronic Business”), at a consideration of HK$3,000 million.
Immediately prior to the completion, Electronic Business is a subsidiary of the Company and was beneficially owned as to
51% by the Company, 40% by Mr. LIU and 3.5% by Mr. HUANG, while the remaining 5.5% shareholding in Electronic
Business held by Mr. LIU was intended to be allocated to the eligible individuals who contribute to the growth and
development of Electronic Business and its subsidiaries. The acquisition was completed on 10 March 2022. Upon completion,
Electronic Business became beneficially owned as to 71% by the Company and 23.5% by Mr. LIU, and the remaining 5.5%
shareholding would continue to be held by Mr. Liu as aforesaid. Since the date of its establishment, Electronic Business has
always been a crucial platform for the incubation, empowerment, and scientific innovations of the Group’s value-added
services segment. Through increasing stake in Electronic Business, the Group can consolidate its control over, and to lock up
greater income from Electronic Business, so as to continuously maximize profit by tapping into customers’ value and product
innovation. In view of the business prospects, financial performance and potential value of Electronic Business and its
subsidiaries, the Directors considered that it was in the interest of the Company to increase its investment in Electronic
Business.

Mr. LIU is the chairman, managing director and president of the Company, and an executive Director and a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Mr. HUANG is the executive president of the Company and an executive Director. Accordingly,
Mr. LIU and Mr. HUANG are connected persons of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 10 March 2022 on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

During the year, the Group entered into certain related party transactions which are disclosed in note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements of the 2021/22 Financial Report. The related party transactions as disclosed in notes 44(vii) and (viii) were
connected transactions of the Company discloseable under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 10 March 2022 and 27 March 2020. Other related party transactions disclosed in
note 44 did not constitute connected transactions of the Company discloseable under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules for the year ended 31 March 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Being the sellers in the transaction, both Mr. LIU and Mr. HUANG were interested in the Company’s acquisition of 20%
shareholding in Electronic Business completed in March 2022, details of which are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 10 March 2022. Save as disclosed, as at 31 March 2022 or during the year, none of the Directors had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party.

China Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, save as disclosed, none of the Directors or their respective associates had any interest
in any business, apart from the Company’s business, which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the Company’s business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest customers
was less than 30% (being the Listing Rules disclosure threshold) of total turnover of the Group. The amount of purchases
attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers and the largest supplier were approximately 22.2% and approximately
10.9% respectively, of the total purchases of the Group.

To the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close associates, or any shareholders (which to the knowledge

of the Directors own 5% or more of the issued shares of the Company) had any interest in the major suppliers mentioned
above.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S SHARES

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company or its subsidiaries repurchased a total of 164,033,200 shares of the
Company at a total consideration of HK$2,847,105,305.

Total number of Total
Month Shares repurchased Price per Share consideration
Highest Lowest

HK$ HK$ HK$

May 2021 21,072,000 29.65 27.05 598,311,362
June 2021 1,537,000 23.98 23.75 36,845,963
July 2021 6,493,800 24.60 23.25 155,923,960
August 2021 8,832,400 24.95 21.70 202,424,275
September 2021 12,513,800 23.05 20.70 272,465,936
October 2021 18,125,600 23.00 18.46 370,869,710
November 2021 3,580,000 14.12 13.96 50,349,944
December 2021 3,429,000 13.70 13.00 45,907,947
January 2022 18,136,800 14.40 13.02 244,608,908
February 2022 24,291,200 14.08 12.42 313,136,582
March 2022 46,021,600 12.74 11.36 556,260,718
Total 164,033,200 29.65 11.36 2,847,105,305

All the above repurchased shares had been cancelled. In accordance with the repurchase mandate granted to the Board at
the 2021 AGM, such repurchase aimed to increase the net assets per share and earnings per share.

Directors’ Report

79



80

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Note Redemption

During the year, the Company has not redeemed any note.

Share Placement

On 22 April 2021, the Company entered into a placing agreement with Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited and China Gas
Group Limited (the “Vendors”) and UBS AG Hong Kong Branch, Goldman Sachs (Asia) L.L.C. and The Hongkong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited for placing of 392,000,000 Shares (the “Placing Shares”) at the placing price of
HK$29.75 each to not less than six placees (the “Placing”). To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, such placees and their respective ultimate beneficial owners were third parties
independent of the Company and its connected persons. On the same date, the Company also entered into a subscription
agreement with the Vendors in relation to the subscription of a total of 392,000,000 new Shares (the “Subscription Shares”)
by the Vendors (the “Subscription”), which represents the same number of Placing Shares. The subscription price was
HK$29.75 per Subscription Share (which was the same as the placing price under the Placing) and the net price for the
Subscription after deduction of such expenses was approximately HK$29.60 per Subscription Share. The closing price per
Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange was HK$32.70 on 21 April 2021, being the day prior to the date of the placing
agreement and the subscription agreement. The number of Subscription Shares represented approximately 6.99% of the
then enlarged issued shares upon completion of the Subscription. Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 22
April 2021 and 30 April 2021 for further details of the Placing and Subscription.

The Placing and the Subscription were completed on 26 April 2021 and 30 April 2021 respectively. The gross proceeds from
the Placing and the Subscription amounted to approximately HK$11,662 million and the net proceeds (after deducting all
applicable costs and expenses in relation to the Placing and the Subscription, including commission and levies) amounted to
approximately HK$11,602 million.

The net proceeds were intended to be used for acquisition of gas projects, expansion of new business and general working
capital of the Group. A summary of the use of proceeds up to 31 March 2022 is as follows:

Approximate Current
amount for the expected
intended use of timeline for

net proceeds (and  Approximate  Approximate the intended

the approximate amount unutilized use of net

Purpose portion thereof) utilized amount proceeds
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

Acquisition of city gas projects in China 4,641 (40%) (1,814) 2,827 On or before

30 September

2024

Expansion of LPG Smart MicroGrid 2,901 (25%) (54) 2,847 On or before

business 31 March 2025

Development of distributed heating 2,901 (25%) (929) 1,972 On or before

business 30 September

2023

General working capital 1,160 (10%) (1,160) — —
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In view of the then market condition, the Directors considered that the placing offered a good opportunity for the Company
to raise additional capital for the Group and hence strengthened the Company's capital base for future development.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company’s emolument policy is to maintain fair and competitive packages with reference to industry standards and
prevailing market conditions. The Board is mindful that levels of remuneration must be sufficient to attract and retain
Directors and senior management to run the Company successfully, but at the same time, the Company should avoid setting
remunerations which are in excess of those necessary for this purpose.

The emoluments of the executive Directors and employees ranking vice president or above are decided by the Remuneration
Committee while the remuneration of the non-executive Directors and other senior management are determined by the
Board, having regard to the Company’s results, individual performance and prevailing market conditions.

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme on 20 August 2013 and a Share Award Scheme on 27 November 2020

providing incentives to Directors and eligible employees and persons, details of the scheme are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements of the 2021/22 Financial Report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which oblige the Company to offer
new shares to the existing shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, donations made by the Group were approximately HK$7,853,000.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considered all of them to be independent.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company maintained
sufficient amount of public float under the Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

No significant event occurred after the date of the balance sheet.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Company’s business was entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which any of them shall or may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duties in their
offices.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout the year and is still in force. In addition, the Company has

arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be proposed in the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

China Gas Holdings Limited

LIU Ming Hui

Chairman, Managing Director and President

24 June 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

02

B R BET R E

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Gas Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 11 to 226, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA"”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

WorldClass
ERIEN

)

HHBERRERERLOARE
(RERZZMALZERAA])

=R

iz (A TEBIEM)EFiTsE#HR
NME226EMFBEMRBRIERBRAF (AT
EREIEAR D) RENBRARI(ATHABIE
SEDNSREVBRE LW BEHRB2E
NRZEBE-_—_F=A=+—BWNEEHEHR
NEAHEZHLEFENSABEREM
EPEABARE GEESEHRNEEE
CREXR  UREKEUBHHREMT  B81FE
ZEABRME -

BMRE ZERAVERRERESDS
EMAS((BEESFHMAE))BHNE
B EHREEI(EBMEREERNDE
EmPsitRkET BEEBR-_ZT-_—F
A=+t HOEKEEAUBRAREE%E
IHEFENGRAUBERBRGARESRE
WEERBB(RAAMEPIDMBEREREL A
i o

ERNER

BMEREFESAMIAGRMHN(EESE
srEAD(EBEFER ETES - HMA
EZEEATAENEICEAREZH
MBSV BERRAENEEIHD
hEE -SRI - RIBEFESFTMAGHE
e EX g EERTAD(ATERI T
A1) RABLR BE&KE A2ETTH
THEMEXEBEREMT - HMEE - RFAMA
ESMEFBRIRARREZLRERMN
B RREMHEAR-

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2021/22 FREIMASIERARAT 20212281 15H %




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

EEER

B R BENRE

EEETSER

BRESETEERERMO B X AL R
ABHABGREVERRNEBEARAEEDN
FEH ELEHEERMBABELGESN
BHRERHAERAKETREEN - HMT
CTHELEHREEEBHER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMNETNAHBERETSHETEE

Recognition of gas connection and engineering design and construction income

BREFEEUR TR R LTRAZER

We identified recognition of gas connection and engineering
design and construction income as a key audit matter due to its
guantitative significance to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income and significant
judgments involved in the recognition.

P2 RRIMRRER AR TR&R Lt TWRA Z R
RAREFTFH AREYGAEaREIMEmKA
BREEATETE BHEIASNEXRHAL -

As disclosed in note 3.2 to the consolidated financial
statements, revenue from gas connection and engineering
design and construction is measured based on the input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the
Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction
of that performance obligation. The Group recognised revenue
of approximately HK$7,816,158,000 from gas connection and
engineering design and construction during the year ended 31
March 2022.

BANG AT RARMEI2HE  RARKRERUET
RBRFAEEIHRADREZEAZTZE iR ES
BRERBHNEEMEMLKFEACBERIERBEK
BHEENBIRAN)ERRA . ESEEREE_ZT=
ZFE=ZA=T " BLEFEBRRKENRRER UK LE
L ET M TR U A 49 57,816,158,0007%8 It ©

Our procedures in relation to recognition of gas connection and
engineering design and construction income included:

B BERRREEARIRRARETIRAZREFE
&
° Understanding the management'’s process and key controls

relating to the approval of construction contracts for gas
connection and engineering design and construction and
the measurement of the progress of satisfaction of the
performance obligation;

e THRUBERREBRZERIERFIREIAOR
AEBNBRANERMPENEEERF RER
1l

o Discussing with management with respect to the basis of
recognition and measurement of gas connection and
engineering design and construction income;

e HEREIRABMREKR
WARBER R EEE

XA KM TR M T
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Key audit matter

BRETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMWETNAEERETSRETRE

As set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
significant judgments are applied in determining the progress of
satisfaction of performance obligation, including costs incurred
to date and budgeted costs to complete.

MR E M B MR EAPTE - AMRERALTIER
ARETRAME  ERTEAHBEBEEBAOBERAN
ER BRESEELAZKARKRIBERS -

Evaluating the reasonableness of management’s estimates
of the progress of satisfaction of performance obligation
by:

BRAATI A AFEEEBEROEECETE
REFHEENKE:

o Examining relevant construction contracts and,
where appropriate, invoices, completion reports
from external parties and other supporting
documents on a sample basis;

« HEBERENBEIOEBRRAR
R (AR BRI HE R B

3 Testing actual costs incurred, including material and
subcontracting costs, by inspecting invoices and
other supporting documents on a sample basis;

s MEREBRREMIAXXMF  RWARAER
EELKA  BEMBRDBERAE

3 Assessing the reasonableness of budgeted costs with
reference to actual costs incurred for selected
projects; and

e ZERATFTHEHMNEBRKAUFHEEEXAHN
AR R

Considering the historical accuracy of the Group's
estimates by comparing the total actual costs incurred at
completion against the total budgeted costs for selected
projects.

BEATIHELANAERKAREETREMNAERE
ERAZELL  AERE BSEBEM[EHELER
# o
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Key audit matter

BREETER

B R BENRE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMWEFNAEEREST S RETEE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

72 2 Bl 8 FF 1

We identified impairment assessment of goodwill as a key audit
matter due to the involvement of significant judgments and
assumptions in determining the recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units (“CGUs"”) to which goodwill has been
allocated, which are derived from value in use calculations using
discounted cash flow models.

BZMERMNABZREFEABEREFFTER BAR
BErXrefrE=mEnBcsELEN((REELE
) zaEkeR(HERRASREEAAECREE
EL) S REBRNHERRBRR -

At 31 March 2022, the Group has goodwill of approximately
HK$3,473,229,000 relating to CGUs principally engaged in the
sales of natural gas and gas pipeline construction business, sales
of liquefied petroleum gas business and provision of value-
added services in the People’s Republic of China which are
subject to annual impairment assessment. Details are disclosed
in notes 4 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

RZE_—_F=ZA=Z=+—H8 BEEEZEEHA
3,473,229,000/8 C * M EHETEEFE AR LME
NERAARAHERNRAETEEREBZRREABER
(Bt ABRDEEEERIREEEREHNRESEE
BUBEBH ZAEXHRFERBETG FBERE
AU BHRERMFA4R21HEE -

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of goodwill
of the identified CGUs included:

BHMMERF R CELBNBBREFNENEF R

o Understanding the Group’s impairment assessment
process, including the impairment model, basis of
allocation of goodwill to CGUs and the preparation of the
cash flow projections;

e T ESREREFGENERE(ERRERRE B®
BORERcELBEUNEERRESRERAN
R

o Evaluating the appropriateness of the impairment model
applied by the management;

e MHAEEEEEMAMERENKGEME:

o Evaluating the basis of the management’s cash flow
forecasts by comparing the actual results of those CGUs to
the previously forecasted results;

s FEBRRZFRECELFUNERSREAEAER
BRETHBANEEEERERETANEE

Independent Auditor's Report %837 1% XA &

05



= INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

06

B R BET R E

Key audit matter

RREETSER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMWEFNAEEREST S RETEE

During the process of impairment assessment of goodwill, the
management considered the assessment of certain CGUs is
highly judgmental and is dependent on certain significant inputs
including the discount rates, growth rates and expected
changes to selling prices and direct costs. The carrying amount
of goodwill of the identified CGUs at 31 March 2022 amounted
to HK$1,700,384,000. During the year ended 31 March 2022,
no impairment of goodwill has been recognised.

REFEEERESR SEBRAE THSELEN
NI EBESERSEHAE  MZAHIORARETEKX
BASE RREMRE BMEEXRHEEERKEEK
ANEHEFH BRI REELEENR T =__F=
A=+—H®MEEKEAEEAI,700,384,000% T &=
TR —F-A=t+HULFE VTEBEIBHENE-

o Engaging our internal valuation experts to assess the
appropriateness of certain of the discount rates used,;

e BRAEMAMNABGEEZERFGEMAMRRAETNEE
rlﬁ ;

o Assessing the reasonableness of growth rates applied in
the forecast based on historical experiences and trends;
and

e HENBAKBLBZFGHEAMGERAEEENEG
B R

° Evaluating the reasonableness of the expected changes in
selling prices and direct costs with respect to historical
performance and the management’s business plans in
respect of the identified CGU.

e BEHHNREELEN ERNBERRLEEE
MEBTE FEEHEERRERRKANAEK -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

B R BENRE
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT =——

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

B R BENRE
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B R BET R E

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Tsang Yiu Chung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND ——
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEREREMEZEBARR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE_-_ZE-—HF=A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M & FHExT FHT
Revenue WA 5 88,225,193 69,975,381
Cost of sales 55 R (72,486,201) (51,873,223)
Gross profit EF 15,738,992 18,102,158
Other income H o A 6 1,378,291 923,333
Other gains and losses E b Y as K g5 18 7 (474,156) 64,613
Selling and distribution costs ﬁﬁ E MoK (2,861,171) (2,438,701)
Administrative expenses TR X (2,973,407) (2,750,574)
Finance costs B % & A 8 (1,456,530) (1,418,781)
Share of results of associates e RN A 920,714 892,995
Share of results of joint ventures BHEAEERNRZELE 514,583 715,006
Profit before taxation R 5 A1 4 A 10,787,316 14,090,049
Taxation i 18 9 (2,004,446) (2,417,766)
Profit for the year F 2 m 7 10 8,782,870 11,672,283
Other comprehensive income E b2 m U A
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to HEeBES D EEEm
profit or loss: IEH :
Deferred gain on swap in hedge accounting FRERSTBRR Z2EH
relationship T EAE/MIELEWZ — 30,674
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: & EZH S IE R 15752
HH -
Exchange differences arising on translation MEESE ZIEN =58 2,746,757 5,128,283
(Decrease) increase in fair value of investments in 12 /A - {E 51 A H 4 2 & U
equity instruments at fair value through other AZBARTBERERNF
comprehensive income B Rl 4) 380 (241,836) 1,631
Other comprehensive income for the year FEHME2EKA 2,504,921 5,160,588
Total comprehensive income for the year FERLEZEBKA 11,287,791 16,832,871

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income %74 183 M H b 2 B A IRE 1




——— CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEREREMEEEARE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE-_Z - —F=A=1+—HILFE

12

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M & FHET FAT
Profit for the year attributable to: FEmHEE -
Owners of the Company KABEA A 7,662,036 10,478,683
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR 2 1,120,834 1,193,600
8,782,870 11,672,283
Total comprehensive income attributable to: SHBABESRS :
Owners of the Company KABEAR A 9,845,102 14,994,160
Non-controlling interests JE ¥ % #E 2 1,442,689 1,838,711
11,287,791 16,832,871
Earnings per share BRAT 14
Basic R HK$7# T 1.39 HK$7%712.01
Diluted e HK$3%T1.39 HK$7#712.01

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2021/22 FEIRTIZIRERAT 2021/220 k&




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ——
R a BRI R

At 31 March 2022 RZZTE=—F=AF=+—H

2022 2021
—EsE=-= —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M & FHExT FHT
Non-current assets FERBEE
Investment properties wEYZE 15 2,296,359 565,377
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE MERE 16 68,064,728 56,908,879
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 17 4,295,717 4,247,390
Investments in associates REERRIZIRE 18 10,662,967 8,765,178
Investments in joint ventures REBRRIZEKE 19 12,222,808 9,052,185
Equity instruments at fair value through other EAFEGFAEMEZE
comprehensive income WA ZRRARTEA 20 738,064 639,837
Goodwill R 21 3,473,229 3,298,386
Other intangible assets HtwE\EEE 22 4,052,676 3,829,955
Deposits for acquisition of property, plant and WM KRERZE
equipment b 683,535 1,835,841
Deposits for acquisition of subsidiaries, joint WEKHEB AR - A& QA
ventures and associates and other deposits FEtE AR Z2EkE AR
Hihiz & 527,891 694,885
Deferred tax assets REFIBE = 34 705,006 488,579
107,722,980 90,326,492
Current assets mENE E
Inventories T8 23 5,701,218 5,302,266
Contract assets BHEE 24 17,138,269 16,925,010
Trade and other receivables B 5 FE W AR T8 I L th & UL
BRIE 25 16,247,196 14,554,555
Amounts due from associates JE U B & R FRIR 26 541,621 504,147
Amounts due from joint ventures & & RARIE 26 5,501,944 3,849,924
Held-for-trading investments BIEEBERE 27 104,638 686,629
Pledged bank deposits EHEHRITER 28 177,968 277,899
Bank balances and cash RITEGFRR S 28 10,010,518 8,293,720
55,423,372 50,394,150
Current liabilities mEAE
Trade and other payables B 5 FE T IR TE [ H fth fE
R I8 29 21,078,723 19,409,285
Amounts due to associates FE 1~ HE & A R BRIB 26 70,399 45,418
Amounts due to joint ventures EitE& & R[HRIE 26 69,309 318,508
Contract liabilities aRAaE 24 9,443,070 8,037,261
Tax payable FE SRR IR 1,269,249 1,021,290
Lease liabilities HEAE 30 213,802 209,606
Bank and other borrowings — due within RITEREMEE—R—F
one year A ) HR 31 22,142,596 17,271,905
54,287,148 46,313,273
Net current assets mENEEFE 1,136,224 4,080,877
Total assets less current liabilities BEERLBDEE 108,859,204 94,407,369

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 474 B %A & 13




——— CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

14

e PRI R

At31 March2022 W-E-—HF=A=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M & FExT FAET
Equity @
Share capital B& 2N 32 54,403 52,124
Reserves B 63,523,490 51,884,736
Equity attributable to owners of the Company BEANRIEAAZERS 63,577,893 51,936,860
Non-controlling interests JEE AR HE 25 8,491,260 7,927,272
Total equity =B R 72,069,153 59,864,132
Non-current liabilities EmBEE
Bank and other borrowings — due after RITEREMEE—R—F
one year 1% 21| 58 31 33,986,493 31,717,466
Lease liabilities HEAE 30 1,356,116 1,505,843
Deferred tax liabilities BB IEBE 34 1,447,442 1,319,928
36,790,051 34,543,237
108,859,204 94,407,369

The consolidated financial statements on pages 11 to 226 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2022 and are signed

on its behalf by:

LIU MING HuI
29 =
DIRECTOR
EF

FENE260EBEZHEEMBRREN T =
—HEFRNAZTHNHERKRESSH E T EET

BoWANTALTRERESR

ZHU WEIWEI
KER
DIRECTOR
EZ
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY ——

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

SRANTDERA
Investment ~~ Properties Capital Non-
Share Share  Translation  revaluation  revaluation  Hedging Special Capital ~ redemption ~ Statutory  Accumulated controling
apitdl  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve funds profits Subtotal interests Total
K& n% e

Ra  BOEE EARE EGER EGEE HNER HARE ARER  WUBR ZRER  ZHEN e it
HKSO00  HK$00D  HKSOOD  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKSOOD  HK$00D  HKSOOD  HKS000  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKS000
Tén TEx TEr  TAr  TAn TAr TEz TEx  TEx  TRm  TEm  TEz  TEr  TEx

(note33)  (note 33) (Note i) (Note i) (Note i)
(3E33)  (EE33) (GEDIiE)] (HigEii)

At 1 April 2020 KZE-Z4NA-A 5,186 11,655,026  (3,160,466) (82,920) 1,601 (30,674) 1602 (310,389) 1732 1985224 29492042 39604964 6,194,986 45,799,950
Profitfor the year FRET = = - - - - - - - — 10478683 10478683 1193600 11672283
Other comprehensive income for  FE 2 ERA

the year - — 4431 1,631 — 30674 - — - - — 4515471 645,111 5,160,588
Total comprehensive income for £ E 2 AR A LS

the year — — 4431 1,631 - 30674 - — - — 10478683 14994160 1838711 16,832,871
Acquisition of additional interest W EE & 2 F)EE M E &

of subsidiaries (note 36) (FizE36) - - - — - — - 76,972 - - - 76972 (144579 (67,607
Acquistion of subsidaries WEHEAR (KE37)

(note 37) — - - - — - - - - - - - 56,295 56,295
Disposal and winding up of HERBAARKELA

subsidiaries ER - - — — - - - 2326 - - - 2306 2,119 4,445
Capital contribution from HBAREERER

non-controling interests of g

subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - — mo3n 271,037
Repurchase of shares BERR (62 (13283) - - - - - - 62 - 62 (132,900) — (132900
Dividends paid by subsidiaries to B2 AR FE2RER

non-controlling interests ks - - - - - - - - - - - — (91297 (291,297)
Dividends paid Bi&S — - - - — - - - - —  (2608662) (2,608,662) —  (2,608,662)
Transfer #E - - - - - - - - — 671,007 (671,007) - - -
At31 March 2021 WZE--F=f=1-H 52,124 11522188 1,322,706 (81,289) 1,601 - 1602 (231,001) 1794 265231 36690994 51936860 7927272 59,864,132

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity x4 S E)% 15




16

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GEREZRBER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BRALAEEA
Investment  Properties Treasury Capital Non-
Share Share  Translation revaluation revaluation Spedial shares Capital redemption ~ Statutory ~ Accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium reserve reserve reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve reserve funds profits  Subtotal interests Total
RE nE Ex
R BRGRE EXRE EMRE  ERRE RPEE ERRRE S4ARE  BERE ieEE  BHEA Nt FBRER &t
HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
TER TR TER TER TEn  TEn iR TR THR TER TER iR TR THR
(note33)  (note33) (Notei)  (Noteiv)  (Noteii) (Note iii)
(W333)  (H&E33) (W) (W) (KD (Htiii)
At1 April 2021 WZE--FNMA-A 52124 11522188 1,322,706 (81,289) 1,601 1,602 - (31,09 1794 2,656,231 3669099 51936860 7,927,272 59,864,132
Profit for the year EFET - - - - - - - - - — 7,662,036 7,662,036 1120834 8782870
Other comprehensive income £t 2ERA (R )
(expense) for the year - — 2424902 (241,836 - - - - - - — 2,183,066 321855 2,504,921
Total comprehensive income ~~ FE2AMA (B%) 28
(expense) for the year - — 2424902 (241,836) - - - - - — 7,662,036 9845102 1,442,689 11,287,791
Acquisition of additional interest U B8 i B 12 B B S E R
of subsidiaries (note 36) (izE36) - - - - - - - (2812,186) - - — (2812186  (513267) (3,325453)
Acquisiton of subsidiarie WEKBAR (KE3)
(note 37) - - - - - - - - - - - - 211,103 211,103
Disposal and winding up of LERBARRMBART
subsidiaries g - - - - - - - - - - - - (15033)  (75,033)
Capital contribution from HBAREERER
non-controling interests of &
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - 349,030 349,030
Issue of shares, net of transaction  Z{7R 3 (B R ZHA)
costs (note 32) (F&32) 3920 11,598,871 - - - - - - - - — 11,602,791 — 11,602,791
Repurchase of shares EER{ (1,641)  (2,845,464) - - - — (1,085,120) - 1,641 - (1,641) (3932225 — (393222
Dividends paid by subsidiaries to - B2 ARSI R IR
non-controling interests b3 - - - - - - - - - - - —  (850534)  (850,534)
Dividends paid EfRE - - - - - - - - - —  (3,062449) (3,062,449 — (3,062,449
Transfer #E - - - - - - - - — 729209 (729,209) - - -
At31 March 2022 WZE-ZF=f=1-H 54403 20275595 3,747,608 (323,125 1,601 1602 (1,085,120) (3,043.277) 3435 3385440 40559731 63577,893 8491260 72,009,153
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Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY =——

LeRERS R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal
value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the group
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares in 1995.

Capital reserve represents the effect of changes in the ownership interests in
subsidiaries on the equity attributable to owners of the Company upon the
acquisition of non-controlling interests.

In accordance with statutory requirements in the People’s Republic of China,
other than Hong Kong (the “PRC"), subsidiaries registered in the PRC are
required to transfer a certain percentage of the annual net income from
accumulated profits to the statutory funds, until the statutory funds are
accumulated up to 50% of its registered capital. Under normal circumstances,
the statutory funds are not allowed to be distributed to the subsidiaries’
shareholders as dividends. The statutory funds shall only be used for making
good losses, capitalisation into paid-in capital and expansion of its production
and operations.

Treasury shares reserve comprises the consideration paid for the repurchase of
the Company’s shares for treasury shares held under the share award scheme of
the Company as disclosed in note 35 and transaction costs thereon.

GEX

(iii)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE

- HFE=A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—sE=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KR E)
Profit before taxation % 4 Bl a1 10,787,316 14,090,049
Adjustments for: AT
Changes in fair value of investment properties HEMERNFEEZS (349,682) (39,202)
Impairment losses for financial assets and contract ~ & A& E KA N EERE 0%
assets, net of reversal £ B 26 5 497,084 274,247
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BMELRXEZITE 2,084,222 1,682,520
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEEZNE 331,486 290,237
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH 176,835 166,290
Changes in fair value of held-for-trading RIEBEEREZ A TEE
investments 581,991 (285,632)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment ~ HEY ¥ BB MR E 2 EE 13,419 16,113
Finance costs £ @bk R 1,456,530 1,418,781
Share of results of associates FEAREE S AR EE (920,714) (892,995)
Share of results of joint ventures BIEEE RRIEE (514,583) (715,006)
Interest income A2 WA (282,600) (152,584)
Exchange gain B 5 I s (63,728) (80,822)
Gain on acquisition of subsidiaries I B BT B & R 2 W e — (122)
(Gain) loss on disposal and winding up of HERBRR KB ARE
subsidiaries 2 (Yz=) B 18 (42,409) 47,881
Gain on deemed disposal of partial interest in RIEHEBE QAR BOER 2
an associate I 2= (228,797) —
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREYEZER — 4,379
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets LEFAEEE 2 W — (1,455)
Operating cash flows before movements in working & E&E @ E BRI K2 X BHBIR S
capital = 13,526,370 15,822,679
Increase in inventories FEE M (182,653) (1,690,497)
Decrease (increase) in contract assets BHEER D GEM) 92,302 (3,122,129)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 FE AR TE & E 4th fE IR 1R
1% 40 (1,224,856) (3,700,405)
Increase in amounts due from associates JiE s B 4 X B) FRIE 32 0 (77,113) (19,834)
(Increase) decrease in amounts due from joint WA & A B FRIE (1) /4
ventures (1,884,516) 2,184,033
Increase in held-for-trading investments BEEEEREEM — (399,994)
(Decrease) increase in amounts due to joint ventures  JE T & & 2 &) 2 18 (L 2>) 3 A0 (257,919) 197,865
Increase in trade and other payables BSREMEEREMEMNERIA
1 41 729,395 419,982
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to associates FE ST E 2 N B R IE I 0 R 23,299 (26,278)
Increase in contract liabilities ABHBEEM 1,102,822 1,481,178
Cash generated from operations IR SR AT (S IH & 11,847,131 11,146,600
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BB EMER (1,970,792) (2,867,982)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES KEEBEHSTHE 9,876,339 8,278,618
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS ——
RERETRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—_s—-= —E-—F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FET FAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Interest received 2 F S 282,600 152,584
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and W EEW ¥ - M= M RE D
equipment o (154,253) (1,040,602)
Deposits paid for acquisition of subsidiaries, joint  WEMHB AR - & & 28 &
ventures and associates BEQNRBENIZE (50,545) (512,933)
Placement of pledged bank deposits BEEBRITERTFA (315,547) (1,675,319)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits RHREERRITER 424,427 1,981,898
Additions of investment properties B YL (1,369,737) —
Additions of property, plant and equipment NEWE BB KRB (8,656,362) (7,085,484)
Additions of right-of-use assets NEFAEEE (195,754) (220,640)
Additions of other intangible assets AREEMBEREE (2,669) (3,129)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEME  BEREREZ
equipment Ffr 13 5K 38 139,791 52,336
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets HECAEEEZFISERIE 14,967 11,200
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties & & & ¥ % 7 Fi 3 518 — 12,407
Proceeds from disposal and winding up of HEWNB QR RHEB AR A
subsidiaries B2 FT1SRIE 230,112 25,205
Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments at fair H& 1% A FEz AH M2 M
value through other comprehensive income WAZBRATRZFE
RIA 24,126 47,703
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash and cash W EEI B A & - HE 15
equivalents acquired RNeNESEER 37 (157,410) (134,237)
Additions of investments in joint ventures REREERAIZIRE (1,316,236) (12,915)
Additions of investments in associates ANERBERAZIRE (356,276) (224,872)
Additions of equity instruments at fair value AREERAFEFAEMEZER
through other comprehensive income WAZKRATEA (348,321) —
(Advance to) repayment from non-controlling (B8 A ) 4= R #E 25
interests of subsidiaries BROEME QA
FE 12 AR 2 12 X (7,645) 21,719
Repayment from associates TERE & N RE K 58,774 26,271
Advances to joint ventures ERSEEWNGTE- TN (736,828) (52,458)
Dividend received from associates B EE = R R R A 167,425 140,449
Dividend received from joint ventures BREERARE 120,319 166,280
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZMALRSER (12,205,042) (8,324,537)
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—— CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
SRERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-ZT-_—F=-A=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
—EsE=-= —E-—F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M & FET FHT

FINANCING ACTIVITIES B &R &
Interest paid 2 F B (2,111,360) (1,904,728)
Payment on repurchase of ordinary shares [o] B 5@ % (D) 7 T (2,847,105) (132,900)
Payment for purchase of treasury shares under FE B RR{D BB T %'J H T8

share award scheme Eﬁ%{ﬁz% (1,085,120) —
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares, net of BT B P S AR (F0BR

transaction costs RGWA) 11,602,791 —
Dividends paid E IR B (3,062,449) (2,608,662)
New bank and other borrowings raised MESRITMEMEE 40,132,657 35,493,984
Repayments of bank and other borrowings 1; BRTREMEES (34,807,361) (29,438,807)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEMEAE (220,476) (183,863)
Repayment to non-controlling interests of ) BT 28 2 ] FE 458 AR A R K

subsidiaries (60,763) (232,282)
Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries U BE Bt BB A T ZE SN 28 36 (3,325,453) (67,607)
Repayment of consideration payables EREER (19,188) (39,293)
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests Kt 8 73 & 3E 1% % # 25 H &

of subsidiaries 349,030 271,037
Dividends paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling M /& 2 &1 JE {<F 3£ 22 B& 42 25

interests 2R B (850,534) (291,297)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEFDAMEREFHE 3,694,669 865,582
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS & KIBE£EEIEEH ZE N

YERE 1,365,966 819,663

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING ~ E#2H4& RIE L LEER

OF THE YEAR 8,293,720 7,119,206
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES  [E R & &)~ g/ & 350,832 354,851
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FroRekReFMBHIER

THE YEAR 10,010,518 8,293,720
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH 3 4& R4 S E1E B 4

EQUIVALENTS ST
Bank balances and cash RITHEFRE® 10,010,518 8,293,720
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS =——

e B ISR R Y R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in Bermuda as
an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
address of its registered office and principal place of business are
disclosed in the section headed “Corporate Information” of the Group's
annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 46.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") and the functional currency of the Company and
majority of its subsidiaries is Renminbi (“RMB”). As the Company is a
listed entity in Hong Kong, the directors of the Company consider that
it is appropriate to present the consolidated financial statements in
HK$.

—RE S

AATAREREEIMERIZ ARE
RAF A—MEBRRERAD K
BREREBBA X SHERAR (8
SR b ARRZEMBEER
TEEEWERNAEBFERIAAE
| — B R -

ARAB—EREZERRTA - KD
TEWME AR EBEN K EL6

BAMBREDAETCETD) S
TMARARKRABGHERAZ
D BEAAARE((ARED -8
RARTARES L2 B A
ARNEERANBTLINGAHEH
RBRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS R R Y

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-_Z-—HF=-A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
2021

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 — Phase 2

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
A BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. EREBUBEREEN(E
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS B R R EZER ) 2185 A&
("HKFRSs") (Continued) (#)

EREER 2B BT K
4% 5T 2N (@)

TR BIREERFER
sr2EAISE395% - BB
ERETS BBYB®R
ERFASERE BB ®RE
ERFE165% (B F] A)[F R E
W& —E2HNTE ]

SEERAFEEREAZEFER
c R FEA RS R ARE MR

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

il
g

\

S
P

A

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 “Interest
Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2"

o 30 OfF 3
sm TfF g
m

L sm

lid

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. The amendments relate to changes in the basis for determining

B 3 ﬁmnﬁﬁnﬂuﬁ P
b=n|

the contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial liabilities and EAEBEIRIEM T A: WHEEHE
lease liabilities as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, specific ([EEMBMEERNETR|)EERZ
hedge accounting requirements and the related disclosure requirements MAEEERE BFEHPSFHRTE
applying HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” (“HKFRS 7). LEBAEERE YemEE €/
BERHEBENENEERENE
EEEEHEDR -
As at 1 April 2021, the Group has several financial liabilities, the NR—_E-_—FWA—B - AEBEFS
interests of which are indexed to benchmark rates that will or may be TemaE EMBHEEER
subject to interest rate benchmark reform. The following table shows FEEENSFENEER KHH o
the total amounts of these outstanding contracts. The amounts of TRIWTRZERZTKAEINESRE -
financial liabilities are shown at their carrying amounts. TREBENEBAEERMEYR -

Hong Kong GBP London

Interbank Interbank
Offered Rate Offered Rate
(“HIBOR") (“LIBOR")
BEBRIT fm R 1T
EEFE BEEFLE

(TEBRT (MM FR 1T
CE$73-M) GES3-¥)

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FBT

Financial liabilities cRmES

Bank borrowings RITEE 7,307,358 4,382,637
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-_Z-—HF=-A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2.

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 “Interest
Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2" (Continued)

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements as none of the relevant contracts has been transitioned to
the relevant replacement rates during the year. The Group will apply
the practical expedient in relation to the changes in contractual cash
flows resulting from the interest rate benchmark reform for bank and
other borrowings measured at amortised cost. Additional disclosures as
required by HKFRS 7 are set out in note 39.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 @gfz:—izﬂ =—+—HIEFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(" H KFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

1

2

B

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework'

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use'

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract'

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020'

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS R R Y

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE T - —F=A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Reference to the Conceptual
Framework"

The amendments:

. update a reference in HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” (“HKFRS
3") so that it refers to the “Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018"” issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework”) instead of “Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements” (replaced by the “Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2010” issued in October
2010);

° add a requirement that, for transactions and other events within
the scope of HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets” (“HKAS 37”) or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 “Levies”
("HK(IFRIC)-Int 21"), an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int
21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities
it has assumed in a business combination; and

o add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise
contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
w e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 @E T F=-A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. Jﬁtﬂ%éﬁéﬂ BHRELZR (&
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS B EZER ) 28T A&

i o
&

—~
=

0

— \

(" H KFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but CHEMEERERZEBIBK
not yet effective (Continued) &K BI ] 2 B RASE] 4 (@)
Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as EAESTERE 15 (E ET$)
Current or Non-current and related amendments to [# &8 1;1 TEAREBINIIERD
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)" REEBREBESTEWAEBIEBE
(ZE-BHF) |

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the ZEBIAMBEABEYBEAETEEIE

assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months from mE REEETFLEEEEERE

reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-current, BB L+ _@MAEKZENZEE
which: RFEINES] - BHF

. specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non- . B ABEL AR IERD
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the end ERERERREEFEERNER -
of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that: BEREmME  ZEBIIAESE:

(i) the classification should not be affected by management (i) SPHEIESEEEZ B
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12 FEHRIREARNBSEARG
months; and ="

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with covenants, (i) MWEFNEBETFEZFELBIK
the right exists if the conditions are met at the end of the B IR R EHRE FE 1K
reporting period, even if the lender does not test B BIZEFGFE: BIFEE
compliance until a later date; and HARREBEBGARZ

Bal &

. clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the o EBEMBEBEBAGRMREF HE
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s Bt EREEETREAS 2
own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification HamTHEEEE EREES
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the option EEEEEEABERE ST
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 “Financial EBIERFEIEMTHE: 2598
Instruments: Presentation”. WRATAR ZERFIFTTE

l:_l"/:zlz\ %E%/IILEJ&;FUIL@J

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence AN BEEREBESHREE AT AR
of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings E 15 (BFIA) ﬁ'ﬁf 5] FAEERE AR
with no change in conclusion. F—Rmi&m T & -

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31 March 2022, and BEAEBR T -_—F=A=4+—
the related terms and conditions stipulated in the agreements between HHRAEZEBE  UhAEHEEHEEM
the Group and the relevant lenders, the application of the amendments BERAZ w5 Z A8 R RIE
will not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities. . EARABIIATGERNAERAE

ik -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-ZT-_—F=-A=+—HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Potential impacts on application of the June 2021
International Financial Reporting Standards
Interpretations Committee’s (the “Committee”) agenda
decision — Cost necessary to sell inventories (HKAS 2
Inventories)

In June 2021, the Committee, through its agenda decision, clarified the
costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary to make
the sale” when determining the net realisable value of inventories. In
particular, whether such costs should be limited to those that are
incremental to the sale. The Committee concluded that the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale should not be limited to those that are
incremental but should also include costs that an entity must incur to
sell its inventories including those that are not incremental to a
particular sale.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group is still in the process of assessing the
potential impact and has yet to implement the change in accounting
policy based on the Committee’s agenda decision. The impacts on such
change, if any, will be disclosed in the Group's future consolidated
financial statements.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong).

2.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end
of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at
the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for leasing transactions that
are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS
16") and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”
("HKAS 36").

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

3.
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e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that
at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ﬁﬂﬂ%:—,wT\ MEBRRZEER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EFEZETEHE @)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FESFHHE

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

RelRBEE

RAEPBRRAFARE R EHE

il O B 68 S HL MY B 1 R 2 B A5

% ENTEHRZELER  AQF
HiZlEE

e has power over the investee; e ARAEWHWEEFTHEAE
o
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its o ARNAAKRBLEBEKRSE
involvement with the investee; and J5 Hy A] & 0] 3R & 2 R B Bk
ZEEM: &
o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. o RRAAAATEE D A&
H B R o

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-

i =B R IFRBRIA LTI *%lJ
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BERHNEIRETARRER AR
FEREm - WBARZ2HEK
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controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling JEfE AR R A5 0 BN € BB AR
interests having a deficit balance. HER RS IS AL A o o
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial MEE  EeRMB AR 2T

statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries

Changes in the Group'’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interests and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”)
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. B4 EE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESHH )
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

&

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE @

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all of
the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a
single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents,
deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of
deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met, the set of
activities and assets is determined not to be a business and no
further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to investment properties which
are subsequently measured under fair value model and financial
assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the
remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative
fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not
give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an
asset and a liability in the “Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements” (replaced by the “Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting” issued in October 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” (“HKAS 12") and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits”
respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree
are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based
Payment” at the acquisition date;

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured in
accordance with that standard; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. B4 EE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESHH )
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

&

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE @

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

o leases liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (i) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (ii)
the underlying assets is of low value. Right-of-use assets
are recognised and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. MAGESUBRR2EER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT zggﬁﬂz%ﬁ(@
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FEEHBE @

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group'’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to
fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group
obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as
appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior
to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would be required
if the Group has disposed directly of the previous held equity
interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement period (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date), and additional
assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised as of that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs") (or groups
of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is amortised for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FEETHR @)

Goodwill (Continued) &2 (@)
A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated BOEEmEBZREEESBMIKF
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there KREENRBLREM(KAEE

is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group
of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the
group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a
CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed
of is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the
group of CGUs) retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described in below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.
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e B IS R R Y

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. For associates and joint ventures that use
accounting policies that differ from those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments have been made to conform the associate’s and the
joint venture’s accounting policies to those of the Group. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group's
interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment
is acquired.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the
retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest
in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be required
if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or
joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain
or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS R R Y

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—

T _FZA=t—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of
the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. RAGESUBRR2EER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESHTHER @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FESFHBE @)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to
a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’'s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

,%maii,.m MBHRRZEER
TE= qu BUR @)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FEETHR @)

Leases (Continued) HE @
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEEAEEEA &)
Allocation of consideration to components of a TEREZEEHNEID (&)

contract (Continued)

Non-lease components are separated from lease component and
are accounted for by applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of certain properties that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

FEHEH P EEEH DN - X
&R E s A R ARR -

EHEE

AEERBEREEERHARER
RERBEHEEEHR12MEA
IUNTATEEBEBEEERNK
LEYENEE - EHEENEE
NREREMAREREER R
EM-

Right-of-use assets EREEE
The cost of right-of-use asset includes: FREEEMNK AT :
. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; o HEBENVRTESE

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement e RHEWLABBRZAIMEDN
date, less any lease incentives received; AMBEST  REMBH
FHAEEE

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, if any.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS R R Y

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ZE-F=A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review in which cases the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. RAGESUBRR2EER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHKBE @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FESFHBE @)

Leases (Continued) HE @

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AREBELEEE A &)

Lease modifications HEEE

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease WEETHIER  AIAREEBHE

if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset.

When the modified contract contains one or more additional
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease

g1 qu’Eﬁ—Iﬁ BHWHEA
B -

s ZEBIAEBEMEN—
ek % AR E E M E R
BAHERE: X

e HRREEENRKE BN
HEEREBEEANEEN
BEEER MELRBEEA
WOERBREEBER
FIEREFEERE -

SR IIER—REBHEHEARN
HEEITMmMS  AEEEBE
RERTERE A KEATRRR X
MMIREETHENK - BEEF]
HEMNHHPENRFERERE -

AEEBBYAMEAERAER
TR LR R A T
EHEHE

“D”W RIAMEE —HXZHEM
&3FT EWMOE > AEBUH
8D E’J*H%T?‘ﬁ_dﬁ*ﬂ&#?ﬂ%

BoOWERLBILER/ELEFL

component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease BB 4HHRNKED HE?:%?HE\
components. =i

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 474 B 75k M5

45



46

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. MAGESUBRR2EER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT zggﬁﬂz%ﬁ(@
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FEEHBE @

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate consideration in a contract
to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
A MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 Eki T CF=A=1T—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the
head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The
sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with
reference to the underlying asset.

The Group uses the discount rate used for the head lease (adjusted
for any initial direct costs associated with the sublease) to
measure the net investment in the sublease if the interest rate
implicit in the sublease cannot be readily determined.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress as
described below) are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress is carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any cost directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-
use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position
except for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
other than construction in progress less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. RAGESUBRR2EER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESHTHER @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 FESFHE @)
¥ BEKRE @

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon ME - MERZEER AL E K
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to FEHEEFRAZEETSEIRE
arise from continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on AR R 25 B 4R | FRE SR o HE 5k

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

ZRAME BERREBERZE
o] 2 B 4= & P15 SRIE B & EE AR
HEZEOZHEAELRNERSD
EEWL;\D

Investment properties REYE
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or REYEBZIERINES &%
for capital appreciation. BEAREEZWE -

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating
lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property are included in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the
period in which the property is derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair values at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
(Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset,
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. B4 EE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESHH )
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

&

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE @

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates

oh

ERHEZENEEERNMBR
RE - AZBERNIEEB AN
MEBEOMNEFEBEZRZER S
BRZBITERRER - ERE D
RAINEHEZERBEBEGE
ZHAZBITERERBRE -EAQ
FEIRAINETENIFEE R
EREEAFEZEBTERE

prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non- IR E o IR FE P A AN EHE DA AN EE
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a STERMIEE®EE RN FEHBR
foreign currency are not retranslated. o

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for
exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to

RESRBEREFREGR R
BEANELZREEEELDN
HREEBRSER  HERBRE
ENEREEMBNIIEEERE

assets under construction for future productive use, which are HEZERIBRIN MEWR AZES
included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an SNEEFEE R B B AN /Y A 2 0 Bl B
adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency AZEEERNKAK -

borrowings.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case the exchange rates
at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributable to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

IREGAMBHRERME A%
BEXBcEERABEEREH
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the Group's
net assets in RMB to the Group's presentation currency in HK$
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate) and will not be
reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation before 1
January 2005 is treated as non-monetary foreign currency items
of the acquirer and reported using the historical cost prevailing at
the date of acquisition.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or
after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that
foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) in Hong Kong and state-managed retirement benefits
schemes in the PRC are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. B4 EE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESHH )
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

&

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE @

Employee benefits (Continued)
Short-term employee benefits (Continued)

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such
as wages and salaries) after deducting any amount already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill.
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e B IS R R Y

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than
through sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. RAGESUBRR2EER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESHTHER @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FESFHBE @)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets
and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use
assets over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease
liabilities results in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction on production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remains outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
A MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 @gfz:—izﬂ =—+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. wEKRE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT Ig%ﬁﬁﬁl%ﬁ(g)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE @

Provisions (Continued) i RRE )
Onerous contracts BEEH
Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are BEEANELEZEHEEEREZAR
recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is ATERBE - EASERERHE

considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which
the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the

FREAE AR TEEM A &R
iﬂéiﬁ’]%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ.ﬂiﬁﬁﬁ EEAES)

contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received W BR B 48 7 A 25 B - B4R B TR
from the contract. EEEAH -
Restoration provisions R 18 1

Provisions for the costs to restore leased assets to their original
condition, as required by the terms and conditions of the lease,
are recognised at the date of inception of the lease at the
directors’ best estimate of the expenditure that would be required
to restore the assets, Estimates are regularly reviewed and
adjusted as appropriate for new circumstances.

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation,
the part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other
parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits has become probable.
If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic

REBEGRREEARE &
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benefits will be required for an item previously dealt with as a IR IE E B R R AR R % 0 Bl
contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the consolidated RAEEEAEEHRERERS
financial statements in the reporting period in which the change BY 75 ¥R i’% FRRE DB (B A 1R

in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances
where no reliable estimate can be made.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. RAGESUBRR2EER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESHKBE @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FESFHBE @)

Financial instruments (Continued) £l T B )
Financial assets TREE

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value
of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination
to which HKFRS 3 applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS R R Y

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that is required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS =——

e B ISR R Y R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to accumulated profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the “other income”
line item in profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains and losses” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS R R Y

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE

ZE-F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL"”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, amounts due from
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries, amounts due from
associates and joint ventures, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances) and contract assets which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F

INANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
3 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial asset is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial asset
is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default; (i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a financial asset to have
low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit
rating of “investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS =——

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #H=

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS R R Y

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-_Z-—HF=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i)  Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(¢)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS =——

For the year ended 31 March 2022 Ejzi

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS R R Y

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-ZT-_—F=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets are
considered on a collective basis taking into consideration
past due information and relevant credit information such
as forward looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
A MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 @gfz:—izﬂ =—+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT Ig%ﬁﬁﬁl%ﬁ(g)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE @

Financial instruments (Continued) £/ T B @
Financial assets (Continued) EELE E (8)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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EZEHEKARTE
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit AEBZBABRME 2
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their TEMNEMEREBRER
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables HEREWZHEE  HE5
and contract assets where the corresponding adjustment is FEWEREBREEAENEES B
recognised through a loss allowance account. EERERERAEAR
BRI
Derecognition of financial assets RIEBEREREE

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks

REENREEWRIGRERENSE
MENBH B ERMEENAR
HZEEMAELATRBENRR

and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. FRNERE S B A&
TERIIERERMEE -

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, RIETERILZEEN AT EN S R

the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum BEN ZEAEEOHEHED W

of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in REREWRRERNZ Z5E N8

profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss,
but is transferred to accumulated profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS R R Y

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE T - —F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts
due to associates and joint ventures, amounts due to a non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries and bank and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

me SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 @:ZF:_E::EEH —+—HBIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the basis for determining the contractua
cash flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows of a financial asset or financial liability to which the
amortised cost measurement applies as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical expedient to
account for these changes by updating the effective interest rate.
Such change in effective interest rate normally has no significant
effect on the carrying amount of the relevant financial asset or
financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows
is required by interest rate benchmark reform if and only if, both
these conditions are met:

o the change is necessary as a direct consequence of interest
rate benchmark reform; and

o the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the basis
immediately preceding the change).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the
determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based
transactions are set out in note 35.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (employee share-based compensation reserve).
At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on an assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if
any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the employee share-based compensation reserve.

For market conditions, the Group recognised share-based
payment expense from employees who satisfy all other vesting
conditions, irrespective of whether the market conditions are
satisfied.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in employee share-
based compensation reserve will be transferred to accumulated
profits.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. RAGESUBRR2EER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESHTHER @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FESFHBE @)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Cash-settled share-based payment transactions

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability is recognised for
the goods or services acquired, measured initially at the fair value
of the liability. The fair value of the cash-settled share-based
payments is determined without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions.

At the end of each reporting period until the liability is settled,
and at the date of settlement, the liability is remeasured to fair
value. For cash-settled share-based payments that are already
vested, any changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss
for the year. For cash-settled share-based payments which are still
subject to non-market vesting conditions, the effects of vesting
and non-vesting conditions are accounted on the same basis as
equity-settled share-based payments.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to
compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or
otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as a
deduction from the carrying amount of the relevant asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful
lives of the related assets.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Government grants (Continued)

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets with finite useful life to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to
the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which
the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

3.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2021/22 HEMRTIZIRERAE 20212281 R &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE T - —F=A=+—HILFE

ﬁﬁiﬁ?\/\ f%&%ﬁz ER
FTESHTHER@

3.2 TEEEHER @)

BF@#B£ @)

B ABBENRFHEDE=ZIER
XHHEBEENBEMEERIAR
FTAKENKHBXERBOM
FEY - B0 EARRMEBAMAA - I
FEE XA FE U R B T A 18 a5 FE
RoZEHPENRTEMBEAIT
25 -

MEx-BMERRKRE  EH
REEREREEE (BER
9N 2R AE

RBEPR AEESEMAESE
ERAERFHZNE - BFE R
R ERAREENEBENEEZ
REHE NEETZEFEERD
BFOREREZ IR - i HREM
BRPR  SEAHEBEENT
WEeBRABEEREER(NE)
MizE -

ME- -BMEREE FTRHEZEE
REFEENTWE S5 AIER
fhate BEEZEERNGBATRE S
B AEEGFAEEMBZR
CEEBEMZRESE -

RARRSELEEMNRER -
EAAERER —BH DA
BH - ARBEEROEENRER
CEEENM Eﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁ’l%iﬂ??ﬁi
FAWMOIEERSELEEUNR
NEE O MZREELBMHE
BRE-—HBOEEESA THE -
RREEMBNREELEMK
He EEBMAR FrEE AT
E&E BAERTEEEMX
ReELBMARNNKREEERDL



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. RAGESUBRR2EER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESHTHER @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 FESFHE @)
ME-BERKRE - £H

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,

right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
CGU) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable
amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to
the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

3.
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e B ISR R Y R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Revenue recognition of gas connection and
engineering design and construction contract

Construction income from gas connection and engineering design and
construction contracts is measured based on the input method, which
is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Accordingly, any changes to the estimated total contract cost may have
material impact on the contract revenue recognised in each accounting
period over the contract term. The management of the Group is
required to exercise significant judgments in the assessment of the
progress of satisfaction of performance obligation, including costs
incurred to date and budgeted cost to complete.

Impairment of goodwiill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount of the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated,
which is the higher of the value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, or changes in facts and
circumstances which result in downward revision of future cash flows
or upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss or
further impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has goodwill of approximately
HK$3,473,229,000 (2021: HK$3,298,386,000). The impairment
assessment of certain CGUs is highly judgmental and is dependent on
certain significant inputs including the discount rates, growth rates and
expected changes to selling prices and direct costs. During the year
ended 31 March 2022, no impairment of goodwill has been recognised
(2021: Nil). Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed
in note 21.
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I RAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HE—-ZT——

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

Revenue

Revenue arises from contracts with customers for the sales of natural
gas, gas connection and engineering design and construction, sales of
liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG") and value-added services by the Group.

(i)

78
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Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (i) BEFEHWADH
customers
2022 2021
— g — = —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Types of goods or services ERSBREER
Sales of natural gas RKARMEE 50,529,353 35,935,728
Gas connection and engineering design and ~ #ARIZE B A & T2 R 5t &
construction i 7,816,158 13,155,689
Sales of LPG AL AR R S 23,080,845 13,163,822
Value-added services 1 B Bk 7% 6,798,837 7,720,142
Total 45t 88,225,193 69,975,381
Timing of revenue recognition WARIAZKE
A point in time e 80,409,035 56,819,692
Over time — B 7,816,158 13,155,689
Total @t 88,225,193 69,975,381

All the revenue from contracts with customers are derived from

the PRC.

FEREFAHKRABKREPHEH -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

(i)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

(@)

Sales of goods

For the sales of natural gas, revenue is recognised at a
point in time when control of the natural gas is transferred
to the customers, being at the point the natural gas is
delivered to the customers.
customers, the Group requires advance payment before
the usage of the natural gas through prepaid cards. The
charge of the actual usage of natural gas will be deducted
directly to the balance of the prepaid cards. The customers
can only consume the natural gas up to the balance of the
prepaid cards. For industrial and commercial customers, the
Group requires advance payment before the usage of the
natural gas. Any shortage against the periodically actual
charge for the actual usage of natural gas will be billed by
the Group accordingly. The Group allows average credit
period of 30 to 180 days for amounts billed.

For certain household

For the sales of LPG, revenue is recognised when the goods
are delivered to the customers as this represents the point
in time at which the control of the goods are transferred to
the customers. The Group would require advance payments
from the customers or allow an average credit period of 30
to 90 days to its customers for invoices issued.

For the sales of gas appliances under “value-added
services”, revenue is recognised when the goods are
delivered to the customers as this represents the point in
time at which the control of the goods are transferred to
the customers. The Group allows an average credit period
of 30 to 180 days to its customers for invoices issued.
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e B IS R R Y

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE T - —F=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

(b) Gas connection and engineering design and
construction

The Group provides gas connection services under gas
pipeline construction contracts with its customers. Such
contracts are entered into before construction of the gas
pipeline begins. The Group centralises its engineering
design and construction functions by setting up certain
subsidiaries to carry out those functions (the “Centralised
EDC Subsidiaries”). Most engineering design and
construction works under those gas pipeline construction
contracts with the Group’s customers are performed by the
Centralised EDC Subsidiaries on behalf of the group
companies. The Centralised EDC Subsidiaries also performs
the engineering design and construction work for the
Group's joint ventures and associates for their gas pipeline
construction contracts with their own customers under
separate contracts with the Group. The Group’s
performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs. Revenue from
gas connection services is recognised over time based on
the input method. The directors of the Company consider
that input method is an appropriate measure of the
progress towards complete satisfaction of these
performance obligations under HKFRS 15.

5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS =——

e P BWRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

(b) Gas connection and engineering design and
construction (Continued)

The Group requires certain customers to provide upfront
deposits before the commencement of the construction
which will give rise to contract liabilities until the revenue
recognised on the relevant contracts exceeds the amount
of the deposits received. The Group recognises contract
assets for any work performed in excess of payment from
customer for the same contract. The Group is entitled to
invoice customers for gas pipeline construction services
upon completion of construction works and acceptance by
the customers, and any amount previously recognised as a
contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables. The Group
allows an average credit period of 30 to 180 days to its
customers for invoices issued.

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

All the contracts for sales of natural gas, LPG and gas appliances
and gas pipeline construction are for original expected duration
of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment information

Information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker
(“CODM"), being the Managing Director of the Group, for the
purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services rendered, which is
also consistent with the basis of organisation of the Group.

The CODM reviews the results of Zhongyu Gas Holdings Limited
("Zhongyu Gas"), an associate of the Group, being accounted for under

equity accounting separately and thus Zhongyu Gas is presented as a
single operating and reportable segment.

The Group's reportable and operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as
follows:

(i)  Sales of natural gas;

(i)  Gas connection;

(i) Engineering design and construction;

(iv)  Sales of LPG;

(v)  Value-added services; and

(vi)  Zhongyu Gas.

Information regarding the above segments is presented below.

5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HEZZT-_—F=-A=+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WAKRDEER &
(Continued)

B

Segment information (Continued) 7o EBE R @)
Segment revenues and results DEMAREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by REBZRESERATZSHHDPE D 2K
operating and reportable segment. ARZEESHTUWT o
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BHE_Z-_—_F#=-A=+—HI1
o
Engineering Value-
Sales of Gas  design and Sales of added  Zhongyu  Segment
natural gas connection construction LPG services Gas total
IR AL

AARHE RRER RET AAREE RBERE THERRE IBLE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TERT

VON 50,529,353 7,227,283 8,090,159 23,080,845 6,798,837 — 95,726,477

Total segment revenue 78
BRI A — —  (7,501,284) — — —  (7,501,284)

Inter-segment revenue n

External segment revenue ~ KENARRF 2
L ON 50,529,353 7,227,283 588,875 23,080,845 6,798,837 — 88,225,193

Segment profit 7 6 A 4,204,951 1,315,827 1,926,587 32,325 2,492,122 467,656 10,439,468

Changes in fair value of REMEZ DT

investment properties EEH 349,682
Changes in fair value of held- #{EBEBRE 2

for-trading investments REEES (581,991)
Interest and other gains 8 R E Az 208,357
Gain on deemed disposal R {EHEHB LA

of partial interest in AHDREL

an associate W g 228,797
Unallocated corporate AAWMARIFAS

expenses (419,953)
Finance costs M%ER (506,368)
Exchange gain on translation 3 & 4p 8 & &

of foreign currency BRNEE

monetary items into 2z Eﬁbﬂﬁlﬁﬁ

functional currency 59,274
Gain on disposal and winding (£ ff & A 7] J

up of subsidiaries Mg A RDE &

7 W% 42,409
Share of results of associates F& {5 B4 A & 2
EY 453,058

Share of results of joint BIEAERARZ

ventures E | 514,583
Profit before taxation B 758 A 4 A 10,787,316
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-ZT-_—F=-A=+—HIEFE
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. AR D EHBEHR @)
(Continued)
Segment information (Continued) o EE R
Segment revenues and results (Continued) AN Ll&)\&%,.‘ ()
For the year ended 31 March 2021 Bz —4F=H=+—H1t
FE
Engineering Value-
Sales of Gas design and Sales of added Zhongyu Segment
natural gas  connection  construction LPG services Gas total
TRz &1
RARHE MEEK &B‘@I BRREE HERE FHRE  SHES
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FTHET FTET FTHET FTAT FTHET T
Total segment revenue oI BT 35,935,728 12,477,418 11,390,964 13,163,822 7,720,142 — 80,688,074
Inter-segment revenue 2 BRI A — —  (10,712,693) — — — (10,712,693)
External segment revenue K EINARFE 7
>IN 35,935,728 12,477,418 678,271 13,163,822 7,720,142 — 69,975,381
Segment profit o &0 A 3,959,213 2,824,592 3,334,467 263,071 2,321,088 422,635 13,125,066
Changes in fair value of REMEZ
investment properties LTEES 39,202
Changes in fair value of held- H{EEERE 2
for-trading investments NEEES 285,632
Interest and other gains FlE R E M= 146,528
Unallocated corporate APERARAY
expenses (374,594)
Finance costs H%ER (316,341)
Exchange gain on translation 1 & 4l & #18
of foreign currency BEAVEEE
monetary items into ol R
functional currency 46,949
Gain on acquisition of WEHRBARZ
subsidiaries Yz 122
Loss on disposal and winding i & Fif B 2 & K
up of subsidiaries HEBARER
ZEiE (47,881)
Share of results of associates JE{5E 4 A 7] 2
EY 470,360
Share of results of joint BIEEERRZ
ventures E4 715,006
Profit before taxation R %53 Al i 7 14,090,049
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e B ISR R Y R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment information (Continued)
Segment revenues and results (Continued)

Inter-segment revenue is charged at prevailing market rates.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the
Group's accounting policies described in note 3. Except for segment
profit of Zhongyu Gas, segment profit for remaining reportable
segments represents the profit earned by each segment without
allocation of interest and other gains, corporate administration costs,
changes in fair value of held-for-trading investments, changes in fair
value of investment properties, gain on deemed disposal of partial
interest in an associate, gain on acquisition of subsidiaries, gain/loss on
disposal and winding up of subsidiaries, share of results of associates
(other than Zhongyu Gas), share of results of joint ventures, exchange
gain on translation of foreign currency monetary items into functional
currency and certain finance costs. The segment profit of Zhongyu Gas
represents share of results of Zhongyu Gas. This is the measure reported
to the CODM for the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDEER @
(Continued)
Segment information (Continued) 7o EBE R @)
Segment assets and liabilities PTHEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s segment assets and segment U TNEREEHRHFELBERRETH

liabilities that are regularly reviewed by the CODM:

At 31 March 2022

BANDMEERDBEED

Engineering Value-
Sales of Gas  design and Sales of added  Zhongyu Segment
natural gas  connection construction LPG  services Gas total
IRRE 4
RHEE MREER RiEI RARHEE RBERYE THHAR IHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TER
Assets BE
Segment assets DEEE 81,466,298 22,287,237 1,290,067 7,386,510 4,479,723 3,023,649 119,933,484
Investment properties BEME 2,296,359
Property, plantand equipment 1%« BE K %

(for corporate) NG)) 1,455,568
Right-of-use assets (for corporate) £ A& E (A7) 34,483
Investments in associates RBE AR ZKRE 7,639,318
Investments in joint ventures REERRIZKE 12,222,808
Amounts due from associates FE U B & N A) 2 TR 541,621
Amounts due from joint ventures  fEML A B 1 7l 2 FIE 5,501,944
Equity instruments at fairvalue A FEFALME

through other comprehensive ERA Z A

income TA 738,064
Deferred tax assets EETEEE 705,006
Held-for-trading investments BEEERE 104,638
Other receivables (for corporate)  H ft fE U Bz 18 (A &]) 1,784,573
Pledged bank deposits EERBITER 177,968
Bank balances and cash BOEFERES 10,010,518
Consolidated total assets GABERE 163,146,352
Liabilities =L
Segment liabilities SEAE 8474241 12,539,276 4,578,603 5,646,718 560,132 — 31,798,970
Other payables (for corporate) H it fETBRIE (A |]) 292,741
Tax payable FEfTHEIE 1,269,249
Bank and other borrowings BROREMEE 56,129,089
Amounts due to associates EAEA AT Y 58 70,399
Amounts due to joint ventures ERNAE AR Z A 69,309
Deferred tax liabilities FBIEFIERE 1,447,442
Consolidated total liabilities TRBEEE 91,077,199
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A BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Segment information (Continued) 7o EBE R @)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PEHEEREE@®

At 31 March 2021

Engineering Value-
Sales of Gas  designand Sales of added  Zhongyu Segment
natural gas  connection  construction LPG services Gas total
Ti2Rz Rt
AARHE MEEX kit RAREE RERE TRRR SXEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TExT FEx TExR FET
Assets E
Segment assets AHEE 72,240,987 22,476,017 822,590 6,337,793 4,262,694 2,371,998 108,512,079
Investment properties REME 565,377
Property, plantand equipment 1%« B E kX &

(for corporate) (R 7)) 189,825
Right-of-use assets (for corporate) & Fi &4 2 (A 7)) 42,714
Investments in associates REE DR ZHE 6,393,180
Investments in joint ventures REERAIZRE 9,052,185
Amounts due from associates JEMiEE & AR 2 5B 504,147
Amounts due from joint ventures  EUA E R 7] Z B 3,849,924
Equity instruments at fair value A FEzF AE A

through other comprehensive 2EBAZRAE

income TH 639,837
Deferred tax assets RIEMBEE 488,579
Held-for-trading investments RERERE 686,629
Other receivables (for corporate) — E fto fE U BE T8 (A &) 1,224,547
Pledged bank deposits BEARTER 277,899
Bank balances and cash ROGEFERES 8,293,720
Consolidated total assets GREELE 140,720,642
Liabilities 8%

Segment liabilties AHAE 7793523 11,687,392 2390928 4,025,136 1,098,496 — 26995475
Other payables (for corporate) HiwEREREE(AR) 2,166,520
Tax payable J& {358 1,021,290
Bank and other borrowings BAREMEE 48,989,371
Amounts due to associates FEfTEE & AR 2 5 45,418
Amounts due to joint ventures ENAERRZHIE 318,508
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHEER 1,319,928
Consolidated total liabilities SEREAR 80,856,510
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Segment information (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments:

° All assets are allocated to operating segments, except for the
investments in associates (other than Zhongyu Gas), investments
in joint ventures, amounts due from associates and joint ventures,
equity instruments at FVTOCI, right-of-use assets and property,
plant and equipment for corporate use, investment properties,
deferred tax assets, held-for-trading investments, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances and cash of the Group, and other
corporate assets of the Group.

° All liabilities are allocated to operating segments, except for tax
payable, bank and other borrowings, amounts due to associates
and joint ventures and deferred tax liabilities of the Group, and
other corporate liabilities of the Group. The Group allocates
finance costs into operating segments without allocating bank
and other borrowings into the segments. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purpose of resources allocation
and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WAKZAER @
(Continued)
Segment information (Continued) 7o EBE R @)
Other segment information Hittn HER
Engineering Value-
Sales of Gas  design and Sales of added  Zhongyu  Segment
natural gas  connection  construction LPG  services Gas total Unallocated Consolidated
IRRH Bt
ARRHEE HRER RET RMRHE RERE FHHRR 284E RDE g8

HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000
TER TER TEr TRz TRz TEx  TEx TER TEn

Amounts included in the measure 3 AGFE D #1B %
of segment profit or loss or AN HEEM
segment assets: 8

For the year ended 31 March BZ-8__F

2022 =A=t+-A
LEE
Additions of right-of-use assets (¢ B & & 11 171,805 - 591 119,244 1702 - 29334 - 293342
Additions to property, plantand ~ FENE - BE R
equipment B 8,317,354 — 494,445 441,184 6,666 — 9,259,649 1,319,161 10,578,810
Loss on disposal of property, plant  HENE - BEK
and equipment REZER (13:419) - - - - — (13419 - (13419)
Amortisation of intangible assets 4 /%4 = 4 4 (175,886) - (897) - - - (176,783) (52 (176,835)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (£ FIiE & E T E (122,600) - (3,027)  (200,190)  (5,669) — (331,486 - (331,486)
Depreciation of property, plantand  #1% + FiE kR /&
equipment hE (1,947,322) - - (92,711)  (24,089) — (2,064,122 (20,100)  (2,084,222)
Impairment losses on ATHEB ZRE
— trade and other receivables —EHRNERE
R E A
i) - (173,160) - - - —  (173,160) - (173,160)
— contract assets —ANEE — (323929 - - - - (33924) - (323,924)
Share of results of associates JEfEBE AT 2
iz — - - - — 467,656 467,656 453,058 920,714

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 474 BA 7% k& MisE 89




——— NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
I RAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

920

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

5. 7
(Continued)
Segment information (Continued) 7o EBE R @)
Other segment information (Continued) Hith o HER @)
Engineering Value
Sales of Gas  design and Sales of added  Zhongyu  Segment
natural gas  connection  construction LPG services Gas total  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
IRRF i
AARHE MAEH RiI RMRHE HERE THRE SHLE AR Ga
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL THL TAT TExr FAErT TAx TAT TAL TAT
For the year ended 31 March BE-8--&
2021 =R=t+-H
I35
Additions of right-of-use assets ~ {F A B E I 22,141 — 3837 1,628,637 7,184 — 1,881,799 — 1,881,799
Gain on acquisition of subsidiaries WM B A& 2
W3S 122 — — — — — 122 — 122
Additions to property, plantand ~ FEYE  BER
equipment St 7,367,117 = 35,832 124,936 5,141 — 7,533,026 134 7,533,160
Loss on disposal of property, plant ~ HENE - BER
and equipment HEZER (8,320) — (628) (7,165) — — (16113 — (16,113)
Amortisation of intangible assets & F/ & E# 5 (165,566) = (672) = = —  (166,239) (52) (166,290)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ { F{E B & 7 & (114,956) — (1375)  (167,943) (5,963) —  (290,237) — (290,237)
Depreciation of property, plantand  #1% * BiE Rk
equipment il (1,521,590) — (2,947)  (148,849) (3,624) — (1,677,010) (55100 (1,682,520
Impairment losses on WTEE 2R E
— trade and other receivables —BoRKEE
RE fh el
KB = (38,734) — - - - (38,734) — (38,734)
— contract assets —ANEE — (235513 — — — — (235513 - (235,513)
Share of results of associates EEBERT
Ed — — — — — 42635 422635 470360 892,995
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A BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDEER @
(Continued)
Geographical information i & & K
The Group's operations are mainly located in the PRC. REBREBRZTEMRAPEH -
All of the Group's revenue is contributed by external customers in the AKEFEEZFWARBERBENINARE
PRC. B
None of the customers contributed over 10% of total revenue of the MEXFEMGEASBEZKRANI0%
Group. LA EZ WA -
The following is the information about non-current assets other than URNEBREEMEMEI DN ERHE
financial instruments and deferred tax assets by the geographical area EGERITAREEIHRBEBEERING
in which the assets are located: B
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Hong Kong & 1,542,058 1,697,690
PRC = 104,737,852 87,500,386
106,279,910 89,198,076
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

92

6. OTHER INCOME

H AU A

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FH&T

Interest income M EWA 282,600 152,584
Subsidies from PRC governmental authorities Fp B T 4 B o e B (B D)

(Note i) 332,484 387,647
Tax refund (Note ii) R (PR EE) 385,881 110,492
Income from leasing of a vessel (Note iii) £E AR — A9 A Am A A (B i) 206,957 150,519
Government grants (Note iv) BT B2 (B sEiv) — 1,542
Others Hih 170,369 120,549

1,378,291 923,333

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, certain subsidiaries
received subsidies for (a) the costs incurred for gas connection contracts
relating to pipeline network for customers in new urban areas and
replacement of old pipeline network of natural gas users in the relevant
cities and (b) the additional costs incurred in certain gas connection
contracts in which the connection fee is fixed by the relevant government
authorities in the PRC. All the required work has been completed by the
relevant subsidiaries. All the costs incurred were recognised as cost of
sales in profit or loss either during the current or prior years.

The PRC government authorities have granted tax incentives to certain
subsidiaries in the PRC by way of tax refund mainly for the natural gas and
gas pipeline construction business operated in the PRC.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group subleased a
leased vessel under time charter from a joint venture (recognised as right-
of-use assets) to a third party for two years and generated fixed hire
income.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group received government
grants of HK$ 1,542,000 in respect of Covid-19-related subsidies from the
Employment Support Scheme provided by The Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HitlmRESE
2022 2021
—_E=-= —EF - —4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Changes in fair value of investment properties % & 1 % 7 A V& % &) 349,682 39,202
Changes in fair value of held-for-trading REBERECZATEESY
investments (581,991) 285,632
Gain on acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) U B B BB A B 2z WS
(Mt 5E37) — 122
Gain on deemed disposal of partial interestin 48 £ H £ B <& A 7] 20 1) I A&
an associate (note 18) 2z Wes (BTEE18) 228,797 =
Gain (loss) on disposal and winding up of HEN B AR MWER A
subsidiaries BBz W () 42,409 (47,881)
Exchange gain PE 5 U = 63,728 80,822
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BMEREREZ
equipment &5 18 (13,419) (16,113)
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREYE 2 EIE — (4,379)
Impairment losses for financial assets and NEELr s eMEERE
contract assets, net of reversal HNEEREERE
— trade and other receivables —E S EIWRIE K H e
U BE 18 (173,160) (38,734)
— contract assets —HBHNEE (323,924) (235,513)
(497,084) (274,247)
Others Hb (66,278) 1,455
(474,156) 64,613
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MBEH

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FH&T

Interest on bank and other borrowings MITREMEE ZFE 1,929,253 1,800,947
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBZAEA 76,232 65,508
Interest capitalised to construction in progress FREIRERNEZFE (548,955) (447,674)
1,456,530 1,418,781

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the general
borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of 3.7%
(2021: 3.5%) per annum to expenditure on qualifying assets.

KEFERNBEAMLZEEXRANTIEE
B—MUEESHES RENRAEKRE
ENHYZ37%(ZE=—4 :35%)

MEEEREEGTHE -
9. TAXATION 9. ®iiE
2022 2021
—_EF-— = _—

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FE& T

PRC Enterprise Income Tax FREMEMSH 2,188,817 2,602,007
Deferred taxation (note 34) JE AT 75 78 (B 7E34) (184,371) (184,241)
2,004,446 2,417,766

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax,
the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. No
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated
financial statements as the Group had no assessable profit arising in or
derived from Hong Kong for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% except for the tax relief explained below.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

TAXATION (Continued) 9. BE@
Certain PRC subsidiaries are entitled to the preferential tax rate HETHhENEBARARZAEREHRDE
pursuant to the relevant regulations applicable to enterprises situated in FEHRBERAN AP MEDER
the western region of the PRC and high technology enterprises. The SRECENEERXR - HE_T =
applicable tax rate of those PRC subsidiaries is 15% for the year ended —F=ZA=+—HILFE ZEF
31 March 2022 (2021: 15%). MBARMNERMNERIS%(ZETZ
—4F 1 15%) °
The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the (loss) profit before FREMBEG GBS REME2EBA
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other &P AT (B 18 ) & F 2 ¥ B8R an
comprehensive income as follows: IS s
Hong Kong PRC Total
'R H st
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F Z—ZE-C —E-—%F ZE-C —E-—fF

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TRT TR TET TR THET

(Loss) profit before B i Al (E518)

taxation i A (1,028,056) (227,997) 11,815,372 14,318,046 10,787,316 14,090,049
Tax at the domestic EEAREHEE

income tax rate (Note) &+ & 2 % 78 (fft

=) (169,629) (37,620) 2,953,843 3,579,512 2,784,214 3,541,892

Tax effect of share of BB ENRESR

results of associates JHEZE — = (230,178) (223,249) (230,178) (223,249)
Tax effect of share of BIEEERRIEE

results of joint ventures 2 T & & — = (128,646) (178,752) (128,646) (178,752)
Tax effect of expenses not 38 M 5 7~ 7]

deductible for tax MR A 2 A

purpose =E 97,667 10,691 12,626 81,558 110,293 92,249

Tax effect of income not BB 5 BA
taxable for tax purpose R FH WA 7 T

% (93,854) (83,375) (653,365) (534,434) (747,219) (617,809)

Tax effect of estimated I B HE R 2 {51

tax losses not HIBEE KA

recognised T 165,816 110,304 294,422 162,250 460,238 272,554
Tax effect of income tax R EF K E 7

at concessionaryrate SR 2 HIBFE — = (244,256) (469,119) (244,256) (469,119)
Taxation Fig — — 2,004,446 2,417,766 2,004,446 2,417,766
Note: The applicable tax rates for Hong Kong and PRC are 16.5% (2021: M ZBERPERZBERBRED R A16.5%

16.5%) and 25% (2021: 25%) respectively. (ZZT = —F :165%) &25% (=T =
— & 1 25%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE
10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. FEEF
2022 2021
—E=-= — T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Profit for the year has been arrived at after ANEE R FME MR GEA)
charging (crediting): T3 &8 :
Auditor’s remuneration 2% ELED B 10,400 10,200
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment %% - ME ;KRB ZITE 2,084,222 1,682,520
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEEZITE 331,486 290,237
Amortisation of intangible assets w8 EE 176,835 166,290
Staff costs: 8 T :
Directors’ emoluments (note 11) B (FaE11) 30,757 50,785
Salaries and allowances of other staff Hih 8 T 7 %8 Ro=8E 3,565,256 3,141,889
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme of /& H fth & T [A] 3R /K 18 F &5t
other staff 2l 3% 757,905 432,363
Less: Amount capitalised in construction in W EEIRENzE5E
progress (219,607) (200,236)
4,134,311 3,424,801
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses in MATEECDERARS Z
respect of: FERA :
Sales of natural gas RAARIEE 44,556,652 29,360,049
Sales of LPG BILAHREE 21,179,824 11,304,455
Contract costs recognised as expense in TRRERIRESNER
respect of gas connection and engineering RAXHE DA R E At
design and construction contracts and
others 2,593,591 4,963,124
68,330,067 45,627,628
Rental income from investment properties BREMEEE ZHS A
less outgoings of HK$2,187,000 B Sz 852,187,000 7T
(2021: HK$1,444,000) — T~ —% 11,444,000
& IT) (40,710) (23,131)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

11. DIRECTORS' AND CHAIRMAN'S EMOLUMENTS 11. EER I FENS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 15 (2021: 16) directors BEER TR EATHEAHE 2
and the chief executive disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing B EMNZISRZ(ZZT=Z—F:16
Rules and Companies Ordinance were as follows: BEFERFTETHABZHMESWT
2022 —_=E-—

Performance Contributions
related  to retirement
Directors’ Salaries and incentive benefits Total
fees other benefits payments scheme emoluments
ek REHEE EHREF
EEHe H 38 A RBHE TEMR  MesE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT THERT TER TET
(Note i)
(B &Ei)
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Liu Ming Hui ZImAE k& — 10,133 — 18 10,151
Mr. Huang Yong EEEAE — 8,244 — 18 8,262
Mr. Zhu Weiwei REERE - 4,347 — 18 4,365
Ms. Li Ching Tt — 924 — — 924
Ms. Liu Chang Zlg Lt — 2,400 — 18 2,418
Mr. Zhao Kun (Note iii) I8 o A (B aEiii) — 1,632 — — 1,632
Non-executive directors FHITEE
Mr. Liu Mingxing 2| BR B 4 A 330 — _ _ 330
Mr. Jiang Xinhao EMERAE — — - — -
Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER ~ Mahesh
Vishwanathan
IYERE 4 330 - - — 330
Mr. Xiong Bin (Note v) R 7 A (P REv) — — — - -
Independent non-executive BUHHTEE
directors
Mr. Zhao Yuhua BEELRE 594 - — - 594
Dr. Mao Erwan EF-EEL 594 — — — 594
Ms. Chen Yanyan (S e 528 — — — 528
Mr. Zhang Ling oA A 462 — — — 462
Dr. Ma Weihua (Note vi) SHEZL
iga) 167 - - — 167
3,005 27,680 — 72 30,757
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHAIRMAN'S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

M. EBREFEMNE @

2021 —E-—F
Performance  Contributions
Directors’ Salaries and related incentive to retirement Total
fees  other benefits payments benefits scheme  emoluments
Hek EeNEL RIRAE A
EE Yk H 127l B HIE SEfS  Mess
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTHT FTHT THT FTHT
(Note i)
GiE)
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Liu Ming Hui ZIBF 1B 5 & — 9,787 8,395 18 18,200
Mr. Huang Yong BB — 8,474 7,696 18 16,188
Mr. Zhu Weiwei REEXAE — 4,203 2,915 18 7,136
Ms. Li Ching ERh+ — 924 616 — 1,540
Ms. Liu Chang (Note ii) 2145 22 1 (KT aEii) — 2,363 1,200 18 3,581
Non-executive directors IHTEE
Mr. Liu Mingxing ZmA E kA 330 — 110 — 440
Mr. Jiang Xinhao ZIERE — — = = =
Mr. Jo Jinho (Note vii) AR KL
(B & vii) 17 - - — 17
Mr. Kwon Woonsang (Note vii) B LA
(B & vii) — - — — -
Mr. Rajeev Kumar Mathur Rajeev Kumar
(Note viii) Mathur % &£
(Bt = viii) 247 — 110 — 357
Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER ~ Mahesh
(Note iv) Vishwanathan
IYER 5 4
(Bt &Eiv) 83 - - — 83
Independent non-executive BUFHITEE
directors
Ms. Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia =EMZ L
(Note ix) (B &Eix) 157 - 220 — 377
Mr. Zhao Yuhua HEELEE 594 — 198 = 792
Dr. Mao Erwan F_BfEL 594 — 198 — 792
Ms. Chen Yanyan BRER LT 528 — 176 — 704
Mr. Zhang Ling REFHE 446 — 132 — 578
2,996 25,751 21,966 72 50,785
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

11. DIRECTORS" AND CHAIRMAN'S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

Notes:
(i) Performance related incentive payments were determined by the
remuneration committee, having regard to the performance of directors

and the Group's operating result

(ii) Appointed as executive director on 15 April 2020

(iii) Appointed on 19 August 2021
(iv)  Appointed on 1 January 2021
(v) Appointed on 8 March 2022
(vi) Appointed on 1 February 2022
(vii)  Resigned on 23 April 2020

(viii)  Resigned on 31 December 2020

(ix) Resigned on 26 June 2020

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments and independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Liu Ming Hui is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above included those for services rendered by
him as the Chief Executive.

Except for Mr. Jiang Xinhao and Mr. Xiong Bin who waived their rights
to receive remuneration (2021: Mr. Jiang Xinhao and Mr. Kwon
Woonsang), there was no arrangement under which the Chief Executive
or a director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
year ended 31 March 2022.

1. EEREFMNE @

B 3
() ZEARERDRESFHEAGET -
ERSEZEFRRRALEIAEE

=3
&

i) RZZE_ZFTNATAHEZERH
TE=

@iy RNZZEZ—FNA+HLBEZHE
(ivv RZZ-_—F—F—BEZ#
v RZZEZ=—F=-AN\BEZfT
vy W-T__—_F_F - REZRE
(vi) R-ZE-_ZTFMOA-+=HEIE
(i) RZZEZZF+-_A=+—RHEfHE
(x) RIZE-ZTFRNA-_+XNBEIE

UEMTATEEZMETEZRBR
EEEBEARARAEEERZRE

NEFMRIFATESZME RBILIF
WTESFIHEIZERRFREELD
NAEFZRH -

FRBEENRBARRB ZITRAE
tRFRECHERREAREEETR
BERFORBAASE -

BREFELAE MR L ERERL AR
e R (ZE_—F: 2355 4%E
RETHEEE)N BE-_T-__F=
A=+—BLFE THREZKES
BMERBEMNZHEREARNBRER
BB £ o
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

12. EMOLUMENTS OF EMPLOYEES 12. EEBM =

During the year ended 31 March 2022, of the five individuals with the
highest emoluments in the Group, three (2021: four) of them were
directors which included the Chief Executive of the Company whose
emoluments are included in note 11. The emoluments of the remaining
two (2021: one) individual(s) are disclosed as follows:

REBEE_TE-_—_F=A=+—HIF
E-AEBEFscAREARLEF=
ANMZEZ—F A ARESF(BER
RAETHBHE) BEMWNSH AN
MeESMB(ZEZ—F: —5) @
AR SETELNT :

2022 2021
—E-= —E=—
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAET
Salaries and bonus e kita 6,852 4,254
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme RRTE G850 18 —
6,870 4,254
No. of employees
EBE®AE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Their emoluments were within the following BEZMENFUTEHE :
bands:
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7% 7T % 3,500,000
&I 1 _
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7T & 4,000,000
T 1 _
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7T & 4,500,000
BT — 1

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the Chief Executive or the
directors or the above individual(s) as an inducement to join the Group
or as a compensation for loss of office for both years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

13. DIVIDENDS 13. KB
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Final dividend paid in respect of year ended ENEE—_ZT-—%F
31 March 2021 of HK$0.45 (2021: HK$0.40in = A =+—HBItFE
respect of the year ended 31 March 2020) per FRO4ASBE T (ZEZ—F -
share HE_ZT-ZTF
=A=t—HIL=FE
§%0.40%8 7T) 2 REHARR & 2,508,870 2,087,425
Interim dividend paid in respect of six months ENEE—_ZT-—%F
ended 30 September 2021 of HK$0.10 (2021: NAZ=Z+HIREA
HK$0.10 in respect of the six months ended BROIOEBT(ZE=—%F:
30 September 2020) per share HE-_ZT-_FTFNA=1H
LI/ E A ® %0108 7T) 2
B AR B 553,579 521,237
3,062,449 2,608,662
A final dividend of HK$0.45 in respect of the year ended 31 March ARAEFEZRREHEZ_ZT_—
2022 (2021: final dividend of HK$0.45 in respect of the year ended 31 Z=A=+—BIEFESKR04ET(Z
March 2021) per share in an aggregate amount of HK$2,448,151,000 E_—F HE_ZTE-_—F=A=+
(2021: HK$2,508,870,000) has been proposed by the directors of the —HIEFEERASE T Z REAKE
Company and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the 2 REARR B+ & 512,448,151,0007% 7T

forthcoming general meeting. —%F = — % :2,508,870,000/% T )

AR RN EREBRR A& A E

o

N\~

i

\;
L
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-ZT-_—F=-A=+—HIEFE

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. BRER
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable RKANRBEEANEBEEBRERNR#ER
to the owners of the Company is based on the following data: AR T BB E -
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Earnings Eﬂ
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the EORERAREBERT 2
Company for the purposes of basic and diluted ZIK NEVHEE ANEEFE &
earnings per share 7,662,036 10,478,683
2022 2021
—_E—-= T —F
‘000 ‘000
T T
Number of shares ;&g ¢=|
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 5t & & [% & 78 K #58 B 7| 2
the purpose of basic and diluted earnings per T3 AR AN A 19 £
share 5,498,433 5,215,306
During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the computation of BHE_E-_—_F#K-_T-_—F=H=
diluted earnings per share does not assume the exercise of the +—HIEE EREERFMNETE
Company’s outstanding share options as the adjusted exercise price of THBERARAMKRITHEEREET
those share options is higher than the average market price of the F BERESZEERENKSHE ﬁ {;iE
shares for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. BIhealEBEzE_ S _—_— K _F—
FZA=T—HLEFEROGHFEHT
S B 1% e
The weighted average number of ordinary shares is arrived at after 5 A% hn #E 9 & T N 0 B MY s 35 B
deducting the shares held by the share award scheme as set out in note HRMEREEAENRDEBEDL -

35.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REW
HK$'000
FAET
FAIR VALUE NYE
At 1 April 2020 R-ZE-_FTEWMA—HA 523,525
Disposals HeE (16,786)
Exchange adjustments PE 5, 5 & 19,436
Changes in fair value NTFEED 39,202
At 31 March 2021 R_BE-_—F=A=+—8H 565,377
Additions nNE 1,369,737
Exchange adjustments PE 53 38 2 11,563
Changes in fair value NEEZH 349,682
At 31 March 2022 R—_E-_—_F=H=+—H 2,296,359
The Group's investment properties are analysed as follows: REBZREDMESNLT ¢
2022 2021
—=2-= - —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Properties held: BEZWME:
— in Hong Kong — (IR BB 208,200 207,200
— in the PRC — LR A 2,088,159 358,177
2,296,359 565,377
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties in Hong Kong as at RZEZ__FR_E-_—F=/A=+
31 March 2022 and 2021 has been arrived at on the basis of a —B AEBUREBEZREMES
valuation carried out as on the respective dates by LCH (Asia-Pacific) N FAE TR I B 7K £ F I A B A 0E
Surveyors Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer not NAERBEEEMAETISMA
connected to the Group. The resulting fair value gain of HK$1,000,000 RARIRZBETZHEEST - Al
(2021: HK$49,000,000) was recognised to the consolidated statement B4 2 A F1{EU1,000,000% T (=
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The valuation was T = — 4 : 49,000,000/ 7T) IR 4R & 18
arrived at by reference to comparable market transactions available in HmLHMEEABRARKRER - HED
the relevant markets for similar properties in the similar locations and 2EBLUMERBLUMELN B RAIEMHF
conditions. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest TZHEEMmErESHN A& miE
and best use of the properties is their current use. REMEL - REFTWERIATFER -
MENGZERxERAEREBRARKA
%o
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties in the PRC at 31
March 2022 and 2021 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out at these dates by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Ltd., an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected to the Group.
The resulting fair value gain of HK$348,682,000 (2021: fair value loss
of HK$9,798,000) was recognised to consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. The valuation was arrived at
by reference to comparable market transactions available in the relevant
markets for similar properties in the similar locations and conditions. In
estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of
the properties is their current use.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information about the
fair value hierarchy as 31 March 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

15. &

EIEICY

RZEZZFRZTE_—F=ZH=
+—H AEECRPRZEEYE
ZAFETHREEAKNE BB EEE
ZENNEEREEMEMITESE
HAHERATNRZSEEHETZ
HESH -BAEEEZAFEKS

348,682,000 L (ZE = —F : A FAE
E5989,798,0008 7T) Rér & B m k H
thEEPARKRER - HEHLRESE
P ERELUMIBAE RIEHET 28
M ESMNAELEMBERSM
B -REFADELATFER WESN
EekRERRAEREAE -

AEER_FT_—_FR-_FT-_—F=
A=+t—HNKREVEREBATE
ERERMFRET

Fair value (Level 3)

APEE(E=HK)

2022 2021

—EsE=-= —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHETT

Commercial units and land located in Hong Kong 7 A % 6 89 79 B 88 i1 )& + 3 208,200 207,200
Offices located in the PRC RPEOMAE 2,088,159 358,177

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the management of the Group
works closely with the independent qualified external valuers to
establish and determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for Level 3 fair value measurements. Where there is a material
change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of the fluctuations will
be reported to the directors of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Information about fair value measurements
using key unobservable inputs (Level 3)

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the
determination of fair values for investment properties and the key
unobservable inputs used in the valuation models.

15.

TRETWERENEEE R FERM
RGEETERGERLEMAITEARA
BERE ARUE-

Relationship of
Range of unobservable unobservable inputs to fair
Description Fair value as at 31 March ~ Valuation techniques Unobservable inputs inputs value
ECE £3D8 ¢
R RZA=+-HZAVE f#ESE TABREBAYE TABRAAUEHE EATFEZBE
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR
Commercial units and 208,200 207,200 Comparison approach  Adjusted transaction price to HK$21,911-HK$80,000 per  The higher the adjusted
land located in Hong reflect market value of square foot (2021: transaction price the higher
Kong similar properties HK$19,528- HK$80,003 the fair value
per square foot)
UREBH R EA HEE BRABRZSERURER  BFFRNINELE BRERHERES
Rt RUMENTE 80,0008 T (ZF=— ATEHES
F:HEHR19528% T
%£80,003%7T)
Offices located in the 2,088,159 358,177 Comparison approach  Adjusted transaction price to RMB5,380-RMB55,388 per  The higher the adjusted
PRC reflect direction and square meter (2021: transaction price the higher
height RMB3,312-RMB47,569 per the fair value
square meter)
URPER DT HEA KAERZERARR  BFHRKARES3080TZE LRAEIZFERYS
FRARSE AR #55,3887C ATEER
(ZB=—F:8F¥FK
AR¥3312LE
AR 47,5697
2,296,359 565,377

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolio and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties are held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in
measuring the Group'’s deferred taxation on investment properties, the
directors of the Company have determined that the presumption that
the carrying amounts of investment properties measured using the fair
value model are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. Accordingly,
deferred taxation in relation to the Group’s investment properties has
been measured based on the tax consequences of recovering the
carrying amounts entirely through use.

RAENAAFTEEEAENKREY
XEENELHRE ARAEFER
AASEBNRENFASG  EwmoAN
SE R E YR T RIE ARE K E Mk
BRHEBRNENEMBINBA
HAoEBEMNESBENEBRARF
B-Hilt RFEXAKERENEDN
BEEBIRE  ARREZEE MA
RFERUGFENREVENREE
TEREERZRKEMREKRE WIE
At FHEAKERENENE
ERBERBEEEBERZHEEERE
BHRBERRE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 1% - BB R&B
Coal-bed
Leasehold Machinery  Furniture methane
land and Construction and and Motor development
buildings  Pipelines inprogress equipment fixtures  vehicles cost  Vessels Total
HELHR GRREE RER

BT EE ERIR RERRE KE RE  HRER i @it
HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

TAL  TEL TATL TERn  TRL  TER TRT  TEn  TER

CosT ;%8
At 1 April 2020 W-Z-ZEMA—0 4681576 29989714 12,226076 5164510 562533 920,79 204716 176519 53,926,440
Exchange adjustment EXHRE 424398 2485618 1441168 1006250 124905 85596 20,275 18,156 5,606,366
Additions RE 142823 81251 5850380 211,701 192540 58,802 225,663 — 7,533,160
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries W EE AT B 2 RIFT 1S 16,678 349,598 82,955 14,299 2173 2,607 — — 468310
Disposal and winding up of subsidiaries i\ & i & 722 & it &

ARER (2624)  (105,499) (9457)  (16,812) (440) (685) = —  (135513)
Disposal for the year ENLE (31,046)  (24,574) — (54,363) (30,824) (31,589 — — (172,392
Reclassification g 194699 5465000  (6,030914) 371215 = = — = =
At 31 March 2021 R-B-—%#

=R=1-H 5426504 39,011,112 13560208 6,696,800 850,887 1,035,531 450654 194,675 67,226,371
Exchange adjustment EXHRE 257,996 1498690 795542 369,515 71325 41,994 23,303 8,131 3,066,49
Additions RE 1340656 2,114,836 6483144 159094 122910 8889 269,276 — 10578810
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries 4t f& M B A R BT /3 4535% 174,835 84,692 55,274 6,583 2,808 — — 369,548
Disposal and winding up of subsidiaries £ € B2 7l KM B

NEER (180220 (70914) (19625  (1359) 7)) (38521) = — (148512
Disposal for the year FALE (31960)  (67.822) —  (120619)  (16304)  (66,620) — (5887)  (309.212)
Redlassification BHHE 167,415 6726512 (7,432,022) 538,095 - — — — -
At March 31, 2022 R-B--

=R=1-H 7187945 49,387,249 13471939 7696800 1035330 1,064,086 743233 196919 80,783,501

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT ~ HERHE

At 1 April 2020 R-Z-ZEMA-A 852,680 4,154,313 — 2159069 150696 381,780 1358 98,683 7,798,579
Exchange adjustment ERAZ 129995 386,020 — 31999 64,286 38,747 530 9,265 948,837
Provided for the year FRERE 186,165 1,002,232 — 361,507 24873 85,420 9,484 12,749 1,682,520
Eliminated on disposal and windingup ~ H & B2 7 R B2
of subsidiaries AlE B M (330) (3,511) — (4,241) (283) (136) — — (8,501)

Eliminated on disposal HE R R (16,803) (9,350) — (45700 (8749)  (24471) = —  (103,943)
At 31 March 2021 R=Z-—&

=ZA=+-A 1,151,707 5,529,704 — 2811,849 210823 481,340 11372 120,697 10,317,492
Exchange adjustment ERAE 44069 162,921 — 220989 31,151 20,606 77 4620 485073
Provided for the year FNER 220,102 1,294,786 — M5 30300 90,194 24,089 13526 2,084,222
Eliminated on disposal and windingup &t B2 7 & A B

of subsidiaries NEEBE M (1,420 (4,505) = (736) (34 (5317) - — (1201

Eliminated on disposal HEBHB 8816)  (17,738) —  (66350)  (12,548)  (49,211) — (1,339)  (156,002)
At 31 March 2022 R-Z2--

=A=t+-H 1,405,642 6,965,168 — 3376977 259692 537,612 36,178 137,504 12,718,773
CARRYING VALUES EEE
At 31 March 2022 W=Z-=

=A=t+-H 5,782,303 42,422,081 13471,939 4319823 775638 526474 707,055 59,415 68,064,728
At 31 March 2021 W=Z-—F

=A=t+-H 4274797 33481408 13,560,208 3,884,951 640,064 554,191 439,282 73,978 56,908,879
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The pipelines of the Group are located in the PRC.

The above items of property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the
following rates per annum:
Leasehold land and buildings Qver the shorter of the remaining
terms of the leases or 50 years
Over the shorter of 30 years or
the operation period of the relevant
company
5%-10%
15%-50%

Pipelines

Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures

Motor vehicles 25%
Coal-bed methane development Units of production method based on
cost the expected proven reserve to be
extracted
Vessels 7% (new vessels acquired from

suppliers) or 34% (acquired from
second hand market)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, interest capitalised in
construction in progress amounted to HK$548,955,000 (2021:
HK$447,674,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group is in the process of
obtaining title deeds from relevant government authorities for its land
and buildings in the PRC amounting to HK$41,041,000 (2021:
HK$56,928,000). In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Group is not required to incur additional cost in obtaining the title
deeds for its land and buildings in the PRC.

16. Y% - BE RRE @

AEEZEBMRFE -

timE - -BERREERR(TERE
BIR)NRESEATIERTE

etk MHEOBTEIHRS0FZ
BF LSS
EE 30FEHBEBA R 2 KE
FHzREHE
RN RE  5%-10%
FREEEFE  15%-50%
Ax
RE 25%
HEERAZE BESHRNBHRALEHE
2 REEEREESEN
b7
g 7% (R EEB A ZH
M Ah) s34% (= F
mHEA)

REE-_ZTE-_—_&F#=HF=+—H
FtFEFE H#EZIREXRLLZHE
/#548,955,000% ;o( = & = — F:
447,674,000 7T) °

REE_ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—HIH&
E - A& E IE g H (B (E41,041,000%8
T (== =~ — £ : 56,928,000/ Jr) il A
Bz i REF A BB T R
B ERRZYN ARAREERE &
SEDARERTRE L RIEFZA
BEREZAMEEBRINKA
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. FRREEE

Machinery
Leasehold and Motor
lands Properties equipment vehicles Vessels Total
BERR
HE it LS RiE RE i A et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FTER FHExT FTHExT FTHET THER
Asat31March2022 R=-"T=-Z—
=A=+—~H
Carrying amount FREE 2,764,373 226,969 918 112 1,303,345 4,295,717
Asat31March2021 RZ-ZTE=-—4%F
=B=+-—-8
Carrying amount R A 2,549,609 229,450 1,500 5,387 1,461,444 4,247,390
For the year ended Bgz—_=_—_—
31 March 2022 =A=+—~H”
LFE
Depreciation charge mESEH 83,406 85,222 638 4121 158,099 331,486
For the year ended BE-—Z=-—F
31 March 2021 =A=+—H
t+HEE
Depreciation charge WESBH 79,359 84,145 1,955 5,229 119,549 290,237
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2022 31 March 2021
BZE HE
—E=-= T —F
=A=+—H =ZH=+—8H
LEHE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT T T
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHRHEEREMNR 136,892 138,514
Total cash outflow for leases HEMBR SR LR 614,387 597,325
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFHEEE 293,342 1,881,799

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2021/22 HEMRTIZIRERAE 20212281 R &



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR R Y R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For both years, the Group leases various leasehold lands, offices and
warehouses, machinery and equipment, motor vehicles and vessels for
its operations. Except for the lease of leasehold lands, lease contracts
are entered into for fixed term of 1 to 30 years (2021: 1 to 30 years).
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has obtained the land use right
certificates for all leasehold lands except for leasehold lands with
carrying amount of HK$252,148,000 (2021: HK$105,758,000) in which
the Group is in the process of obtaining. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the Group is not required to incur additional cost in
obtaining the title deeds for its leasehold lands in the PRC.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for properties,
machinery and equipment and motor vehicles. As at 31 March 2022,
the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed as above.

17. FRAEEE @

RAEFEE AEERELERES
BHRELIH WAERAEE KRR
BB REUAERMM -HEANIE—
FE=FHF(ZZ2=—F: —FF5=
+TE)NBE TR HEE i
Z HERRIN o THE BT IR (A Bl & 2%
EE BRETRMEREGESE R
ErfEHrIEIUIRESHENRE
B AEBERAGYNTETLETAS
#8958 I PT BT HARE o

R-ZTE-_—_F=F=+—H K&
EERMSBFREMRE L 2 T E B
EZE HMAELSELENSENET
252,148,000/ T( = T = — F:
105,758,000/ 7T) 2 #H & T H#FR SN o A<
RAIEERE AEEBAFERF
B & L i~ A HE 24 = A RE SN
B AN o

AEBTHHME BRREEUAR
AREFVEHEE R _—F=
A=Z+—RH EHEASHHEERN £
NEBECHEERIMNEHAEAS
B o
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. R

ERAZRE

2022 2021
—E—-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Cost of investments in associates: HWERBE R 2K
Listed in Hong Kong REB L™ 1,020,734 791,937
Listed in the PRC R E T 39,273 39,273
Unlisted JFEEM 5,039,349 4,421,868
Share of pre-acquisition dividend o516 Y B AT AR B (1,296) (1,296)
Share of post-acquisition profits and other DIEWER R REMEE
comprehensive income (net of post-acquisition U A (H0 B Uk B 12 P UR AR B
dividend received) 4,331,937 3,280,426
Discount on acquisition of associates g2 l/NC i 232,970 232,970
10,662,967 8,765,178
Fair value of listed investments, based on quoted & & 7 A F (&
market price (EmisHmETE) 7,796,884 7,327,464
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

18. REEENT 2 RE @)

The Group had interests in the following significant associates:

AEERATEERENTPERE

=
Place of Proportion of nominal
registration/  Principal place Class of value of registered/issued
Name of entity Form of business structure incorporation  of operations  capital capital held by the Group  Principal activities
=/ rEEFRBEM/ CRT
TLEELR EBRBEA Rt % TEEEHYE RAER R 2% T 4 L TEXH
2022 2021
—E--f ZZT=-%
% %
EETIRMREIREER Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered a4 44 Gas pipeline construction
BERAR PHEERE FE FE it RAEBER
EBEQRBLRMABRRDE  Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 39 39 Exploration, collection, transportation,
purification and sales of natural
gas
RINEERE FE FE il B & B8 FLRRAR
HE
BEMALEEDRAR Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BERAR construction
RIEERE FE FE it AARHERMATEER
RRETERRBEREML Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 48 48 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
AR((FRBRERE]) construction
RIEERE FE FE it AARHERMATEER
BREZIEZRLER Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 35 35 Refining process, storage of LPG
yNS| EBRERRATA FE FE i RICAMEREMIERE  H#7F
W REEIRAAR Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 25 25 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BERAR construction
EBRERATA FE FE i AARHERMATEER
BNFERRERAR Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 40 40 Sales of LPG
EREREATA FE FE il RILAMRHE
Zhongyu Gas* Limited liability company Cayman Islands ~ PRC Ordinary 37 40  Investment holding, sales of natural
(Note i) (Note i) gas and gas pipeline construction
RHRRE EBRERATA HEHE HE =3 (Kt Ei) (Haxi) REER RARHERMRE

EERR
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

112

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

18. REEENT 2R E @)

Place of Proportion of nominal
registration/  Principal place Class of value of registered/issued
Name of entity Form of business structure incorporation  of operations  capital capital held by the Group  Principal activities
=/ AEERBEM/CRT
rEER EBEBER BRI TEREHYE RAER R 7% T 4 L TEER
2022 2021
—E-C o Sk 3
% %
EMHEREDMBTME  Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 44 44 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
ERERAR construction
BEREFEARA HE FE Gl AARHERMATEER
MR REARER A A Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 25 25 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction
BREFEARA HE HEl Gl AARHERMATEER
BERTABRARE Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 25 25 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BRRA construction
BEREFEARA HE FE Gl AARHERMATEER
KEEBRZLRREMAR  Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 27 27 Development of energy technology
A and sales of natural gas
BEREFEARA HE HE Gl BEREMFAERRAREE
KEELHBIABRIAR  Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 40 40  Sales of LPG
NS BEREFEARA HE HE Gl RILARMRHE
AT HERMAER AR  Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 30 30  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction
BREFEARA HE HEl Gl AARHERMATEER
WEEXARFABRAR  Lmited liability company PRC PRC Registered 25 25 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction
BREFEARA HEl FE Gl AARHERMREERR
IWRERAREE/IKZEARR  Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 22 22 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
N construction
HREEARA FE FE Gl AARHERMATEER
IR E B RERRD Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 12 12 Development, production and sales of
BRAR (DMIRE]) ** (Note i) (Note i) gas meters and other utility
(B =Eii) (B 3%ii) system
BEREFEARA HE HE Gl MEEREMETRZGRE  £&

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2021/22 HEMRTIZIRERAE 20212281 R &
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-ZT-_—F=-A=+—HIEFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REtE R B 2R E )
Place of Proportion of nominal

registration/  Principal place Class of value of registered/issued

Name of entity Form of business structure incorporation  of operations  capital capital held by the Group  Principal activities
=/ AEERBEM/CRT
rEER EBEBER BRIt TEREHYE RAER BRAEELL B TEER
2022 2021
—E-C —ET-—F
% %
B ERREERAR Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 46 46 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
O3 construction
BEREFEARA HE HE Gl AARHERMATEER
W05 5 1B B 7 R B R Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 30 30  Production of coke and coking
BRAA chemicals
BEREFEARA HE HE Gl FEERRELER
& % e R K R R Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 49 49  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BRAA construction
BEREFEARA HE HE Gl AARHERMATEER
THLERFMICEERB AR Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Production and sales of LPG
BEREFEARA HE HEl Gl BEAAREERBEE
I RERBAMIFAEER  Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 49 —  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
NS (note 37(C)) construction
BREFEARA HEl FE Gl (Kt5¥37(C)) AARHERMREERR
M hE s RAR  Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 40 —  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
N construction
HOHEERE FE HE Gl AARHERMATEER
& Its shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and its financial * HERONEBMRA LT BEMKE
information is publicly available. BHA] AR o
** |ts shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and its financial o HBRORFNBEHFZ S L BEA
information is publicly available. AR AR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) In October 2021, Zhongyu Gas completed a placing of existing shares and
issued and allotted 188,000,000 new shares at a price of HK$5.80 per
share to a strategic investor. Accordingly, the Group’s equity interest in
Zhongyu Gas was diluted from 39.98% to 37.33%, resulting in a gain on
deemed disposal HK$228,797,000 recognised in the cost of investment in
the associate and credited to other gains and losses as disclosed in note 7.
The investment in Zhongyu Gas continues to be accounted for as an
investment in an associate as the Group continues to have significant
influence over Zhongyu Gas.

(ii) The Group held 12% equity interests in #TLE(£. The investment in }#7/T
B £ is classified as an investment in an associate as the Group has the
right to appoint one out of four executive directors in #TE£. Thus, the
Group can exercise significant influence over the financial and operating
policies of AT EH L.

At 31 March 2022, included in the cost of investments in associates is
goodwill of HK$3,247,627,000 (2021: HK$2,752,186,000).

The financial year end date for Zhongyu Gas is 31 December. For the
purpose of applying the equity method of accounting, the consolidated
financial statements of Zhongyu Gas for the year ended 31 December
2021 (2021: 31 December 2020) have been used as the Group
considers that it is impracticable for Zhongyu Gas with its shares listed
on the Stock Exchange to provide a separate and complete set of
financial statements as of 31 March. No significant transactions
requiring adjustments took place during the intervening period.

The financial year end date of j&[5)%&7H is 31 December. This was the
statutory reporting date established when that company was registered.
The financial statements of }%F5&7g for the period other than its
statutory reporting date had not been provided by jEF5/EF to the
Group. For the purposes of applying the equity method of accounting,
the financial statements of j&[5/&P for the year ended 31 December
2021 (2021: 31 December 2020) have been used. No significant
transactions requiring adjustments took place during the intervening
period.

18.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-_Z-—HF=-A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. Rt E R B2 1RE )
Summarised consolidated financial information EERENTGRETHERHE
of material associates it
Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of each of the REBRZREEHESNAIZ2EAHKE
Group's material associates is set out below. The summarised MBI WMT o NXEZ A B
consolidated financial information below represents amounts shown in EERBEEEBME NGB RE
the associate’s consolidated financial statements. FTR&%E -

All of the Group's associates are accounted for using the equity method REBEBRAEBS AR DEAERERN
in these consolidated financial statements. REETBHERRAALR -
15 #8 /& # E and its subsidiaries BRETFERHENE QA
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FH& T
Current assets MENEE 851,271 889,031
Non-current assets IERBEE 3,429,231 3,408,204
Current liabilities mE A& (1,104,950) (1,166,730)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE (7,106) (294,514)
Net assets BB E 3,168,446 2,835,991
Revenue WA 2,191,290 1,912,130
Profit and total comprehensive income for F R &
the year PN L 332,455 362,787
Dividend received from MR EH B FREWEBRETFEZRE
during the year — 52,539
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-ZT-_—F=-A=+—HIEFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REEENT 2R E @)

Summarised consolidated financial information
of material associates (Continued)

DAEE/E\ Fh Fﬁ"i and its subsidiaries (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the investments in associates recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

BEEMENTGEAMBELR
it ()
KEREETEREKNE QT @

PR BEHBEENGE W BERE
MR ZNBE QR ZKREREEY
BE :

2022 2021

—Eg=-= T —F

HK$'000 HK$ 000

FERT FAT

Net assets of PAEEET & RRETEZREE 3,168,446 2,835,991
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest REBRERETE 2 EEHRE

in FREREBE RS Bl 48% 48%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest REBRKERETE 2R

in B EES E reflected in the Group's mE (FE A £ B 2 454 B s 4t
consolidated statement of financial position MR RER) 1,520,854 1,361,276
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-_Z-—HF=-A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REfE RN B ZRE )
Summarised consolidated financial information EEMENTGSUWBERE
of material associates (Continued) INC)

Zhongyu Gas and its subsidiaries FRRRREERE AT

2022 2021

—E=-= T —F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Current assets MENEE 7,110,313 6,548,228

Non-current assets EMBEE 19,562,551 17,086,195

Current liabilities mEEE (8,428,479) (11,464,139)

Non-current liabilities FEmBAE (8,727,387) (5,438,934)

Net assets FEE 9,516,998 6,731,350

Less: Non-controlling interests VB FETERRRE RS (858,001) (715,311)

Net assets attributable to owners B AEEFEE 8,658,997 6,016,039

Revenue WA 11,344,500 8,543,710
Profit and total comprehensive income for F s &2 ERARE

the year 1,948,551 1,516,643
Dividend received from Zhongyu Gas during FABRFBRRZRE

the year 105,754 74,043
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-ZT-_—F=-A=+—HIEFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised consolidated financial information
of material associates (Continued)
Zhongyu Gas and its subsidiaries (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the

18. REFERAZRE @

EERENARSHBERE

it ()
PR R EMNE QT @
LLHM%QHMEEE RFE P B RE

carrying amount of the investments in associates recognised in the RBZBERR 2 RERAEYK
consolidated financial statements:
2022 2021
—g-— —E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FH&T
Net assets attributable to owners of Zhongyu Gas A RIEE AE(HEFEE 8,658,997 6,016,039
Less: Fair value gain on revaluation of pipelines & : 5t A% BE RBREZ

included in property, plant and equipment* BEBEMH AT EKE (1,793,647) (1,294,591)
6,865,350 4,721,448
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in ~ ZN & B 7> 1 #A A S 2 VB B #E
Zhongyu Gas e 7= L I 37% 40%
Goodwill EES 483,469 483,469
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in REBRPHRRER
Zhongyu Gas reflected in the Group'’s HE(EASEZGE ﬁ7f i‘%ﬂft
consolidated statement of financial position WZR ) 3,023,649 2,371,998
* Zhongyu Gas has revalued its property, plant and equipment. The * HIRRREGEYE BERSZE =

revaluation is reversed to conform with the Group’s accounting policy.

HEBEUFEAREENSEER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 HEZZT-_—F=-A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REtE RN R ZRE @)
Summarised consolidated financial information EEZBREQNAFREMEERH
of material associates (Continued) Ej_— L(#8)

&[5 7% 78 and its subsidiaries SIS B H M E A T
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THE T
Current assets mENE E 2,221,535 1,502,827
Non-current assets ERBEE 7,153,613 6,138,346
Current liabilities mEN A E (4,779,046) (3,685,821)
Non-current liabilities ERBARE (2,617,590) (2,105,251)
Net assets FEE 1,978,512 1,850,101
Less: Non-controlling interests W FEIE R R (250,929) (237,658)
Net assets attributable to owners HEAENFEE 1,727,583 1,612,443
Revenue PN 4,749,477 3,834,701
Profit and total comprehensive income for F s &2 ERARE
the year 128,411 261,130
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-ZT-_—F=-A=+—HIEFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Summarised consolidated financial information
of material associates (Continued)

7% % 7% 78 and its subsidiaries (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the investments in associates recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

18. REEENT 2R E @)

I

EEBRENAGSHBERE
it ()
BIEEAREKE QT @
T EER B BERES T ERE

MR ZNBE QR ZKREREEY
BE :

2022 2021

—E=-= —E- g

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Net assets attributable to owners of &k &7 BEEAEBEAEBLEEE 1,727,583 1,612,443
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest AREBPERIGEM 2 A ERE

in &5 Em bt 46% 46%

Goodwill RS 1,636,984 1,578,520
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest AEBEREBEGEACERER

in &[5 7 reflected in the Group’s B(EAEBR ZEE BN
consolidated statement of financial position = xR 2,431,672 2,326,252

Aggregate information of associates that are not
individually material

BRMELFEAZHE AT
R AR

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

The Group's share of profit 7N & B FE AL i A 304,705 383,379
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEBRZERE NG 2w

interests in these associates VEFTEREE 3,686,792 2,705,652
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. REERBIZKRE
2022 2021
—_E=-= =B ==k
HK$'000 HK$'000
T3t FHT

Cost of investments in joint ventures — unlisted ~ R& & R 7 2 & &R A — 3E

A= 8,255,668 6,959,290

Share of post-acquisition profits and other SRS RN R H 2

comprehensive income (net of post-acquisition 4 A (30 & Y i 12 BT U B
dividend received) 20 3,936,995 2,062,750
Discount on acquisition of joint ventures WEEERR 2T 30,145 30,145
12,222,808 9,052,185
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group had interests in the RZEZ__FR_TE-_—F=A=+
following significant joint ventures: —B AEERATEESERAR
HEHERER
Place of Proportion of nominal

registration/  Principal place Class of value of registered/ issued

Name of entity Form of business structure incorporation  of operations  capital capital held by the Group  Principal activities
/A AEEFEER
tEER EBRBEA Vit E TEEENE RAER ERTRAEELA TEEH
2022 2021
—E-CF ZB--F
% %
MM TR EERAA  Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 50 50 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction
mHRELE R I i AARHERMAEERR
BB TIRAEEER  Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
YN construction
mOHRELE I FE g AARHERMAEERR
BT REREER  Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
NS construction
mOHRELE I e i AARHERMREERR
HEHRMHE BN TEMR  Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Natural gas refill service and gas
BRAA station administration
mOHRELE I FE afi AARMBIRS R MR ER
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE
19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REBEQAAZRE®W
Place of Proportion of nominal
registration/  Principal place Class of value of registered/ issued
Name of entity Form of business structure incorporation  of operations  capital capital held by the Group  Principal activities
/A EEEfEER
L4 ES Y5 U TEEXNE RAEER BERTRAEELH TEEK
2022 2021
—E-C —T-—F
% %
RERARBERAA Equity joint venture PRC PRC Registered 51 51 Sales of natural gas
RELE H F i RARHEE
Fujian Anran Gas Investment Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Investment holding, sales of natural
Company Limited gas and gas pipeline construction
(“Fujian Anran”)
BEZARAREERLA BAREERA FE FE i RELER RAREERMRRER
(EE-23) 2%
EERAARREEER Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
GG construction
BEREEAA HE HE i AARHERMAEERR
RETIRA MR R (5E) Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 49 49  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BRAA construction
BERELAA HE HE i AARHERMAEERR
BINRRE BFESTME  Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
ERAERDA construction
mOHRELE HE HE i AARHERMAEERR
SENREBHRERAD Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RRERERAA construction
mOHRELE HE HE i AARHERMAEERR
KEMAERREEER Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 40 40  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
AT construction
BEREEAA HE HE i AARHERMAEERR
MMBETRIERBERAR Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales and distribution of LPG
FIHEERE FE FE i BRICRARHERD
SEMHMERRERAA Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas, petrochemical
products and gas accessories
BERERERAT FE FE i RARHE RALERRMRREH
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REEAQATIZRE @)

Place of Proportion of nominal
registration/  Principal place Class of value of registered/ issued
Name of entity Form of business structure incorporation  of operations  capital capital held by the Group  Principal activities
/A AEBEAEEMS
TEER ES Y5 T TEEXBE RARE BERTRAEELH TEXH
2022 2021
—E-C —T-—F
% %
SHMBRREERERL Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
NS construction
mOHRELE E HE G AARHERMAEERR
RROBMEZERER Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 51 51  Sales of natural gas and delivery of
NG| hazardous products
BEBRERERAT FE FE i AARHERCRRER
MMNEILREEZAMBAA  Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas
BERERERAT FE FE i RARHE
China Insurance Investment Investment Fund L.P. PRC PRC Registered 30 30 Investment in piped natural gas
China Gas (Shenzhen) Clean ("PNG"), liquefied natural gas
Energy Development Fund L.P. ("LNG"), compressed natural gas
(Note) ("CNG") and LPG energy projects
RREPRORINERZER REESR FE FE it EBRAR(PNG]) BRIERAR
ERES (FRAK) (TLNG]) - BEER AR (TCNG])
(B &E) R B mRERER RE
BkRRERERER AR Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 40 40  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction
EREARA HE HE i AARHERMAEERR
Wi REEER AR Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 40 40  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERERERATA FE FE it AARHERMREERR
WERERARKAZRDER Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered | 41 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
Na(LRAH]) construction
EREARA E HE G AARHERMAEERR
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2022 #HE T - —HF=A=+—HItFE

19.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group cooperated with China

Insurance Investment Fund L.P. (“CIIF") to establish the China Insurance
Investment China Gas (Shenzhen) Clean Energy Development Fund L.P. (the
“Fund”). The Fund was expected to have an aggregate capital
commitment up to RMB10 billion, of which RMB7 billion and RMB3 billion
would be contributed by CIIF and the Group respectively. The Fund would
provide capital support for investment in the PNG, LNG, CNG and LPG
projects. Up to 31 March 2022, the Group and CIIF contributed
RMB1,914,635,000 (approximately HK$2,295,247,000) (2021:
RMB896,048,000 (approximately HK$1,037,732,000)) and
RMB5,140,000,000 (approximately HK$6,345,679,000) (2021:
RMB5,800,000,000 (approximately HK$6,904,762,000)) to the Fund
respectively.

ClIF is entitled to a preferential return based on its actual capital
contribution (after deducting any redeemed amount).

In connection with the Fund, the Company made an undertaking to
procure, among other things: (i) the divestment of CIIF in the Fund; (i) the
payment of the preferential return of CIIF from the Fund; and (iii) the
preferential redemption of CIIF in the Fund in the event that the Fund
does not have sufficient funding in satisfying the aforesaid requirements.

Pursuant to shareholders’ agreement entered into among the Group and
the two other shareholders of the Fund, the shareholders of the Fund
have also contractually agreed sharing control over the Fund, as key
decisions about the relevant activities, including but not limited to
business, financial and operation matters of the Fund, require unanimous
consents from all of the shareholders of the Fund. Accordingly, the Group
has joint control over the Fund and the Group’s equity interest in the Fund
is accounted for as investments in joint ventures.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company provided
undertakings to the banking facilities amounting to RMB5.2 billion
(approximately HK$6.4 billion) (2021: RMB4.0 billion (approximately
HK$4.8 billion)) to the Fund.

As all the relevant activities of the above entities require unanimous
consent from all joint venture parties, they are accounted for as joint
ventures.

At 31 March 2022, included in the cost of investments in joint ventures
is goodwill of HK$264,165,000 (2021: HK$254,731,000).

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2021/22 FREIMASIERARAT 20212281 15H %

M- B2 tF=-A=+—RALFE"
AEERFEARBREEES(ERA
B)([HFREDEERLFRIEFRCR
IBERERERES(BRAE)([Z
Ee]) - ESBABHEELERBEA
R¥10EB T EFARBIOBETREA
REEBETHES BT REERAER
A Z A S BPNG - LNG * CNG &
IPGEERAEARMEAZBF - HE=-ZT
—ZF=ZRA=1t—8B AEEHEFPRE
EUHZESEHRALESIAAR
#1,914,635,000 7T ( #72,295,247,000 7
L) (=ZZF = —F: AR ¥896,048,000
5T ( #91,037,732,0005 7T)) & A R ¥
5,140,000,000 7t ( #76,345,679,0007% T )
—Z= - — % : AR¥5,800,000,0007T
(#96,904,762,0007% 7T)) °

TREREEERRRLERENRE
] 2 & @ 5% IE&)H#E%?EE?E@
=5l

HREETHIRE - AREMEL AL (R
1§(ﬁqﬂ’@%) (\FREEZESHH
Ei(iXNPRERZESRENE
S‘Eliliﬁ: R (iii) A5 22 R # 8 5% B [ 4R
REZESRENE MNEZXESLE
RAERMRIALES -

REASHEZES BN A RRE
BER RGBS ZESRRTEFEELN
REDZZESHNEGE FLBRHEE
MEPNERAE  BRETRRES
MEL MBELEEEE ARGZE
ERMEBRRN—HARE Al A5 H
HZESHALREHE MAKER
ZEEZBRARZEARRAERARK

BE_ZT_—_#=-A=+—HLEEFEE"
KARBAG FZESZ ARKES2E
T(HeABET)(ZE_—F: ARK
401B T (W48BAB L)) MITEEHER
HIER -

BN ERE
E%él’&ﬁ?%iﬁiﬁﬁ’\]—@lﬁ %‘ : Jﬂax
EEBA

- —_F=ZA=+—B i AA
&R R E KA R R A 264,165,000
T (ZZF = —% : 254,731,0005 7T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
A BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REELQRIZREm
Summarised financial information of material BESE N T EE R
joint ventures
The summarised financial information below represents amounts shown TXEWZHBERBEIREEE AT
in the joint ventures’ consolidated financial statements. FEMBMERMTERE -

All of the Group's joint ventures are accounted for using the equity REBMRAESEE AR IEBAEZSER
method in these consolidated financial statements. RIZE B BRRAALE -
Fujian Anran and its subsidiaries BEZAREKE QT
2022 2021
—==-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Current assets MENEE 1,417,149 1,266,066
Non-current assets IEREEE 4,493,748 4,019,167
Current liabilities mEE & (1,513,605) (1,274,541)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE (559,618) (422,148)
Net assets FEE 3,837,674 3,588,544
Revenue A 3,097,894 2,252,654
Profit and total comprehensive income for FARMNREERALE
the year 249,130 589,366
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. REERBAZRE @
Summarised financial information of material EESELQNTIMBER M
joint ventures (Continued) (%)

Fujian Anran and its subsidiaries (Continued) BREZAREWE 2B @)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the L EERBMEENGES M BEHRE
carrying amount of the investments in joint ventures recognised in the RZEBERAZRERHEEYNRK:
consolidated financial statements:
2022 2021
—®E=-= —E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Net assets of Fujian Anran BRELZAZFEE 3,837,674 3,588,544
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in ~ N&E B R BIE L A2 A #E
Fujian Anran 1 &5 Lt 3 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Fujian 7 & B A B 2 A 7 25 EY
Anran reflected in the Group's consolidated FHE(EASB ZRE 05
statement of financial position AR 2R A R R ) 1,880,460 1,758,387
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material EESELQNTIMBER M
joint ventures (Continued) (%)
China Insurance Investment China Gas (Shenzhen) Clean AR IR R CRYI) 75 2 8e R 3%
Energy Development Fund L.P. and its subsidiaries BEES(BEREESEBE)LEHREB A
=
2022 2021
—EsE=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FE T
Current assets MENEE 13,482,367 11,435,975
Non-current assets EREEE 16,134,273 11,729,989
Current liabilities mEIAaE (11,896,153) (9,071,732)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (7,586,780) (5,001,421)
Net assets FERE 10,133,707 9,092,811
Less: Non-controlling interests B IR R E S (190,168) (145,644)
Net assets attributable to owners HEANEBRFEE 9,943,539 8,947,167
Revenue A 4,271,247 5,368,873
Profit and total comprehensive income for FRRANEEEB AL
the year 991,612 1,377,331
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19.

Summarised financial information of material
joint ventures (Continued)

China Insurance Investment China Gas (Shenzhen) Clean
Energy Development Fund L.P. and its subsidiaries
(Continued)

The carrying amount of the Group’s investments in the Fund comprises

ERRERAMBERBL
(%)
AR R ORI 78 R BE R 3

RES(EREB)IREHEBQ
7] (&)

AEERZESZREFRMERREN)

the following: TRIE:
2022 2021
—_E=-= T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT
The Group's share of accumulated profits of AEBEMZES Z R RF
the Fund 827,645 592,961
Capital contributed to the Fund by the Group REBERZESEE 2,295,247 1,037,732
Exchange realignment BE 5 3 B8 63,836 92,892
Carrying amount of the Group's interest inthe ~ NEBRNZE S 2 EFHWIER®E
Fund reflected in the Group’s consolidated BEEAKEZHZETBERR
statement of financial position o d ) 3,186,728 1,723,585
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REEQRIZERE @)
Summarised financial information of material EESELQNTIMBER M
joint ventures (Continued) ()

ILI 38 £ J# and its subsidiaries L EAEREWE DT
2022 2021
—E=-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THE T
Current assets MENEE 1,930,611 3,109,401
Non-current assets EMBEE 3,427,348 2,205,048
Current liabilities mEEE (1,145,774) (1,102,527)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (3,450) (35,845)
Net assets FEE 4,208,735 4,176,077
Less: Non-controlling interests W FEEE AR R = (1.824,161) (1,938,592)
Net assets attributable to owners HEANEBLZFEE 2,384,574 2,237,485
Revenue g A 881,682 484,290

Profit and total comprehensive income for F s &2 ERARE

the year 228,960 533,121
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-ZT-_—F=-A=+—HIEFE

19.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REBEQAAZRE®W
Summarised financial information of material EESELQNTIMBER M
joint ventures (Continued) (%)
Ll 3 45 5 and its subsidiaries (Continued) MTEF=p=) 841N §
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the J:Lﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬂﬁ%géﬁi NR B BT TSR R
carrying amount of the investments in joint ventures recognised in the RZEBERAZKREAREBEYR
consolidated financial statements:
2022 2021
—g-= =%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Net assets attributable to owners of L5 .f IWRABEE ARBEFEE 2,384,574 2,237,485
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest AREBRILE AR HEE ERE
in |LIZRAH = b 41% 41%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest AEBRILEABZEENIER
in LI A reflected in the Group’s HEEREE 2 E8 B %R
consolidated statement of financial position MR RER) 977,675 917,369
Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not BRIMSTYHFEERZEER T
individually material VEFTER
2022 2021
—Eg-C —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
The Group's share of profit 75 B FE A iR T 222,078 414,919
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group'’s AEERZEEGERAI 2=
interest in these joint ventures VEFTEREE 6,177,945 4,652,844
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-_Z-—HF=-A=+—HILFE

20. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 20. BAFEFAEMEERKA
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ZBRANTHE
2022 2021
—sE=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REE LT ZRAES 135,773 54,648
Unlisted equity investments JE F TR ARIKE 600,093 582,991
Other investments EMig& 2,198 2,198
738,064 639,837
The directors of the Company have elected to designate these equity HRARNBEETRAEZSERAKREL
investments as at FVTOCI as they believe that these investments are not FFIEEBE BB EABRLOBRT
held for trading and not expected to be sold in the foreseeable future. SHESHKRER REEEETEZ
Details of the fair value measurements of these investments are set out ERERAFEFAEMLEZEIA -
in note 39. ZEREC A TEAEFBINME
39
21. GOODWILL 21. BE
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-_ZFTFWMH—H 3,010,000
Arising on acquisitions of subsidiaries (note 37)  E 4 B W I B A &) (K 5£37) 46,809
Eliminated on disposal and winding up of HEWB QA RHB A RS KK
subsidiaries (15,172)
Exchange realignment HE 5, 38 B 256,749
At 31 March 2021 RZZE=-Z—F=A=+—H 3,298,386
Arising on acquisitions of subsidiaries (note 37)  E 4 E Wt B BT 8 & B (B 5£37) 69,250
Eliminated on disposal and winding up of &M B A B R MB A FE &R
subsidiaries (10,261)
Exchange realignment PE X 5 & 115,854
At 31 March 2022 R_E-__F=H=+—H 3,473,229
The Group tests for impairment of goodwill annually and in the financial REERBERRETRE ZVBE
year in which the acquisition takes place, or more frequently if there are EHEeAAEEEGRE EATR
indications that goodwill might be impaired. XA ENRER  SREETAH -
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21.

GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing on goodwill

Management considers that each subsidiary engaging in business of the
sales of natural gas and gas pipeline construction business, sales of LPG
business and provision of valued-added services represents a separate
CGU for the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill.

The carrying amounts of goodwill as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 are

21. B2 @)

2 2 R (B &

EEERR

CBLEEREANEME
AARRHENMMRAEBRERER LR
CEMRHEXFARBLASTES

ERIvAY

RZEBE_—_FR-_ZE-_—F=ZA=+

allocated as follows: —HENEEREES LT :
2022 2021
—=E-C T —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline UTEHMBARZRAAREER
construction business within each of MREBEERER
the following subsidiaries
Clever Decision Enterprise Limited Clever Decision Enterprise Limited 152,213 146,777
BINFRATRARER AR AR BN BRI TR ER AR A A 48,120 46,402
LR AR AR AR b AR AR B HR A A 16,691 16,095
WRARESERARAR MEARESERERA AT 57,664 55,605
FERRH TR ER AR AT MERMETMRRERER A A 16,035 15,462
ES R TRRE R AR AR EEPRATRRERERAF 29,146 28,105
HNPRRE AR ERERAR HAPRIETRRERBR AT 32,648 31,482
IERBUEE hee REMER AR AR IEREEE NEREMER AR
N = 34,686 33,447
Fortune Gas Investment Holdings Limited EHMMRIEEERER A A 921,617 888,703
EHIIAIR R A R A F] =PI MRRRER A A 19,996 19,282
EHEMERMRIARR A EEEHERRRAERLDA 126,383 121,869
TR E IR AR AR #HPRMBEIIRRBR A A 17,899 17,260
EUER M aEIR & B AR AR and China Gas REFRMREREEBR A AR
Hong Kong Company Limited China Gas Hong Kong Company
Limited 196,698 189,673
Beijing Gas Development Limited MR R BE A A 188,367 181,640
MR R AR A A IR B AR A F 33,989 32,775
ZRMEERRRERA A LERMEBEEXMRAERRA A 8,943 8,624
S PR mRRERER AR EHRILPRATRRER
BRAA 6,940 6,692
RERBRAREEER AR RERPBRARHERR A A 2,026 1,954
HEME R BRRAEERAT EMERBERFAEERA A 6,121 5,902
EEIFERARREBR AR BEIFERARBRERA A 8,083 7,795
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21. GOODWILL (continued) 21. BE )
Impairment testing on goodwiill (Continued) BEBEH @
2022 2021
—=E_-C T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET F# T
IR EEknERERETAT LWR#ZZ{ECRRERER
R /NG 10,585 10,207
BRI MM RERER AR EERIFMBTHMAERBR
NG 74,710 72,042
AR R R IBERE TR B TR A ) A R IBE B R B R A A 3,608 3,479
REPRERTIIZEERAT KEFRBRTIREARRA A 1,050 1,012
[REBIERRAHERRAR] BEHZERBRAFEEER QA 8,646 8,337
EERIERARHEERR AR ERBIge XRARHEHEBR R A
("B (TEEZI&ED 18,275 17,622
ERITIAEDTIEBRRBTRREREGR BE LA E=T RER I T
NG| RERBRAF 115 111
FePa) | RAARAR AR ("ERIAZ) ") BRAZIRRXAZERA A
(TERPE&IIER]) 7,764 7,487
RPARZRTER AR HHERZRABREA A 5,725 5,521
ERMRmmAs B R RAMRAR] EERMmmAlRE S RERAR
A& 11,192 10,793
AEEMHERRRREERER A A AREEMHPRBRARRERAR
A 7] 4,642 4,476
ERGEFREMNR AR AT ERZFEMRER QA 8,501 8,197
ZLGEEILIRR AR AR ZIEZEFLRRER AR 610 588
AR TR R AR A A AT RERRTRRERABR
UNE] 2,067 1,993
BESRATMRERAT ("EEERLY") HBEERLEZLTMRRERADT
([EEEHERL]) 4,696 4,531
B B ERARBR AR ("B BEFEE") B B ERARER QA
([ BB FEAEE]) 10,509 10,133
HBFEBRARBRAR ("HEEE") HEZEERXARER AR
([aMesE]) 13,319 12,844
HEERARAT("REEER") REERERAR ([REER]) 6,742 6,502
BIEMERRBERAR ("EHEEER") BEMERMRRERA A
([#EeZR]) 19,335 -
Other individually immaterial CGUs HaE RS LA EKNNIRE
EABA 355,462 335,393
2,491,818 2,376,812
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21. GOODWILL (continued) 21. I%ﬂ_%(%)
Impairment testing on goodwill (Continued) SENAEREAC )
2022 2021
=== —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$°000
TERT FBT
Sales of LPG business within each of DTEHBARZRILEHR
the following subsidiaries HEXK
BRI AR AR EEFREERIERB R A A 251,949 218,164
EEERMEERAR] FEERMBERADA 26,934 25,972
BREERRREARAT BREEERIEERRA A 45,465 43,841
Panva Gas Holdings Limited Panva Gas Holdings Limited 302,287 291,491
HEFRE L RARAT HEARBEITIEERBR QA 8,995 8,674
BRI E TELERBRAR EE R B TE & EAR
NE] 3,247 3,131
EMITRERARAR ("EMITE") EMNFTREREBRA A
(T&EMITED 13,273 12,799
652,150 604,072
Provision of value-added services within each 5L T & [ B 2 7] = 12 {it #2 (& iR
of following subsidiaries BEK
Daily Pride Limited (“Daily Pride”) BEUBERAR(ELH]) 328,042 316,326
B EE)F L RE R A A B (EE) L RERA A 1,219 1,176
329,261 317,502
3,473,229 3,298,386
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing on goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on value
in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations
are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected
changes to selling prices and direct costs during the year. Management
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
CGUs. The growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts.
Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices
and expectation of future changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent
financial budgets approved by the management for the next five years.
The CGUs cashflows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a
steady 2%-3% (2021: 2%-3%) average growth rate for CGUs in the
natural gas and gas pipeline construction business, 2%-3% (2021:
2%-3%) for CGUs in the LPG business and 2% (2021: 2%) for CGUs
engaged in the provision of value-added services. The pre-tax rates used
to discount the forecast cash flows for CGUs are from 13% to 18% (2021:
11% to 20%). In the opinion of the directors of the Company, no
material impairment loss is identified for both years. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount of CGUs
to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of CGUs.

21.
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22. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

T _FZA=t—HILFE

{m/\\\ ;i@m\ QE

Exclusive
rights of
natural gas Production  Technology Customer
operation  sharing rights rights  relationship Total
XRR
£%e
BREER 4LEIRE BiE EFBE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTET FTAET TET TET
COoST BA&
At 1 April 2020 R-ZZ-_ZTFNA—H 3,027,335 1,253,943 51,758 14262 4,347,298
Exchange adjustments B i, 38 2 262,651 111,959 4,621 1,273 380,504
Addition RE 3,129 — — = 3,129
Disposal and winding up of HEMBARKKE
subsidiaries NG (59,662) = = = (59,662)
Acquired on acquisition of EEBWERBAR
subsidiaries (note 37) (F3E37) 102,634 = = = 102,634
At 31 March 2021 RZZE-—-F=A=+—H 3,336,087 1,365,902 56,379 15535 4,773,903
Exchange adjustments R 123,59 50,589 2,088 575 176,846
Addition RE 2,669 — = = 2,669
Disposal and winding up of HEWB QA R B
subsidiaries NGNS (19,129) = = = (19,129)
Acquired on acquisition of EXBNERBAR
subsidiaries (note 37) (F&E37) 267,131 — — — 267,131
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZ§=A=+—H 3,710,352 1,416,491 58,467 16,110 5,201,420
AMORTISATION B
At 1 April 2020 RZE-TENA—H 651,354 37,833 30,723 14,262 734,172
Exchange adjustments fE X R 56,366 3,379 2,742 1,273 63,760
Charge for the year FRZ 124,737 31,784 9,769 = 166,290
Disposal and winding up of HENBARKKB
subsidiaries NEE (20,274) = = = (20,274)
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ—F=f=+—H 812,183 72,996 43,234 15,535 943,948
Exchange adjustments R 30,082 2,704 1,602 575 34,963
Charge for the year FRTH 126,300 41,847 8,688 = 176,835
Disposal and winding up of HEMNBARKKE
subsidiaries NEER (7,002) - - = (7,002)
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZ§=A=+—H 961,563 117,547 53,524 16,110 1,148,744
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2022 WZEZZH=A=1—H 2,748,789 1,298,944 4,943 — 4,052,676
At 31 March 2021 RZZE-—-%=A=+—H 2,523,904 1,292,906 13,145 — 3,829,955
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The exclusive rights of natural gas operation, technology rights and
customer relationship are amortised on a straight-line method over the
period of 30 years, 40 years and 10 years respectively.

Production sharing right represents the right under the production
contract entered into between a subsidiary of the Company and a PRC
entity for the exploitation and development of a coal-bed methane
resource in the PRC (the “CBM Project”) under an exclusive right
granted by the PRC government to explore, develop and produce coal-
bed methane with that PRC entity as joint operation partner until 2029.
The management of the Group sought advice from its legal advisor and
has been advised that there is a sound basis to further extend the
exclusive right to 2038. The Group has a 50% participating stake in the
CBM Project. Production sharing right is amortised by using the units of
production method based on the expected proven reserve to be
extracted.

2. BB EE @

AAREB ZBREEHE  HilTER
ZEBED BIN304E - 406 R 10F 2
HARI N A B4R VA T LABESH -

EEDKEREARARAT —FEHB QA
H-MHhBECERREDEBRNTER
HEZTFECEWERARLERH)
iR FAEREERBRNBRES
MO ErAZEFERBERER(K
BREEDIVNEEANET 2#
B ARHME_Z-_NAF-AKEN
EEECREZEABERASKERLE
SHERAERESBREERE—
FRERE_Z=N\F - AEEARKE
RIBBHEAS NS EHiER - EEDK
BEREHAROBERCRARGER
HEBAKIE#HE -

INVENTORIES 23. 78
2022 2021
—=2-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Construction materials EZM 2,349,718 2,088,261

Gas appliances and value added services MR R 28 B % 38 B AR 7508 7% mm

consumables 1,801,449 1,754,271
Natural gas RAR 473,313 345,038
LPG BRAL A B R 766,985 886,224
Consumables, spare parts and other materials HES - HEHEEREMgR 309,753 228,472
5,701,218 5,302,266
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24, CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES 2. EHNEE 8E
2022 2021
—EC-_F —_F-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Contract assets — current ERNEE—H
Construction contracts in gas pipeline construction A & EEREE A L 17,138,269 16,925,010
Contract liabilities — current EREBE—H
Construction contracts in gas pipeline construction A& & B ZRIEE A 4 2,408,833 1,859,159
Purchase of natural gas, LPG and other sales BERXAR  RIEABR R
Hh 35 & 7,034,237 6,178,102
9,443,070 8,037,261

As at 1 April 2020, contract assets amounted to HK$12,750,848,000
and contract liabilities amounted to HK$5,997,661,000.

Contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to consideration for
work completed because the rights are conditional on the Group's
future performance in achieving specified milestones at the reporting
date on the contract work. The contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract assets
and contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

Construction contracts in respect of gas pipeline
construction

The Group’s revenue from gas pipeline construction contracts is
measured using the input method. The Group requires certain
customers to provide upfront deposits before the commencement of
the construction as part of its credit risk management policies.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the Group
expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle.

When the Group receives a deposit before the construction commences,
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the
revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of the
deposit.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

24. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued) 2. EHNEE BEw
Purchase of natural gas and LPG BERXARKRIEAHR
For the sales of natural gas to certain household customers, the Group RAETRERFRPHEHERARMS -
requires advance payment before the usage of the natural gas through REBeERNEREERR ZAI@®
prepaid cards. The charge of the actual usage of natural gas will be BENFEMNREBE - FARKARZE
deducted directly from the balance of the prepaid cards. The customers BMIWNESEEREN THRENR -
can only consume the natural gas up to the balance of the prepaid ZEREORZAHRKARERENF
cards. For industrial and commercial customers, the Group requires BREN AL - IHEBFPMmMS
advance payment before the usage of the natural gas. Any shortage AREB@ERKWERRXARITENR
against the periodically actual charge for the actual usage of natural gas H- - AEFBBZRBRERGERARXARIK
will be billed by the Group accordingly. This would give rise to contract BHEMTAEOETHERKBIRIE =
liabilities until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract reaches/ BEEAGHNEE BEZHBA HFTHE
exceeds the amount of advance payment. REHWAZEE BRENESEAIL -
For the sales of LPG, the Group would require advance payments from MEERILARRNS  AEEEE
customers for the sales of LPG which gives rise to contract liabilities SKEPHMEE R/ A R TENRIEA -
until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the EEAGHNABE BEEHB@A LT
amount of advance payment. REWABBIENEERIE -
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised relates TRINHEERHWAE Z L ELEE
to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates to EHEABEERBUALZLVEUNZSED
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior periods. BITHEAZEAR -
Purchase of
natural gas, LPG
Construction and
contracts other sales
BEXAR
BRiEABRRER
BREN Hiths &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
For the year ended 31 March 2022 Bz-—2%—-C
ZH=+-HLEE
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract F ¥R BIER SN B ELHE
liabilities balance at the beginning of the year SREI A 1,859,159 6,178,102
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-_Z2_-_—%
ZA=t-HLEE
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract F ¥R BIERE LN B ELHE
liabilities balance at the beginning of the year SBE A 1,887,007 4,110,654

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets are set out in note
39.

BHBEERENFGHFBHNMEI -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-ZT-_—F=-A=+—HIEFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. B 5 EWERIE K& H it B Y BR
18
2022 2021
—EsE=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Trade receivables from contracts with customers B AKLELN B 5 EUEEE 6,752,327 6,589,063
Less: Allowances for credit losses B EEEEREG (1,011,363) (804,695)
Trade receivables B 5 EWRRIE 5,740,964 5,784,368
Deposits paid for construction and other materials T2 K& HE M # & B 1% & 1,187,902 1,210,726
Deposits paid for purchase of natural gas and LPG & B X %X | N &b A h | 2 A~
"4e 4,007,667 3,261,488
Advance payments to sub-contractors ENTHBRE KA 870,507 742,072
Rental and utilities deposits HERPAREEES 696,042 843,410
Other tax recoverable H b \] Uk [B] F 18 1,079,361 973,822
Other receivables and deposits HiEKREERES 1,271,164 848,791
Prepaid operating expenses %E\ HE & H XX 1,283,671 791,394
Amounts due from non-controlling interests of & U Bt /B8 72 7] FE 128 A% #E 25 2B
subsidiaries 109,918 98,484

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HAiEUARTE - & RIER

RIA 10,506,232 8,770,187
Total trade and other receivables = % JiE Wi BR T8 Ko EL th 8 U BR 18

L] 16,247,196 14,554,555
As at 1 April 2020, trade receivables from contracts with customers (net NR_E_ZFTFPPHA—HB BFEEHE
of allowances for credit losses) amounted to HK$2,987,696,000. EHMESEREB(NMGEZEBER

f#5) 52,987,696,000% 7T °

Other than certain major customers with good repayment history which BEFNREEETFZCETERPER
the Group allows a longer credit period or settlement by instalment EBRAFEBRREESHS S BINR
basis, the Group generally allows an average credit period of 30 to 180 Gy REB —RBRAEZESEFIRMETF
days to its trade customers. H30E180B 268 -
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 25. BEZEWERIE R H it fE U BR
IH ()
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of impairment R EHR HEZERHEN2E 5
losses presented based on invoice date at the end of the reporting FEWERTE (B BEER) 2EB ST
period: mr
2022 2021
—=2-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
0-180 days 0£2180H 2,647,765 3,941,376
181-365 days 1812365H 1,225,049 995,188
Over 365 days 365H A E 1,868,150 847,804
5,740,964 5,784,368
The Group has policies for allowances for credit loss which are based on NEBZ ZEEEBBREREIEE S
the evaluation of collectability and age analysis of trade receivables and CIRE#HR I RE S5 EWEEIE 2
on the management’s judgment including the current creditworthiness BRRo THRERIEEEEBENBEEESR
and the past collection history of each customer as well as relevant ZEEHEZEREDRKZKREE ZH
forward-looking information. LA G E B RTE Y& -
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set 2 5 rEIETE & E i fE UL BE B &) R E
out in note 39. ST G EE B A M EE39 -
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I

26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) ASSOCIATES/JOINT 26. FEUWR (EE{) B- AT &

\
/

VENTURES

Amounts due from (to) associates

As at 31 March 2022, included in the balance of amounts due from
associates are (i) a loan of HK$419,792,000 (2021: HK$460,138,000)
which is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable according to
the terms of agreement; (i) amounts that are of trade nature of
HK$116,401,000 (2021: HK$36,967,000) and aged within 180 days
based on invoice date; and (iii) a dividend receivable of HK$5,428,000
(2021: HK$5,234,000) from associates. A credit period of 30 to 180
days is granted to the associates for trade amounts. The remaining
balance of HK$1,808,000 as at 31 March 2021 was of non-trade
nature, which were unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand. Details of impairment assessment of amounts due from
associates are set out in note 39.

As at 31 March 2022, amounts due to associates of HK$70,399,000
(2021: HK$45,418,000) are of trade nature and aged within 180 days
based on invoice date.

Amounts due from (to) joint ventures

Included in the balance of amounts due from joint ventures are (i) loans
of HK$86,420,000 (2021: HK$88,498,000) which are unsecured,
interest-bearing at fixed rates 5.88% (2021: 4.35%) per annum; and (ii)
amounts that are of trade nature of HK$4,903,878,000 (2021:
HK$2,540,902,000) and aged within 180 days based on invoice date. A
credit period of 180 days is granted to the joint ventures for trade
amounts. The remaining balance is of non-trade nature, which is
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. Details of
impairment assessment of amounts due from joint ventures are set out
in note 39.

As at 31 March 2022, amounts due to joint ventures of HK$69,309,000
(2021: HK$318,508,000) are of trade nature and aged within 180 days
based on invoice date.
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=t 80 R (i) X T8 4,903,878,0005%8 7T (—
T — — £ :2,540,902,000/%8 T ) Jh B
B HERERKIEEZAEERTA
10BN - sr NERENBIEEZIHE -
ERH - REWEAREREE - EK
AEARRFENRETGHFBHAM
F£39 °

RZEBE-_—_F=F=+—H8 B4
& N B FIE 69,309,000/ T (ZFE = —
4 : 318,508,000/ L) NEBE S HE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 27. BIEEBRE
2022 2021
—_E=-= —E-—%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT F& T
Equity securities at fair value listed in Hong Kong 32 A F{EFI{E 2 F 6 L IRA
E 5 104,638 686,629

Held-for-trading investments as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 represent
equity securities listed in Hong Kong. The fair values of the investments
are determined based on the quoted market bid prices available on the
Stock Exchange. The fair value of held-for-trading investments is
classified as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES
AND CASH

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group. Deposits amounting to
HK$177,968,000 (2021: HK$277,899,000) have been pledged to
secure short-term bank loans and undrawn short-term facilities and are
therefore classified as current assets. The pledged bank deposits carry
fixed interest rates of 0.30% to 1.90% (2021: 0.35% to 2.18%) per
annum.

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and short-
term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less
and carry interest at market rates which range from 0.01% to 2.99%
per annum (2021: 0.01% to 2.18% per annum).

28.

RZBEZZFRZF=—F=A=+
—HNBEEEREERBEE LT Z
BRAFES ZSEREZAFEENRE
RFFTmeomBEEBMET - FHIEE
EREZAFEIEEAFEERSE
_Hi&o

EEMRITERRITEF
KRz

EERABROTEREARNSRTFASE
BrzRTHEMBEBFRERTZE
K2 177,968,000/ (=& = — F:
277,899,000 7T ) 2 17 X E 1E & 18 A
BEEHETEREARRER 2 8
B AhDBEARDHEE -BHEIBR
THERIESF030EEZ10E(ZE =
— & FF035FEE2.18E) Z & E Fl
KEF B o

ROTEGTRASBERAERFF 2B
S REARAR =8 A ANEIH 2 58 5
RITER BREF00EE299E (=
T —F:FGF001EE218E) 2™
ARG B o
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

28. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES 28. BIRIERITIER RITHEF

AND CASH (continued)

The details of the Group’s pledged bank deposits and bank balances
and cash which are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities are set out below:

R € @)

AEENSHASEEE2YES
Moz BEHE 2 B EFRITHE RN
RFTRERBREZFBHINNT

United States

s

Dollars (“USD") HK$
ESA(E A BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
equivalent
£E
At 31 March 2022 NR-_E-_—_F=H=+—H 102,681 364,780
At 31 March 2021 N—_E-_—F=H=+—H 89,612 241,841
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 29. EFEMNERBE R H BT ER
18
Trade and other payables comprise amounts outstanding for trade BoOENEEREMEMNEEREE
purchases and ongoing costs. The following is an aged analysis of trade SEENEERAZ AEBTHE 1
and bills payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the MEH KR IR ELHHZYN 2B S E
reporting period: NEBERENER ZRRITHOT :
2022 2021
—_s—-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
0-90 days 0Z290H 12,410,460 11,837,364
91-180 days 91H=180H 913,124 534,741
Over 180 days 180H A E 2,966,486 2,656,674
Trade and bills payables B SENEKRERENZER 16,290,070 15,028,779
Other payables and accrued charges HaEMRBENESER 897,798 823,856
Consideration payables EARE 443,172 181,753
Construction fee payables ERIEER 1,012,427 1,181,922
Retention payables and security deposits received = IR ZE 4 Rk & 1,798,302 1,288,085
Accrued staff costs FEETB TR A 159,855 209,488
Loan interest payables B ERF A 165,393 271,268
Amounts due to non-controlling interests of FE A BT 188 & R) FE 25 AR M 25 SRR
subsidiaries (Note) (Bt &E) 311,706 424,134
Other payables and accruals HiEMEREREFER 4,788,653 4,380,506
Total trade and other payables H 5 e IR 1E K H At JE ] BR 18
R 21,078,723 19,409,285
Note: The amounts due to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries are non-trade B EANB AT EERESZIEAES
in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. 2 IR . e B R A B SRR S
The average credit period on trade purchases and ongoing costs is 90 BOHBLEBEEKRAZ FTHEZEERA
to 180 days. 90£180H -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-ZT-_—F=-A=+—HIEFE

30. LEASE LIABILITIES 30. HEEE
2022 2021
—E—-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F& T
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEAE :
Within one year R—FA 213,802 209,606
Within a period of more than one year but not ~ AHi—F ) B TBBAMF
more than two years 176,240 178,976
Within a period of more than two years but not  AHIMFLA FETBBAESF
more than five years 567,809 523,678
More than five years ZAF 612,067 803,189
1,569,918 1,715,449
Less: Amount due for settlement within 1218 A R EHIEE S A
12 months shown under current liabilities RBAEZRIE (213,802) (209,606)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 1218 A& EI B B85 AJER S
shown under non-current liabilities BEZRIAE 1,356,116 1,505,843
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease NEEEBEERAMNELYEEEE
liabilities is 4.64% (2021: 4.64%) per annum. FMEEBFI64B(ZE=——F 464
[E) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 31. RITREMEE
2022 2021
—E=-= —ET-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Bank and other borrowings comprise MITEHEMEEREATSEIE:
the following:
Bank borrowings RITEE 52,093,811 38,982,177
Other borrowings Hibg & 4,035,278 10,007,194
56,129,089 48,989,371
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BRMEAEMELMA
Current mE 22,142,596 17,271,905
Non-current FERED 33,986,493 31,717,466
56,129,089 48,989,371
Secured VR 2,964,511 1,545,902
Unsecured 17 4 4 53,164,578 47,443,469
56,129,089 48,989,371
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-ZT-_—F=-A=+—HIEFE

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

31 RITRHEMEE @

Bank borrowings

Other borrowings

RITEE Hing &
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-= - —E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FET FAT
The maturity profile of the above il f& & 2 B H#i1&
borrowings is as follows: PN
Within one year R—FA 22,062,534 16,233,956 80,062 1,037,949
Within a period of more than ZHR—FEETEBBMF
one year but not more than
two years 11,583,228 10,419,445 119,669 672,442
Within a period of more than ZHRMEEBTBBRF
two years but not more than
five years 16,495,870 11,186,026 3,835,547 8,296,803
More than five years ZHRAF 1,952,179 1,142,750 — —
52,093,811 38,982,177 4,035,278 10,007,194
Less: Amount due within one W —FREEYA
year shown under current mEBAEZK
liabilities (22,062,534) (16,233,956) (80,062) (1,037,949)
Amount due after one year —F BB EF AR B
shown under non-current BEZHRE
liabilities 30,031,277 22,748,221 3,955,216 8,969,245
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-_Z-—HF=-A=+—HILFE

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 31. RITREMEE
2022 2021
—E—-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Borrowings comprise: BEaRE
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEBE 12,048,628 13,807,161
Floating-rate borrowings FEEE
— LIBOR plus 0.70% to 1.05% —BBERITRAEREES JJD
(2021: LIBOR plus 0.68% to 1.60%) 0.70EZE1.05E (==
—F  RABRTRAERE
K FIN0.68EE1. 60@) 4,757,968 4,382,637
— HIBOR plus 0.70% to 1.05% —BITIRITAEREEXRS )Ju
(2021: HIBOR plus 0.70% to 1.05%) 0.70EE1.05E (=T =
—F B TRITEERE
ESM0.70EZ1.05F) 10,146,689 Ut
— Base rate of the People’s Bank of China — B ARIRITEER X 29,175,804 23,492,215
56,129,089 48,989,371

The details of the corporate bonds of the Company as included in the

AARMEE 2 ARF N RAESF

other borrowings are as follows: SR
2022 2021
—EsE=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
Corporate bond 2 (Note i) N AEH 2 (K &%) — 368,640
Corporate bond 4 (Note ii) N RIMESH4 (KT — 1,781,985
Corporate bond 5 (Note iii) A AEME 5 (Ff 5=Zii) 36,219 2,379,589
Corporate bond 6 (Note iv) A AfES6 (M sTiv) — 1,546,673
Corporate bond 7 (Note v) INGINEE- VA EEAY) 1,234,568 1,190,476
1,270,787 7,267,363
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—

31.

T _FZA=t—HILFE

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(0]

(iii)

(v)

The listed corporate bond was issued with coupon and effective interest
rate of 3.40% per annum and maturity date on 27 October 2021 to
qualified investors in the PRC on 27 October 2016. The corporate bond
was listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange Comprehensive Electronic Platform
of Fixed Income Securities on 8 November 2016. The corporate bond
matured and was fully repaid during the year ended 31 March 2022.

The corporate bond was issued with coupon and effective interest rate of 4.50%
per annum and maturity date on 11 September 2023 to qualified investors
in the PRC on 11 September 2018. The corporate bond was listed on
Shanghai Stock Exchange Comprehensive Electronic Platform of Fixed
Income Securities on 27 September 2018. During the year ended 31
March 2022, the Group early redeemed the corporate bond in full.

The corporate bond was issued with coupon and effective interest rate of 4.38%
per annum through private placement in the PRC on 24 October 2018
and maturity date on 23 October 2023. The corporate bond is tradable on
China Interbank Market. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
Group early redeemed part of the corporate bond of RMB1.97 billion
(approximately HK$2.43 billion).

The corporate bond was issued with coupon and effective interest rate of 4.15%
per annum through private placement in the PRC on 7 December 2018
and maturity date on 6 December 2023. The corporate bond is tradable
on China Interbank Market. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
Group early redeemed the corporate bond in full.

The corporate bond was issued with coupon and effective interest rate of 3.38%
per annum through private placement in PRC on 10 March 2020 and
maturity date on 10 May 2025. The corporate bond is tradeable on China
Interbank Market.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 3. SRITREMEE @)
The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted NEBEEZERMNEZRR & E (I8
interest rates) on the Group's borrowings are as follows: ERETHORME) T :
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F

Effective interest rates per annum: B R FF =R
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEE 0.90%-4.99%  0.20%-4.80%
Floating-rate borrowings FEEE 0.88%-6.14%  0.59%-5.87%
The details of the Group’s borrowings which are denominated in NEEBBRZHBEETE 2 EK
currencies other than the functional currency of the respective group Doz BE¥sTEZBEF BRI W
entities are set out below: T :
Japanese Yen Euro dollar
usbD HK$ (*JPY") (“EURO")
H BT
EYH BT re @l (&l
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FET FHET FHET
equivalent equivalent equivalent equivalent
£E £E £E ZE
At 31 March 2022 JrAp =
=H=+—H 390,000 1,175,292 410,445 —
At 31 March 2021 MRZTB_Z—%F
=—A=+—H — 799,813 471,483 3,953
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. A
Convertible
Ordinary shares preference shares Total
ZER AR E LR @zt
No. of shares No. of shares
‘000 at ‘000 at
HK$0.01 HK$0.01
each HK$'000 each HK$'000 HK$'000
FREE0.01 FREE0.01
B TTH) ST
Tz & FET TR E FHET FHET
Authorised ETE 9,000,000 90,000 124,902 124,902 214,902
Issued and fully paid: BERITRER :
At 1 April 2020 R_ZE-_TFMA—H 5,218,563 52,186 — — 52,186
Shares repurchased (Note i) [E] B8 A% 10 (Bff 1) (6,194) (62) — — (62)
At 31 March 2021 RZE-Z—F
EF=+=F 5,212,369 52,124 — — 52,124
Issue of shares (Note i) TR D (BT &EN) 392,000 3,920 — — 3,920
Shares repurchased (Note i) o] B8 % {n (Bft 1) (164,033) (1,641) — = (1,641)
At 31 March 2022 i, ——
=A=+—H 5,440,336 54,403 — — 54,403

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2021/22 FEIRTIZIRERAT 2021/220 k&




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS =——

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ%E

32. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(0]

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Company

e B ISR R Y R

TE-F=A=+—HItFE

32. BRA )
B3 -

0] BE_T__FR_FT_—F=ZR=

repurchased its own shares through the Stock Exchange as follows: +—HIEEE  RNABEBEZATEE
HEGZ2RHHOT :
Price per share
BRER
No. of ordinary Aggregate
Month of repurchase shares of HK$0.01  Highest Lowest repurchase costs
Bl §& A 17 SREE0.01 5] f& A 25
BRTZEBRBY B& 55 ot
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT BT FHAT
For the year ended 31 March 2022 B8z-—T-C
ZA=t+—-HLEE
Shares cancelled before 31 March 2022 R=-F - —#=H=+—Hj7
ARG
May 2021 —ZE-_—%FHA 21,072,000 29.65 27.05 598,311
June 2021 —T-—%XA 1,537,000 23.98 23.75 36,846
July 2021 —E-_—%+A 6,493,800 24.60 23.25 155,924
August 2021 —E-—%N\A 8,832,400 24.95 21.70 202,424
September 2021 —Z-—%AhA 12,513,800 23.05 20.70 272,466
October 2021 —E-—%+1+A 18,125,600 23.00 18.46 370,870
68,574,600 1,636,841
Shares cancelled after 31 March 2022 R-ZF-Z—F=A=+—H#
i =100 808
November 2021 —E-—%+—-A 3,580,000 14.12 13.96 50,350
December 2021 —E-—%+=H 3,429,000 13.70 13.00 45,908
January 2022 —E-__%—A8 18,136,800 14.40 13.02 244,609
February 2022 —ZT-—%—H 24,291,200 14.08 12.42 313,137
March 2022 —E-__%=A8 46,021,600 12.74 11.36 556,260
95,458,600 1,210,264

The Company repurchased 164,033,200 shares during the year ended 31
March 2022, of which 68,574,600 shares were cancelled before 31 March
2022. The remaining 95,458,600 shares (the “Remaining Shares”) have
not yet been cancelled as at 31 March 2022 and are subsequently
cancelled on 26 April 2022. The relevant repurchase cost of the Remaining
Shares is netted off in share capital and share premium amounting to
HK$955,000 and HK$1,209,309,000 respectively as at 31 March 2022.

HE-Z-_—F=-A=1+—HILFE "
AN A ) @ 5 164,033,200 8% B 17 - & &
68,574,600 kMM T _—_F=fA=
+—BREH RS- —F=A=+
— B # 95,458,600 % B& 15 ([ #% T %
BDERFH HER=_T=_-FWA
ZHNBEEHE - BTN K AR B Bk
ARBRAEBRDRERESE R =

—H#=A=+—H%&%E5 5955000
78 7T % 1,209,309,000 7 7T ©
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-Z2-—#%
ZA=t-HLEE
September 2020 —E-TFNA 6,194,000 22.10 20.70 132,900
The above shares were cancelled upon repurchase. R AR (D PR O] BB RE S o

BT ¥R MR
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

On 22 April 2021, the Company entered into a placing agreement
pursuant to which 392,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each held as to
72,000,000 shares by Beijing Enterprises Holdings Company Limited and
as to 320,000,000 shares by China Gas Group Limited were placed to not
less than six independent professional, institutional and/or other investors
at a price of HK$29.75 per share. On the same date, the Company
entered into a subscription agreement pursuant to which the Company
issued a total of 392,000,000 new subscription shares of HK$0.01 each at
HK$29.75 per share to Beijing Enterprises Holdings Company Limited as
to 72,000,000 shares and China Gas Group Limited as to 320,000,000
shares. These new shares were issued under the general mandate granted
to the directors of the Company at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 20 August 2020 and rank pari passu with other shares
in all respects.

32. B )

BeE - ()

(ii)
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9. 75B T BRERE T HIPRAE
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B ARAFTURBERZE Bt A
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

33. RESERVES 33. f&1&
2022 2021
—E=-= —ET-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Translation reserve RERE
At the beginning of the reporting period R EE 1,322,706 (3,160,466)
Exchange difference arising on translation BEmMEALAZIEN =5 2,424,902 4,483,172
At the end of the reporting period AL E=R N 3,747,608 1,322,706
2022 2021
—_E—-— —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Investment revaluation reserve REE LS
At the beginning of the reporting period RIRE B (81,289) (82,920)
(Decrease) increase in fair value of equity BAFEFAEMEZEEAZ
instruments at FVTOCI BRATERFECHD) LN (241,836) 1,631
At the end of the reporting period R & B R (323,125) (81,289)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

34. DEFERRED TAXATION 34. IRERIE
The following is the deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised and NTRRAFERBEFEZEHER
movements thereon during the current and prior years. BELEHRBEAGBEE)ARBESE -
Fair value
adjustment on
property, plant
and equipment Impairment on
Accelerated  Revaluation and trade and other  Impairment on
tax oninvestment right-of-use Intangible receivables and property, plant
depreciation properties assets  Tax losses assets  contract assets and equipment Total
nE BER
REAR ESRNBER
MESE NE FREEEZ HEERBER 9% BER
il REEf ATESER HEFE HBVEE ANEERE RERE @3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR THEL TR
At 1 April 2020 RZE-ZENA-A 317,463 38,547 141,610 (32,146) 760,858 (233,724) (25,909) 966,699
Exchange adjustments EHAE 25477 1,712 9,908 (2,720) 18,685 (16,985) 2313 33,764
Charge (credi) to profit or loss for FRRERTINR GEA) (i)
the year (note 9) 26,664 5,636 (6,607)  (105,485) (35,152) (69,297) — (184,241)
Disposal and winding up of subsidiaries M E KB AT RMB AR EE - = = = (10,531) = = (10,531)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) W BB B2 7] (Mi5E37) - - - — 25,658 - - 25,658
At 31 March 2021 WZE--%=A=+-H 369,604 45,895 144911 (140,351) 759,518 (320,006) (28,222) 831,349
Exchange adjustments ELRE 13,588 1,465 5,256 (5,869) 28,529 (13,249 (1,045) 28,675
(Credit) charge to profit o loss for FRRERT GTA) M (F:£9)
the year (note 9) (8,146) 63,508 (9,017) (83,086) (34,452) (113,178) — (184,371)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) WENB A (H537) — = — = 66,783 = = 66,783
At 31 March 2022 RZE-Zf=A=1+-8 375,046 110,868 141,150 (229,306) 820,378 (446,433) (29,267) 742,436
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of MEBINGEEHERAEXMS ' & TiE

financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances for

ERBEERABE TEE-UTR
R BHREMS CBELEHAEHRD

financial reporting purposes: i
2022 2021
—EC-_F —_F_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Deferred tax assets RIETRIRE E (705,006) (488,579)
Deferred tax liabilities BT IBAE 1,447,442 1,319,928
742,436 831,349
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

34. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in
respect of profit earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008
onward. No deferred taxation has been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to
accumulated profits of the PRC entities amounting to
HK$63,881,826,000 (2021: HK$57,208,725,000) as the Group is able
to control the timing of reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Majority of the joint ventures and associates established in the PRC are
held directly by certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group
established in the PRC which are therefore not subject to the above-
mentioned withholding tax.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated unused tax
losses of HK$11,666,799,000 (2021: HK$10,479,095,000) available for
offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of HK$978,587,000 (2021: HK$622,586,000) of the tax
losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised for the remaining
estimated tax losses of HK$10,688,212,000 (2021: HK$9,856,509,000)
due to the uncertainty of future profits streams. Included in
unrecognised estimated tax losses are losses of HK$5,866,940,000 (2021:
HK$6,040,182,000) that will expire in 5 years from the year of
origination which is ranged from 2023 to 2026 (2021: 2022 to 2025).
Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

4. IEIEFRIE (@)

BECEMSHRE AT NF—
A—H® BHPENEBRRMRERZ
m F i E R 2B ABRTENR - 4R
UM BRELESPBECERT R
#63,881,826,00078 L ( = T = — 4F :
57,208,725,0007% 7T ) 2 & I = 58 {E
FEERBEREG RESANEBEREZES
BoOEm=msKE BER=ZER
AIRE R AR B R E o

REORPEKILNEERA REE
RAPBHASEEFERIZETE
EMBARERRSR BAUBAE®R
LA BN

RmEHR A&EETANKIHE
R E M 2B EFARE AP IEBIE
£11,666,799,000/8 L( = & = —
% :10,479,095,000% £ ) B
978,587,000/ mw( = T = — F:
622,586,000 JT ) 2 %t 18 /& 18 R
FEERBEEE AR KRK&EF K
BE A E HAMGE T IEEIE
10,688,212,000/8 ;o ( = T = — F:
9,856,509,0007% Jr ) I £ ## R & &
HEEE - RERGFHEBESF
PRERBBRFE_ZE_=FE2_%F
—RNE(ZDE - —F: DFE ==
E_ZT_AFEHM)EBASFRER
2.5,866,940,0005 L ( = & = — F:
6,040,182,000/%8 7T) & 18 - H A E518 7]
IR B o
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS

(A) Share option scheme of the Company

A share option scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution
passed on 20 August 2013 (the “Scheme”). The purpose of the
Scheme is to grant share options to eligible persons as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group. The Scheme will
expire on 19 August 2023.

The eligible persons as defined in the Scheme are individuals or
entities who or which may participate in the Scheme (“Eligible
Persons”). The following individuals or entities who in the
absolute discretion of the board of directors of the Company
have contributed to the Group on the basis of their contribution
to the development and growth of the Group may participate in
the Scheme:

(i) an eligible employee;
(i) anon-executive director and an independent non-executive
director of any member of the Group;

(i) an agent or a consultant of any member of the Group;

(iv)  asupplier of goods or services to any member of the Group
or any director or employee of such supplier;

(v)  a customer of any member of the Group or any director or
employee of such customer;

(vi)  person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support or any advisory, consultancy or
professional services to any member of the Group or any
director or employee of any such entity;

(vii)  a subsidiary of the Company; and

(viii) a company in which the Company holds, either directly or
indirectly, 20% or more of its equity interest.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(A) Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

The maximum number of shares available for subscription is as
follows:

(i) Subject to the Listing Rules, the maximum number of the
shares of the Company subject to outstanding unvested or
vested options under the Scheme and outstanding options
under other share option scheme of the Company (if any)
must not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at 20 August 2013 (“Overriding Limit”). No
options may be granted if it will result in this Overriding
Limit being exceeded.

(i) Subject to the Overriding Limit, paragraphs (iii) and (iv)
below, the total number of shares of the Company issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options must not
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at 20
August 2013 (subject to adjustment in the event of a
capitalisation issue or rights issue or open offer of shares of
the Company, or consolidation, sub-division or reduction of
share capital of the Company (other than an issue of shares
of the Company as consideration in respect of a
transaction)) (“Mandate Limit”). Unless approved pursuant
to paragraphs (iii) or (iv) below, no options may be granted
if such grant will result in the Mandate Limit being
exceeded. Options lapsed according to the terms of the
Scheme or other share option scheme(s) will not be
counted for the purpose of calculating the Mandate Limit.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(A) Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Subject to the Overriding Limit and an approval of
shareholders of the Company, the Company may from
time to time “refresh” a Mandate Limit provided that the
total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
limit as “refreshed” must not exceed 10% of the shares of
the Company in issue at the date of the resolution to
approve the “refreshed” limit (“Refresher Date”). Options
previously granted (whether outstanding, cancelled, lapsed
(according to the Scheme or the other share option
schemes of the Company) or exercised) will not be counted
for the purpose of calculating the limit as “refreshed”. The
Company can seek the approval of shareholders of the
Company to “refresh” a Mandate Limit any number of
times as the board of directors of the Company considers
appropriate. Unless approved pursuant to paragraph (iv)
below, the board of directors of the Company cannot grant
any options on or after the Refresher Date if such grant will
result in the Mandate Limit as refreshed being exceeded.
On 21 August 2019, the Company obtained the approval
of shareholders to refresh the Mandate Limit, which
represents 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company on that day.

Subject to the Overriding Limit and a specific approval of
shareholders of the Company, the board of directors of the
Company may grant options to Eligible Persons identified
by the board of directors of the Company. If the approval
of shareholders of the Company is obtained, the board of
directors of the Company may grant options to any Eligible
Person in respect of such number of shares of the
Company and on such terms as specified in that approval
of shareholders of the Company.

35. BRESTE R UKD AER
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

35. BRESTER UKD AER
AV B8 XX )

(A) Share option scheme of the Company (Continued) (A) &N T BIRETTE @)

Options granted under the Scheme must be taken up within 20
business days of the date of grant and pay the Company the
amount payable, if any, on acceptance of the option. Any option
under the Scheme which has vested, in respect of which all
conditions attaching to it have satisfied and which has not lapsed
may be exercised at any time, by no option may be exercised if
such exercise would, in the opinion of the board of directors of
the Company, be in breach of the Scheme, any applicable law,
rule or regulation or the terms and conditions of the relevant
option granted under the Scheme.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company,
and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant; (i) the average closing
price of the shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company’s share.

No share options were granted by the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2022. During the year ended 31 March 2021,
268,720,400 share options were granted by the Company to
certain directors of the Company, certain employees of the Group
and other eligible persons on 23 April 2020. The share options
are exercisable upon the satisfaction of some conditions (as
disclosed below). The estimated fair value of the options granted
on the date of grant is HK$1,973,000,000. No share options
were exercised for both years.
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BEFT20EEXHAEL » A&
MNEAE - FIBERSTTE AT BIA T
T2 5B &AM & /P& IR 1
B2 K B R R AR A HE o
ARREFERRTEHESS
BRZAE - EMERER R
Al RESARBZAE R THE
HA R B 5 R S AR 1 - RIS RT AT (8
HitE -

TEEAAARESFEE LT
BERTIERSE ()RR AR
MERTAMNKTE : ()kH
EEZRTHMASEZE XA K
FHUTE  Ri)A AR DB
HE -

REE-_ETE-_—_F=A=+—H
WEFE  ARAHERTFEMAE
BE - BHE—_E-_—F=H=+
—HLEFEE ARAAR—_ZT=F
FMA-_+=RRAAXAQRAET
EE AEEETEREREME
& & A T 1% 268,720,400 B
It o BEARAE AT R EK S T &M
BITFE(MTXFERE)  RiEH
BHELY 2EREMATAFE
71,973,000,0007% JT ° 7 M & F
B B EE A EREEITE -

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 474 B 75k M5

161



162

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(A) Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

The fair value of the share options granted on 23 April 2020 was
calculated by using the Binomial Options Pricing Model. The
variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of the
options are based on the directors’ best estimate. The value of a
share option varies with different variables of certain subjective
assumptions. The following assumptions were used to calculate
the fair value of the share options:

Closing price in valuation date HK$23.80
Exercise price HK$23.80
Expected life of option 6.7 years
Annualised validity 36%
Expected dividend yield 1.42%
Risk-free interest rate 0.47%
Exercise multiple 2.1-2.3
Post-vesting exit rate 8%-11%

The Group's estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest are based on an assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions at the end of each of the reporting
period. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the directors of
the Company, based on the actual financial performance for the
year ended 31 March 2022 and profit forecasts for the year
ending 31 March 2023 (2021: profit forecasts for the years
ending 31 March 2022 and 2023), consider that options granted
with non-market vesting conditions will not vest as the non-
market vesting conditions for exercising those share options are
not probable to be met. During the year ended 31 March 2022,
no share-based payment expense is recognised (2021: Nil).

As at 31 March 2022, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remaining outstanding under the
Scheme is 255,785,400 (2021: 268,720,400) representing 4.70%
(2021: 5.15%) of the shares of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED 35. BREGFERURMDARER

PAYMENTS (continued) EI/J Faﬁ S'Z (&)
(A) Share option scheme of the Company (Continued) (A) XATBEKRESTE @
The following table discloses details of the Company’s share TRIERERE(BEESR)TIEFEARN
options held by employees (including directors) and movements NABEREZFBEREE S =
in such holdings during the years ended 31 March 2022 and —ER_E-_—F=A=1+—H
2021: LFEREEREZEHEN
Number of
Vesting and Exercise ~shareoptions  Grated during  Transfer during ~Forfeited during Number of = Forfeited during ~ Tansfer during Number of share
exercisable price at1April theyearended theyearended theyearended  shareoptions theyearended theyearended  options at31
Date of grant period per share 2020  31March2021  31March2021 ~ 31March 2021 at31March2021  31March2022 31 March 2022 March 2022
RiHAH RZB-%F BE-S--F BE-S--F BECSC-F WoB--F= BECRCCF BECRCCF RCRCCE
BEAR B8R MA-B =A=+-B =A=t-B ZA=t-B A=t-BzB =ZA=t-8B =A=+-B ZA=+-Bz
ATEAR ﬁﬁi{% ZEREEE LFECRY LFECEE  LFEERW RERE LFEERK CEECHR  BREHE
HK
B
Held by directors of the Company
HARREERE
2342020 (Note) 2380 = 109,000,000 (1,000,000) = 108,000,000 = = 108,000,000
(B 3E)
Held by eligible employees
HRERERRE
234200 (Note) 280 — 158174400 = (5380600) 152,793,800 (7,250,400) (367600) 145,175,800
(B E)
Held by consultants
HRERE
2342020 (Note) 2380 = 1,546,000 1,000,000 = 2,546,000 (304,000) 367,600 2,609,600
(B3)
= 268,720,400 = (5,380,600) 263,339,800 (7,554,400) = 255,785,400
Weighted average exercise price — — — — — — — —_
NEFETER
Exercisable at the end of the year - - - - - - - -
ARERTE
Note: The vesting period of the options is from 23 April 2020 to 31 Mk BREYSBHAE-_S_TFIWA =
December 2026, and the options may be exercised on or after 15 +T=RE_ZE-_XRE+-_A=+—8"
October 2023. The exercise of the options will be subject to the mMERETIR _Z=E-_=+A+HH
satisfaction of either one of the conditions that (i) the Group's S 7 B 1T o BE RS HE AT R AR LA TN AE{A]
audited net profits after tax (before share-based payment expenses) — B ETE (VBIERER Y EE
and deduction of net profit after tax attributable to non-controlling BREAMERE  KReEBRHE T —
interests for any of the financial years ending on or before 31 —E=ZA=+—RHIPBREERZH
March 2022 based on the audited consolidated financial (E B I EE B 2 48 2= 15 i 18 4 1) (DA PR
statements of the Group amounts to HK$14 billion or above; or (ii) B AEMBBE YR &G IR EDS
if the above condition is not fulfilled, the options may be exercised FE (L 2 B4 1% 40 ) 12 ) 3 B 14018 78 7T 3%
if the Group's audited net profit after tax (before share-based PA |5 sy bt g R R - Bl i
payment expenses) and deduction of net profit after tax BEAER Y CRERSEAMERE K
attributable to non-controlling interests for the financial year SERBE-_ZTZ-_=F=A=+—H
ending 31 March 2023 based on the audited consolidated financial BN B 2 &/ A% B 14 48 F (LA BR 15
statements of the Group amounts to HK$15 billion or above. The BEBAE AT Sk I IR S E
options will lapse if none of the above conditions is satisfied within 2 T 1 46 F 18 ) 32 B 15018 7 7T 3k A
the validity period of the options. o RIS 62 B A) 4T {0 A IR o ik bt
PR R BB AR 2 B AR P AR - BUE
B HS & R
The options outstanding as at 31 March 2022 have a weighted RZTEZZF=RA=+—H8 "' #K1T
average remaining contractual life of 4.8 (2021: 5.8) years. FEHIRE 2 IE T R4 E DFERB48

F(ZZT——4F :58%F)-
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(B) Share award scheme of the Company

The Company adopted the share award scheme on 27 November
2020 (the “Share Award Scheme”). Pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme, the board of directors of the Company may from time
to time at its absolute discretion select eligible persons including
the directors, senior management and consultant of any member
of the Group and employee of any member of the Group to
participate in the Share Award Scheme and determine the shares
to be awarded. The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the adoption
date.

The board of directors of the Company shall not make any
further award of shares under the Share Award Scheme which
will result in the total nominal value of the aggregate of shares
awarded by the board of directors of the Company under the
scheme exceeding 5% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. For the avoidance of doubt, the awards lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Award Scheme will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the limit of the scheme.
The maximum number of shares which may be awarded to a
selected participant under the scheme shall not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company in any 12-month period.

Tricor Trust (Hong Kong) Limited was appointed as a trustee of
the Share Award Scheme. Subject to the terms and conditions of
the Share Award Scheme and the fulfilment of all vesting
conditions, the shares awarded held by the trustee on behalf of a
selected participant shall vest in such selected participant and the
trustee shall transfer the shares to such selected participant.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2021/22 FREIMASIERARAT 20212281 15H %

35. BRESTE R UKD AER
AV B8 XX )

(B) AT WD EE T

KRR -_EBE_TF+—HA=+
+ AERM G R T8 ([R5
BhaT &) - BB D EE A
AAREZEZCA AR EMNBR
THRERBEAEETMAKE QA
WEE SREERERER U
MAEBEEAKERARNEER
HR% (5 5B AT B K E A IR 8
B BR (D o PR 1D SR B AT &) B IR
BHARI10FRAER L AR -

i3 — PR R B & A
ARIEFERBZLTERB K
NERBEBERARATRKD
BITRANS%  MIARAES
ETBE—FTROUBRBRD -5
ERRA Rt EZAEANRE
Ms BEZ2EERBE RS MR
E B B2 =t &1 RSN Y B2 R
TEFEER- - RIEZ S E
BENZsRkHBB M SEBBAR
A RMER 1218 A MRS BEITRA
Z1% °

Tricor Trust (Hong Kong) Limited 2
BEZERKND ZEEHXFE
A o PR P A% 10 22 B 5T B &9 {5 3K
REGARBITFE SRR GMHT
% BXTEARREEZ2HEER
EHERERNDESRE TZEE
2HEERITIABBRNDEET
HELHE o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
A BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED 35. BREGFERURMDARER

PAYMENTS (continued) Elﬂ F;'ﬁ E'Z (#8)

(B) Share award scheme of the Company (Continued) (B) AT RYIR 10 BT El (@)
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the trustee purchased Hz—_E-_—_F#=A=+—H
15,784,800 shares (2021: Nil) of the Company with aggregate IEFE - STEARBR D ZE T
purchase costs (including transaction costs thereon) of 2|t T %5 i B A X 515,784,800
approximately HK$399,357,000 under the Share Award Scheme RO (ZE_—F: &) L7
from the market as follows: BERA(BEBEIZNAE) DR

399,357,000 7T - #FIFMAT :

Number of Price per share Aggregate
ordinary shares ERE® purchase
of HK$0.01 Highest Lowest costs

Month of purchase B E B © SREEO0.01
BLzEBRAR BE R
(g2 B BI1K st
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT I FAT
April 2021 —E_-—FAH 3,000,000 32.20 31.80 96,289
June 2021 —E=-—%FKXA 2,040,800 23.85 24.25 49,174
July 2021 —ZE-—F+tA 8,101,000 24.55 23.15 191,723
August 2021 —E-—FN\A 2,643,000 23.65 22.85 62,171
15,784,800 399,357
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS (Continued)

(B) Share award scheme of the Company (Continued)

On 8 October 2021, China Gas Capital Management Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the total
return swap transaction (the “TRS Transaction”) with Nomura
Singapore Limited (the “TRS Counterparty”) in order to hedge its
exposure to future share price appreciation in connection with
the Share Award Scheme. Please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 8 October 2021 for details. In connection
with the termination of the TRS Transaction, any shares acquired
by the TRS Counterparty may be sold to the Trustee. As informed
by TRS Counterparty, during the year ended 31 March 2022, the
TRS Counterparty purchased 37,000,000 shares aggregate
purchase costs (including transaction costs thereon) of
approximately HK$685,763,000 as follows:

35. mR T EIRURG A ER

AV B8 XX )

(B) &AM EEETE (@)

R-ZB-_—F+ANR " ARF
ME2ENBRARTBRMRRERE
I A B A 7] EZNomura Singapore
Limited ([#2 HAZX 5 ¥ F 1) 5T 2 &
EHREBAZZ((HEHRF]) B
EE AR HD ZE BT SR
RIREAHENRR - 515720
AR BYA_ZT-_—4%1+A
NBZRE R IEEHAZSMm
FoREEXGHEFREMERD
EFMBENRG BEHAXSY
FEM RBEE-_ZE-_—_F=A
=ST-HALFE EHRXSHF
% & 37,000,000 % % 19 2 #8588 B
KEA(BEEBRZKAE) DR
685,763,000 LA ¢

Number of Price per share Aggregate
ordinary shares BRE® purchase
of HK$0.01 Highest Lowest costs
Month of purchase B E A % SREEO0.01
BTZEBRR BERA
IR & BB& RIE Bt
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT BT FHET
October 2021 —E-_—%+A 22,244,200 19.41 18.51 419,413
November 2021 —T-—%+—H 14,755,800 18.99 17.94 266,350
37,000,000 685,763

No share was awarded by the Company to any of the eligible
persons under the Share Award Scheme for both years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

36. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTEREST IN
SUBSIDIARIES

(A) Acquisition of additional interest in

subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022

On 9 March 2022, the Company and Mr. Liu Ming Hui (Chairman
and Managing Director) and Mr. Huang Yong (Executive Director)
(together, the “Sellers”) entered into an acquisition agreement,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase, and the
Sellers agreed to sell, shares of Electronic Business Development
Company Limited (”Electronic Business”), representing in
aggregate 20% of the total issued shares of Electronic Business,
at a cash consideration of HK$3 billion. Electronic Business was a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company in which it held
51% equity interests before the acquisition. Upon completion of
the acquisition on 10 March 2022, the Group holds 71% equity
interests in Electronic Business. Electronic Business and its
subsidiaries (the “Electronic Business Group”) are principally
engaged in providing the sales and services in respect of products
for comprehensive household scenarios, operating online and
offline grid-based private domains, offering smart city integrated
management and delivering low carbon digital-twin technology
services. In addition, the Sellers have granted a put option to the
Company pursuant to which the Sellers agreed to purchase the
sale shares (or a portion thereof) of Electronic Business from the
Company upon occurrence of certain events at a consideration of
HK$3.36 billion in cash (or a portion thereof if the Group does
not exercise the option in respect of 100% of the sale shares).
Details of the acquisition are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 10 March 2022.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE T - —F=A=+—HILFE

36. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTEREST IN
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(A) Acquisition of additional

(B)

interest in
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022 (Continued)

The acquisition did not involve in a change in control over
Electronic Business. The difference between the consideration
paid and the carrying amount of the additional interests acquired
by the Group of HK$2,816,726,000 was debited to equity as
capital reserve during the year ended 31 March 2022.

The Group also entered into sale and purchase agreements with
the respective holders of the remaining equity interests of certain
subsidiaries in the PRC for a total consideration of
HK$325,453,000. The difference between the consideration paid
and the carrying amount of the additional interests acquired by
the Group of HK$4,540,000 was credited to equity as capital
reserve during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Acquisition of additional interest in
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2021

The Group entered into sale and purchase agreements with the
respective holders of the remaining equity interests of certain
subsidiaries in the PRC for a total consideration of
HK$67,607,000. The difference between the consideration paid
and the carrying amount of the additional interests acquired by
the Group of HK$76,972,000 was credited to equity as capital
reserve during the year ended 31 March 2021.

36. W HE BB 1 B 2R

SMRE 5 (s

(A RBE=-Z=Z
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(A) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022

The Group had the following acquisition of subsidiaries during
the year ended 31 March 2022:

In June 2020, a subsidiary of the Company entered into an
acquisition agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group acquired 80% equity interest
of EEFHMRERART ("#EEFHE") at a cash
consideration of RMB32,000,000 (approximately
HK$38,095,000). The acquisition was completed in April
2021, and the control in #E@HE was passed to the
Group. #EEAH)H is principally engaged in sales of natural
gas and gas pipeline construction business. The directors of
the Company consider that the acquisition will bring about
a further synergy effect of the existing business of the
Group.

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March
2022 was a loss of HK$4,804,000 attributable to the
acquisition of #E@AJE. Revenue of #@ A )E included in
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$29,844,000.

37. W B 2 A

A REBEEZZE--_F=ZH=
+—BHLEFEEBREKN
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(A) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022 (Continued)

(ii)

In December 2020, a subsidiary of the Company entered
into an acquisition agreement with an independent third
party, pursuant to which the Group acquired 100% equity
interest of ERNFRRBIRRER AT ("EHFHEE") at a
cash consideration of RMB81,000,000 (approximately
HK$96,429,000). The acquisition was completed in April
2021, and the control in EB3 &k was passed to the
Group. BBy EARAE is principally engaged in sales of
natural gas and gas pipeline construction business. The
directors of the Company consider that the acquisition will
bring about a further synergy effect of the existing business
of the Group.

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March
2022 was a loss of HK$687,000 attributable to the
acquisition of BB $& % fE. Revenue of E3I g3k included
in the Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$18,192,000.

37. WEBMT B 2 =) )
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(A) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022 (Continued)

(iii)

In April 2021, a subsidiary of the Company entered into an
acquisition agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group acquired 100% equity
interest of EFETAER(ICAARAR ("EIEZE") at a
cash consideration of RMB23,959,000 (approximately
HK$29,579,000). The acquisition was completed in June
2021, and the control in #8778 was passed to the
Group. $FIEZRIE is principally engaged in sales and
transportation of LPG business. The directors of the
Company consider that the acquisition will bring about a
further synergy effect of the existing business of the Group.

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March
2022 was a loss of HK$1,604,000 attributable to the
acquisition of #FIBZ23&. Revenue of HIRZZE included in
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$13,171,000.

ECE - HFZA=+—HItFE

37. WEEBMT B 2 =] )
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+—BHLEFEEBREKN
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(A) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022 (Continued)

(iv)

In January 2020, a subsidiary of the Company entered into
an acquisition agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group acquired 51% equity interest
of SEFMAAREERAT ("FEFM") at a cash
consideration of RMB74,833,000 (approximately
HK$92,386,000). The acquisition was completed in April
2021, and the control in FEE&H#X was passed to the
Group. & is principally engaged in sales of natural
gas and provision of heating and related construction
business. The directors of the Company consider that the
acquisition will bring about a further synergy effect of the
existing business of the Group.

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March
2022 was a loss of HK$20,194,000 attributable to the
acquisition of & & #A. Revenue of FEF A included in
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$112,760,000.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #H=

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(A) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022 (Continued)

(v)

In January 2020, a subsidiary of the Company entered into
an acquisition agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group acquired 100% equity
interest of L R REZFAERICEBR AT ("dbRmEE")
at a cash consideration of RMB4,600,000 (approximately
HK$5,679,000). The acquisition was completed in April

TR

2021, and the control in bR E3E was passed to the
Group. JbFRFEZ is principally engaged in sales of
natural gas and gas pipeline construction business. The
directors of the Company consider that the acquisition will
bring about a further synergy effect of the existing business

of the Group.

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March
2022 was a loss of HK$3,220,000 attributable to the
acquisition of 4k R Z . Revenue of 4t R E # included
in the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022

amounted to HK$911,000.

TE-F=A=+—HItFE
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. WA B A B @)

(A) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022 (Continued)

(vi) In April 2021, a subsidiary of the Company entered into an
acquisition agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group acquired 80% equity interest
of EZTMATLRRARAT (WELFR") at a cash
consideration of RMB22,400,000 (approximately
HK$27,654,000). The acquisition was completed in
December 2021, and the control in JEZH A was passed
to the Group. JEZ A is principally engaged in engaged
in sales of LPG business. The directors of the Company
consider that the acquisition will bring about a further
synergy effect of the existing business of the Group.

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March
2022 was a loss of HK$270,000 attributable to the
acquisition of YEZH A, Revenue of JEZeH A included in
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$11,592,000.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(A) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022 (Continued)

(vii) In January 2021, a subsidiary of the Company entered into
an acquisition agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group acquired 51% equity interest
of 48f%4 2= at a cash consideration of RMB117,000,000
(approximately HK$144,444,000). The acquisition was
completed in December 2021, and the control in 42f5& 2=
was passed to the Group. 4[5 2% is principally engaged
in sales of natural gas and gas pipeline construction
business. The directors of the Company consider that the
acquisition will bring about a further synergy effect of the
existing business of the Group.

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March
2022 was a profit of HK$8,843,000 attributable to the
acquisition of #3f5% 2. Revenue of #2f5%& 2= included in
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$140,241,000.

The above transactions have been accounted for as acquisition of
business using the acquisition method. The directors of the
Company consider that each of the above acquisitions is not
individually material considering the amount of consideration
transferred, fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
and goodwill arising thereon. As such, information about the
acquisitions has been disclosed in aggregate below:
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. WEEKMT B A B @)

(A) Acquisition of business through acquisition A REBEZE-_ZE-_—_F#=8H=
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March T+ —HILEFEFEZEBWEKH
2022 (Continued) EPNGIILE S 3 )
Consideration transferred (Continued) EEERE @

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the REBREANEBRRZFK
respective dates of acquisition recognised by the Group: BEELAREABEZAYE:
HK$'000
FHT
Property, plant and equipment L 369,548
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 31,981
Intangible assets BEEE 267,131
Inventories FE 20,060
Trade and other receivables B 5 FE W AR TE & H th fE W AR 18 67,062
Contract assets EREE 10,473
Bank balances and cash RITHEFRER 61,776
Trade and other payables B 5 e IR IR K H 4th FE < AR IR (171,061)
Contract liabilities AHEE (14,068)
Deferred tax liabilities EIEFRIBE A G (66,783)
576,119
Goodwill arising on acquisition WiEEMEEZEE
HK$'000
FAT
Consideration transferred EEERE 434,266
Add: Non-controlling interests N SERE R R 211,103
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired B BRI EAFEEZ ATE (576,119)
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries WEHNBARZEE 69,250
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. WEEF B A 3] (@)

(A) Acquisition of business through acquisition A REBEZE-_ZE-_—_F#=8H=

of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022 (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition (Continued)

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of #&) /R, BBk SRk,
HEHRK, ERREE and 4&2FB4E&%FE was attributed to the
anticipated profitability of its sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction business and a further synergy effect of the existing
business of the Group. The goodwill arising on the acquisition of
AR 0E and JEZFHR was attributed to the anticipated
profitability of its sales of LPG business and a further synergy
effect of the existing business of the Group.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests in #E&FE, FEHTMR, EL TR
and #BF54Z recognised at the respective dates of the
acquisition were measured by reference to the respective
proportionate shares of recognised amounts of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries and amounted to HK$211,103,000 in
aggregate.

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE

ZE-F=A=+—HItFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(B) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2021

The Group had the following acquisition of subsidiaries during
the year ended 31 March 2021:

In April 2020, a subsidiary of the Company entered into an
acquisition agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group acquired 51% equity interest
of $EE E &7 % at a cash consideration of RMB51,000,000
(approximately HK$55,738,000). The acquisition was
completed in April 2020, and the control in $8E B &R %
was passed to the Group. EEEE&ZZ is principally
engaged in sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction business. The directors of the Company
consider that the acquisition will bring about a further
synergy effect of the existing business of the Group.

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 March 2021
was a loss of HK$109,000 attributable to the acquisition of
BB &%, Revenue of FHEE&HZZ included in the
Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021
amounted to HK$150,756,000.
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(B) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2021 (Continued)

(ii)

In August 2020, a subsidiary of the Company entered into
an acquisition agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group acquired 100% equity
interest of BA%/IIRERARBRAAE ("BAEEJIEE") at a
cash consideration of RMB43,300,000 (approximately
HK$47,322,000). The acquisition was completed in August
2020, and the control in ERER)IIGE was passed to the
Group. EtE2)I18E is principally engaged in sales of natural
gas and gas pipeline construction business. The directors of
the Company consider that the acquisition will bring about
a further synergy effect of the existing business of the
Group.

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 March 2021
was a loss of HK$2,110,000 attributable to the acquisition
of ERE%)I|8E. Revenue of Ei8%)I|8E included in the Group's
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted to
HK$27,363,000.
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(B) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2021 (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

In September 2020, a subsidiary of the Company entered
into an acquisition agreement with an independent third
party, pursuant to which the Group acquired 100% equity
interest of ERYEEFEA at a cash consideration of
RMB68,000,000 (approximately HK$77,714,000). The
acquisition was completed in September 2020, and the
control in B EALEA was passed to the Group. FPif Sk
FE4 is principally engaged in sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction business. The directors of the
Company consider that the acquisition will bring about a
further synergy effect of the existing business of the Group.

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 March 2021
was a profit of HK$47,204,000 attributable to the
acquisition of FPi &£ 4. Revenue of BRI & #F A4 included
in the Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021
amounted to HK$155,700,000.

In September 2020, a subsidiary of the Company entered
into an acquisition agreement with an independent third
party, pursuant to which the Group acquired 100% equity
interest of #H48% % at a cash consideration of
RMB48,500,000 (approximately HK$55,429,000). The
acquisition was completed in September 2020, and the
control in %484 2 was passed to the Group. 4842 is
principally engaged in sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction business. The directors of the Company
consider that the acquisition will bring about a further
synergy effect of the existing business of the Group.

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 March 2021
was a profit of HK$39,452,000 attributable to the
acquisition of %84 2. Revenue of %842 included in
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021
amounted to HK$148,105,000.

~—~
o
~
oA

(iii)

(iv)
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(B) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2021 (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

In December 2020, a subsidiary of the Company entered
into an acquisition agreement with an independent third
party, pursuant to which the Group acquired 60% equity
interest of FRE#JR at a cash consideration of
RMB15,000,000 (approximately HK$17,143,000). The
acquisition was completed in December 2020, and the
control in ERZEEJR was passed to the Group. EHEZEETR is
principally engaged in sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction business. The directors of the Company
consider that the acquisition will bring about a further
synergy effect of the existing business of the Group.

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 March 2021
was a loss of HK$1,472,000 attributable to the acquisition
of LR, Nil revenue generated by BZEEJR for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

In November 2020, a subsidiary of the Company entered
into an acquisition agreement with an independent third
party, pursuant to which the Group acquired 100% equity
interest of &JBTE at a cash consideration of
RMB11,750,000 (approximately HK$13,988,000). The
acquisition was completed in November 2020, and the
control in EJNBTE was passed to the Group. EJIETE is
principally engaged in sales of LPG business. The directors
of the Company consider that the acquisition will bring
about a further synergy effect of the existing business of
the Group.

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 March 2021
was a profit of HK$739,000 attributable to the acquisition
of EJBT /. Revenue of EBT/ included in the Group's
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted to
HK$1,504,000.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(B) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2021 (Continued)

The above transactions have been accounted for as acquisition of
business using the acquisition method. The directors of the
Company consider that each of the above acquisitions is not
individually material considering the amount of consideration
transferred, fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
and goodwill arising thereon. As such, information about the
acquisitions has been disclosed in aggregate below:

37. WEE M B 2 A )
B) REBE=-ZE=-—F=ZH=

+—BHLEFEEBREKN
EPNGIILE S 3 )

PR B TEARBEIERFED
WEAR - ARAEERR Z
BEFMEZRNRESE KB
MEERAENAENATE
ARmBEEENEE  E{IA
WiEER X NBEKX - AL A
AZEFRBNENEE TXXHE
TTIEAARE

Consideration transferred EEERE
HK$'000
TFET
Cash He 267,334

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the

AEENHEREERRAZIMEEE

respective dates of acquisition recognised by the Group: ERFEEaEATE:

HK$'000

FAT
Property, plant and equipment W - BB RE 468,310
Right-of-use assets CREEE 14,757
Intangible assets EREE 102,634
Inventories FE 3,213
Trade and other receivables B 5 e WAR TE K E 4th fE W AR IR 51,826
Bank balances and cash RITHETFRES 16,894
Trade and other payables B 5 FE T IR TE K H {th FE - BR 1R (332,117)
Contract liabilities AHAEE (22,917)
Deferred tax liabilities BEETFRIBEAE (25,658)

276,942
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. WEEF B A 3] (@)

B) REBE=-ZE=-—F=ZH=
+—BHLEFEEBREKN

(B) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March

2021 (Continued) BARWBER @
Goodwill arising on acquisition EREMEE 2ER
HK$'000
F#& T
Consideration transferred EEERE 267,334
Add: Non-controlling interests N SRR R 56,295
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired o TR # R FEE 2 AT E (276,942)
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries, WENB AR ZEE  IRIKE
net of gain on acquisition of a subsidiary — M B A Az W 46,687
Analysed by: BUTEEDN:
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries WEHRB AR A2 46,809
Gain on acquisition of a subsidiary Wk — R B A Rz e (122)
46,687

A gain on acquisition of a subsidiary of HK$122,000 was
recognised in profit or loss (included in other gains and losses) for
the year ended 31 March 2021.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of $EZ & & 5%, B &4
A, %842 and ZREJR was attributed to the anticipated
profitability of its sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction business and a further synergy effect of the existing
business of the Group. The goodwill arising on the acquisition of
& N7 was attributed to the anticipated profitability of its sales
of LPG business and a further synergy effect of the existing
business of the Group.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

e —MHEQEZ KR
122,000 TERBE T = —
FZA=Zt+—HILLFEBIZP®
R AH MW R EE) -

AUBEEESZL BWHEH
E-HBEBNRREERMES
ZEEBDERERAREE LR
REBRIEB BB E
ARBAEEREXRBERES
15 R 2% FE = DX W i & M BT = 1 22
EZREDERER A HRE
BZRBMANMENARBAREHE
RAEXRBEREZ HFEIME -

BHYENZRABENEEZD
BRI MBIE °
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(B) Acquisition of business through acquisition

(Q

of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2021 (Continued)

Non-controlling interests

% and REHIR
recognised at the respective dates of the acquisition were
measured by reference to the respective proportionate share of
recognised amounts of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries and
amounted to HK$56,295,000 in aggregate.

The non-controlling interests in (EZEE &%

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition

37. WEBMT B 2 =) )
B) REBE=-ZE=-—F=ZH=

+—BHLEFEEBREKN
EPNGIILE S 3 )

FERER

REBREEERZEEES R
ZRREEBERIFEERERLR
ZHEMBAGFEENSHE
HERReBELAFEAHRE
56,295,0007% JT, ©

W\

HWEmMELE 2B ER
= BE

HK$'000

FHT

Bank balances and cash acquired Fri s 2 IR1THEF R R 16,894

Cash consideration ReERE (267,334)

Deposit paid BEffiEe 95,541

Unsettled consideration (included in trade and REEREGIAEZENEER

other payables) H b fE T BRIE) 20,662

(134,237)

Acquisition of assets through acquisition of C© RBEEZ-_E_-_—_F="3=

subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March +—BIEFEEFEBWEK
2022 BARIWEBEE

In June 2021, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in Lofty
Intellect Limited and Nova Gas Limited (the “Nova Group”) which
holds 49% equity interest in 1t REEMEL A MR AR AR ("1t
mEEH”) at a total cash consideration of RMB483,660,000
(approximately HK$580,566,000). 1t3Z#E)H is engaged in the
natural gas and gas pipeline construction business. The directors
of the Company consider that the acquisition will bring about a

further synergy effect of the existing business of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-_Z-—HF=-A=+—HILFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. WEEHY B A =] )

(C) Acquisition of assets through acquisition of C RBEE-—_ZE-_—_F#=H=
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March +—HIEFEEFEBWEKH
2022 (Continued) BAaWEEE @
Consideration transferred EEENRE

HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration HeERE 580,566
Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of AREBRWEBAERAZFWEEE R
acquisition recognised by the Group: FrffEaEAFE :
HK$'000
T T
Interest in associate REEE AR 2 = 578,126
Bank balances and cash RITHEFRIAS 47,184
Trade and other payables B 5 e R I K H 4th FE - AR IR (44,744)
580,566
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition WEmMEE 2R £ R E
F R
HK$'000
FH&T
Bank balances and cash acquired Tz iRTTEFERE S 47,184
Cash consideration HeRE (580,566)
Unsettled consideration (included in trade and RBEEREGIAEZEMNEER
other payables) H b FE T BRIE) 201,525
(331,857)
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(C) Acquisition of assets through acquisition of
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022 (Continued)

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition (Continued)

The acquisition was completed with significant influence
exercised in 46 S EE5H in June 2021. The initial accounting for this
acquisition has been determined provisionally, awaiting the
receipt of professional valuations on certain underlying assets and
liabilities of the acquired business. During the year ended 31
March 2022, Nova Group and JbiRZEH contributed to the
Group's revenue and profit of HK$nil and HK$55,527,000.

38. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
amounts due to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries, lease liabilities
and bank and other borrowings disclosed in notes 29, 30 and 31
respectively, and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital disclosed in note 32, reserves and
accumulated profits as disclosed in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

The management reviews the capital structure by considering the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the management, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

30. €T H

Categories of financial instruments SRTEER
2022 2021
—E=-= — T —=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets EtRMEE
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BEATFEFAEMEEEAZ
g AR T A 738,064 639,837
Held-for-trading investments BIEEBERE 104,638 686,629
Amortised cost B 5 AR 24,050,139 20,500,743
Financial liabilities THREE
Amortised cost B8R 77,187,665 68,553,094

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity instruments at
FVTOCI, held-for-trading investments, trade and other receivables,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, amounts due from
associates and joint ventures, trade and other payables, amounts due to
associates and joint ventures, amounts due from/to non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries and bank and other borrowings. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risks
Currency risk

The Group collects most of its revenue in RMB and most of the
expenditures as well as capital expenditures are also denominated in
RMB. However, the Group has certain bank balances and bank and
other borrowings that are not denominated in functional currency of
the respective group entities. The appreciation or devaluation of RMB
against foreign currencies may have positive or negative impact on the
results of operations of the Group.

MEEREREBERBX

AEEZETZSRTABERAYF
B ARMEEBRAZERALIA  #
FEERE BEHRUEEBEREME
WHRIE - EERRTER RTEF
EHe REBZERRRAERAR
BH-EBEHREMNERRAREMENEKER:
ENBERRREERAREA K
W HE B A B R AR A I 0 BA
RETEREMERE -ZFEERTAZ
HBEREREM ERE - TXEIEZ
ST ABRRERRARNME
BExSRBRIHR BEEEBEENRE
BZERR  AERISNAREE
TEE 2k -

™ 5 & k2
5 E R

REBAMLA WAL AARE I
MARMORAZRERNAI TG UAAR
BetE- T8 AEETFEE TR
BIEARRITREMEEL IEAIEH
SEERBNIREEESE - ARKR
SNEFEEAREAEGEHARE 2K
LXREBNLIEAKEETE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cContinued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Market risks (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

As at end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the Group's
material monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign
currency are as follows:

39. €/t T B @)

B E ke S B AR BUK (@)

™ 15 & B2 (#)
B R B (%)

RBEHR REBRINEFEZE
EEREERBBEZREENT

Assets Liabilities
BE a1&
2022 2021 2022 2021
—ZE2-= B =—Z=E=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FERT FAT
usb ETT 102,681 89,612 390,000 —
HK$ BT 364,780 241,841 1,175,292 799,813
JPY H — — 410,445 471,483
EURO BT — — — 3,953
Intra-group balances S£ER D EE AR
Assets Liabilities
= a1&
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E2-= B =—Z=EBE=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FERT FAET
usb ETT — — 6,082,462 1,057,311
HK$ T — — 6,724,357 3,954,032
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 Ek?t

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2021: 5%)
increase and decrease in the functional currency of the relevant group
entity against respective foreign currencies. 5% (2021: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of
the reporting period for a 5% (2021: 5%) change in foreign currency
rates. A positive number below indicates a decrease in post-tax profit
where the USD, HK$, JPY weakens against the functional currency of
the relevant group entity. For a 5% (2021: 5%) strengthening of USD,
HK$, JPY and EURO, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the result for the year and the balance below would be negative.

39.

FE TR

T _FZA=t—HILFE

ol =N

HEEREBEEREREE @)

™ 15 & B2 (#)
B E R (E)

BRE D
T%%&tZK%l?ME%%l%ﬁ@mm
BEEBESINERBENRIZESS (=
Z—F5%) ZBBEAE - 5%(_?_
—F:5%)AMETEETEABRILR
3 ANEE [ B Fﬁﬂ%Z;ﬁzWFtbf IS
=B 1B B O [ R A] R = B i
T2 HERED WEE%%TE
INZHNEETEEKIER - WHINEE
RZ25%(ZT=Z—F:5%) @ FHRN K
LSHARAEREBRE - TR RZER
EHWETL - BTk BELEBEE
ERNMEERRE REgENE
BT WET B HE R
TTHESR(ZTE = —F :5%) K &
ﬂﬁﬁ%zg%mama&mzs;;-
MmEgHEEaE-

Decrease in post-tax profit
for the year

FEBRREERRD

2022 2021

—E=-= =z
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
USD impact ELRE 238,867 36,289
HK$ impact BILHE 282,557 169,200
JPY impact HE 2 15,392 17,681
EURO impact BT s 2 — 148

In management'’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of EEERA BANFEREAERI TEE
the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not MLERZERE WHERE DT r

reflect the exposure during the year.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. €@ T A

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group manages its interest rate exposure based on interest rate
level as well as potential impact on the Group'’s financial position arising
from volatility.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk mainly in relation to
amounts due from associates and joint ventures, lease liabilities and
fixed-rate bank and other borrowings (see notes 26, 30 and 31 for
details of these balances respectively).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk mainly in
relation to variable-rate bank balances and floating-rate bank and other
borrowings (see notes 28 and 31 for details of bank balances and
borrowings respectively). It is the Group's policy to keep its borrowings
at floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate
risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to
interest rate risk for both floating-rate bank and other borrowings,
together with the interest capitalised to construction in progress at the
end of the reporting period. Floating-rate bank balances have not been
included in the sensitivity analysis as the management considers that
the interest rate would not fluctuate significantly in the near future and
therefore the financial impact to the Group is not significant. A change
of 100 basis points (2021: 100 basis points) was applied to the yield
curves and interest rate on both floating-rate bank and other
borrowings, together with the interest capitalised to construction in
progress. The applied change is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. If the
interest rate of variable rate bank and other borrowings had been 100
basis points (2021: 100 basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, after taking into account the interest capitalised to
construction in progress, the Group's post-tax profit for the year, after
taking amount of interest capitalised to construction in progress, would
decrease/increase by HK$326,486,000 (2021: HK$260,509,000).
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)
Equity price risk

The Group's certain equity instruments at FVTOCI and held-for-trading
investments are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting
period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity price risk. The
management manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk profiles.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risks of listed equity instrument at the reporting
date. A 10% (2021: 10%) change is used when reporting equity price
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in equity
price.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, if the market bid prices of the listed
investments had been 10% (2021: 10%) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year
would increase/decrease by HK$8,737,000 (2021: HK$57,334,000) and
the Group’s investment revaluation reserve will increase/decrease by
HK$13,577,000 (2021: HK$5,465,000) respectively. This is mainly
attributable to the changes in fair values of the listed held-for-trading
investments and equity instruments at FVTOCI respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on
their contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group.
The Group's credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade
receivables, contract assets, other receivables and deposits, amounts
due from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries, amounts due from
associates and joint ventures, pledged bank deposits and bank balances.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts
with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade receivables
based on provision matrix and contract assets based on collective
assessment.

Deposits and other receivables and amounts due from non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries

The Group has taken into account the economic outlook of the
industries in which the counterparties operate, and concluded that
there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The ECL on deposits and other receivables and amounts
due from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries are assessed based on
12m ECL and are considered to be insignificant.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Amounts due from associates and joint ventures

The Group has assessed the financial position of associates and joint
ventures as well as the economic outlook of the industry in which the
associates and joint ventures operate, and concluded that there has
been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The
ECL on amounts due from associates and joint ventures are assessed
based on 12m ECL and are considered to be insignificant.

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are
reputable banks in the PRC or banks with high credit-ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies and the Group has limited
exposure to any single financial institution.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group performed impairment assessment on
bank balances by reference to the average loss rates for respective
credit rating grades published by international credit-rating agencies
and concluded that the ECL is insignificant.

As at 31 March 2022, other than the concentration of credit risk of an
amount due from a joint venture of HK$3,732,176,000 (2021:
HK$1,605,664,000) which is of trade nature, the Group does not have
other significant concentration of credit risk on trade receivables, with
exposure spread over a number of industrial, commercial and household
customers. In order to minimise the credit risk of those receivables, the
management of the Group closely monitors the recoverability of the
amount due. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

39.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the

following categories:

Internal credit

39. €/t T B @)

B E ke S B AR BUK (@)

= B & b &R E FE 1 @)

TRRBIAK :

Trade receivables/

A& B A B S B R B A B RE fh A

Other financial assets/

rating Description Contract assets other items
EZEWERE HthemEE
A ERIE ERTR Hut BHEE HfE B
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
1K 2 B2 HFFEAORRE ITEREMASHR FEHHEERHEEES REAERGSEER
B8R RIA B—YEEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
but usually settle in full not credit-impaired
EREE EHALERIBEMNR BEREE2 HFEAAHEBHEES NREAAEHEEESRE
BER B—IEEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
RAF BEEARRLE FERBEANSGE FEHEBEHEEE FEHHEHEES
S #E SR & TR ER 15 B9 & K hn Bl BE—IEEERE B—YEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
e ERBERAEELREERE FEHEREAPEES GFEYEEHEERS
B—EERE BE—EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
€ EREBRXRRAEBEABARENTBEE KBS HMHE TRIE 2 3

% B i A S B W B SRR E A 2O SE
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. €@ T B
Financial risk management objectives and R EEEERBE®E
poIicies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EE R M &R E 14 @)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial TRFIMANEFBEETEHEZEESRE
assets and contract assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: AN EREENLS ,“’\] BEFHEE®
EERR
External  Internal
credit credit
Notes rating rating  12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
HBEE ABEE
M R TR REARFERBANCESE REAE
2022 2021
—EBEoC-F Z—ZEBE-—%
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FTHER FHAT

Financial assets at amortised cost

RBHBAAENEREE
Trade receivables — contracts with customers 25 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 6,623,062 6,470,529
BESRBEE—RFAH TEA (s FEPEBRHEEERBEER)
Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 129,265 118,534
FEBREBREEHE(BEEERE)
6,752,327 6,589,063
Deposits and other receivables and amounts 25 N/A Low risk ~ 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 2,077,124 1,790,685
due from non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries
T 50 e At e W BR TR e M B B A A 3F iR EEE 1R2EARBEEEHE(LEGERERERNTR)
iy o8
Amounts due from associates 26 N/A Low risk ~ 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 541,621 504,147
& A= NGIESE] TiER BREER NREAESHEEESENEEFERERMERNTMG)
Amounts due from joint ventures 26 N/A Low risk ~ 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 5,501,944 3,849,924
JE A &R EIFRIE A EREE REAARBEEEHE(LEGERERERNTR)
Pledged bank deposits 28 Al Low risk ~ 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 177,968 277,899
BEEMBITER A1 EEE 1R2EARBEEEHE(LEGERERERTR)
Bank balances 28  Aa2to Low risk ~ 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 10,010,518 8,293,720
Baa3
RITETF AR2E EREE NREAARBEEEBEEGERERERTR)
Baa3
Other item
Hittg B
Contract assets — contracts with customers 24 N/A Low risk  Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed collectively) 11,094,389 14,064,210
EHEE—BFPEN TER BRE FEANBHEEEBUECERERLRFTM)

Watch list  Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed collectively) 5,897,117 2,911,438

ERLE GFEDERHBGCEER(UEGERERLRTM)

Doubtful  Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed collectively) 990,189 362,054
R HFEHBESCEER(LEEERERLRNGE)

17,981,695 17,337,702
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE T - —F=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. € T A um)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Note: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL on trade receivables grouped by aged analysis of
debtors. When there are indicators that the relevant trade receivables
maybe credit impaired, the relevant amount will be assessed for ECL
individually.

The Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers
in relation to its operation because these customers consist of a large
number of customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in
accordance with the contractual terms. Based on the Group's assessment
of historical credit loss experience of the existing debtors and all available
forward looking information, including but not limited to the expected
economic conditions in the PRC and expected subsequent settlements, the
Group does not consider that default occurs for those contractual
payments that are more than 90 days past due.

The Group used estimated loss rates based on aging for classes with
different credit risk characteristics and exposures, and the estimated loss
rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort, for example the
economic growth rates which reflect the expected general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2021/22 HEMRTIZIRERAE 20212281 R &

HEEREBEEREREE @)

1= & [ B B OR (B 51 1l (a)

B2

REZEUEEANES  AEEEERE
RS EESRAML T A ER
BEHRREMEEEENEREE &%
EREZREKRRRZETAREK DN
SENEBEAVEFRAEERHE -1
ERREBEESRKREREAREFER
BERE HRSRBEIRREEER
(ERIERE

AEBEREBARKRFGHEP E
E@%ﬁ%Zﬁﬁ'ﬂﬁ%%@ﬁ@ﬁ
K%Eﬁ REBRFHZEF  KKRE
REA ﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%%m
7 o EF$Elﬁﬁﬁ1ﬁATEF%
BRER - EMAE R B AT T
AR (B AR T B TE L EN
ﬁ&ﬁ%%%ﬁ§%$§@IT\ﬁ
ZEEABBBEIORZANNRE

49 o

AEERBEEETREERREH KR
EpHRRERNFEABEREBIER  ME
HEEXRRESABRFEHNBEA
BIRBHRED GG WABAENER
ANk NS ERTIE A RHEH
ﬂm&%ﬁ ARERETENTES
BEERANEEERE -HE5HE
ﬁ@m%ﬁﬁ LARE (R 5 B B A B4R
BERCEER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ——
A BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €@ T A
Financial risk management objectives and MERREEBEERBEE @
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) Z 8Bk KRB ERE @
Note: (Continued) sk (58)
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk TEXRERHEEBEESIRKREREEERR
for trade receivables which are assessed on a collective basis by using MOMER  ZZEIWEBERGFER
provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). HEAGERE(LEEERE) A
B ARy T -
2022 2021
—E-CfF —E=-—4F
Gross carrying amounts Average Trade Average Trade
(provision matrix) loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
B T 4BE (13 f 4E ) FHERE B 5 EWARE FHEEE B 5N ERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TET
0-180 days 0% 180H 2.1% 2,705,639 2.7% 4,101,493
181-365 days 181%365H 15.3% 1,305,026 19.6% 1,085,819
Over 365 days 365H A E 36.0% 2,612,397 33.9% 1,283,217
6,623,062 6,470,529
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. €@ T B
Financial risk management objectives and MERREEBEERBEE @
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1= & & B &R (B FF 1 (@)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been TRETBBEE(AEZCERE SR
recognised for both trade receivables and contract assets under the WERERGNEENFEHBERE
simplified approach. BERE -
Trade receivables Contract assets
B EWERE BREE
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(credit- (not credit- (not credit-
impaired) impaired) impaired) Total

FEAERE FRUBEN FHANBES
BEEER GEFR(M FEFRG
(FERE) REERE) ZEEEHE) A&t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FTHT FAET FAET
As at 1 April 2020 RZZE-_TFMA—H 301,734 397,825 154,934 854,493
Changes due to financial instruments )5(\:2: FOA—BE
recognised as at RERMTERNE
1 April 2020 (218,971) (234,769) (154,934) (608,674)
— Impairment losses reversed —EREREERE
New financial assets/contract assets kB A 2 ML /A
originated or purchased E/ANEE 13,606 478,868 390,447 882,921
Exchange adjustments [E 52 22,165 44,237 22,245 88,647
As at 31 March 2021 RZEZ—F
=A=+-H 118,534 686,161 412692 1,217,387
Changes due to financial instruments A Z & —— 400 A — B i
recognised as at ReMmTAENEE
1 April 2021 — (452,977) (260,409) (713,386)
— Impairment losses reversed — BB O EEE
New financial assets/contract assets 2B A ZF @ @&
originated or purchased E/ANEE 4,717 621,420 584,333 1,210,470
Exchange adjustments &5 A% 6,014 27,494 106,810 140,318
As at 31 March 2022 i
=A=+—H 129,265 882,098 843,426 1,854,789
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. In addition to issuance of new shares, the
Group also relies on bank and other borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis because the directors of the Company believe
that the Group has sufficient funds to finance its current working
capital requirements taking account of the cash flows from operations
and assuming the continuing ability to utilise the available long-term
bank loans facilities. As at 31 March 2022, the Group had available
unutilised long-term bank loans facilities of HK$111,293,793,000 (2021:
HK$81,155,195,000). Details of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
as at 31 March 2022 are set out in note 31.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent
that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from the interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.
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ReMREeEEBEEKRFERGHEES
FERBEERARABRNAEE L E
FTERRBRERERESFEZKTE-
BRETHRIN AEBINEFHEETR
HEEEEETERHES KR A
RARBEZHRE ZRINCEMSE
RenMBRFEHAUHEERARD
BITERBMEZEN AEBAERER
EeNAHBAMEEES T BIRM
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-ZT-_—F=-A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. £/t T B @)
Financial risk management objectives and B R e SR B RBUR @)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) MENE S E )
Liquidity tables mBE &K
Carrying
Weighted Payable amount
average on demand Between Total at the end
contractual  or less than Between 3 months to Between Over undiscounted  of reporting
interest rate 1month 1to 3 months Tyear 1to5years 5 years cash flows period
AEEZR
mELY H#EISR -@RE  Z@AEZ AERRE RREHAZ
BHFI% -fiA =f8A -5 -FZIf LENE ik X REEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAR TAT TAT TAT
At 31 March 2022 i
=R=+-H
Non-derivative financial FTESRERE
liabilities
Trade and bills payables ZHREARBREN
Z5 — 10,555,737 1,605,958 4,128,375 — - 16,290,070 16,290,070
Other payables and accruals H B A BRI T B 5t
EA - 3,229,187 752,349 335,556 - - 4,317,092 4,317,092
Amounts due to non-controlling BB B 2 FIZEHE R
interests of subsidiaries b Eaa ] - 311,706 — - — - 311,706 311,706
Bank and other borrowings ROREMEE
— fixed rate —TB 4.16 - 1,275,421 1,920,352 9,608,017 535,681 13,339,471 12,048,628
— floating rate —%8 429 - 3,972,002 15,575,383 26,700,764 1,877,488 48,125,637 44,080,461
Amounts due to associates ENBE AR ZHE — 70,399 - — - — 70,399 70,399
Amounts due to joint ventures EREBAR 2B - 69,309 - - - - 69,309 69,309
Lease liabilities BERE 4.64 24,400 48,382 207,027 913,469 685,830 1,879,108 1,569,918
14,260,738 7654112 22,166,693 37,222,250 3,098,999 84,402,792 78,751,583
At 31 March 2021 R-B--F
=ZA=t-H
Non-derivative financial ETESREE
liabilities
Trade and bills payables ZHERAEERR
[ES: — 10464312 1373052 1,487,038 1704377 — 1508779 15,028,779
Other payables and accruals HiENERER
EER — 2800672 652,978 291,234 - - 3,746,384 3,746,384
Amounts due to non-controlling & F B 2 AISEHE R
interests of subsidiaries BRZTE — 424,134 - — — — 424,134 424,134
Bank and other borrowings ROREMEE
— fixed rate —EE 4.08 — 79,126 1,303,568 13,518,304 556,342 15,457,340 13,807,161
— floating rate — %8 3.60 — 4,745,754 11525935 20,653,215 810,428 37,735,332 35,182,210
Amounts due to associates EREBE AT 2B = 45,418 = = = = 45418 45418
Amounts due to joint ventures ENEERRZHE — 318,508 — — — — 318,508 318,508
Lease liabilities HERR 464 24,311 48248 208,766 921,454 874,932 2,077,711 1,715,449
14,079,355 6,899,158 14,816,541 36,797,350 2,241,702 74,834,106 70,268,543
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity tables (Continued)

The amounts included above for variable rate bank borrowings are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting
period.

Interest rate benchmark reform

As listed in note 2, several of the Group’s LIBOR/HIBOR bank loans will
or may be subject to the interest rate benchmark reform. The Group is
closely monitoring the market and managing the transition to new
benchmark interest rates, including announcements made by the
relevant IBOR regulators.

LIBOR

The Financial Conduct Authority has confirmed all LIBOR settings will
either cease to be provided by any administrator or no longer be
representative:

. immediately after 31 December 2021, in the case of 1-week and
2-month US dollar settings, and;

o immediately after 30 June 2023, in the case of the remaining US
dollar settings.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average (“HONIA") has
been identified as an alternative to HIBOR, there is no plan to
discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate approach has been adopted in Hong
Kong, whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist.

39.
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e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform (Continued)

HIBOR (Continued)

(@

Risks arising from the interest rate benchmark reform
The following are the key risks for the Group arising from the
transition:

Interest rate related risks

For contracts which have not been transitioned to the relevant
alternative benchmark rates and without detailed fallback clauses,
if the bilateral negotiations with the Group’s counterparties are
not successfully concluded before the cessation of LIBORs, there
are significant uncertainties with regard to the interest rate that
would apply. This gives rise to additional interest rate risk that
was not anticipated when the contracts were entered into.

There are fundamental differences between IBORs and the
various alternative benchmark rates. IBORs are forward looking
term rates published for a period (e.g. three months) at the
beginning of that period and include an inter-bank credit spread,
whereas alternative benchmark rates are typically risk-free
overnight rates published at the end of the overnight period with
no embedded credit spread. These differences will result in
additional uncertainty regarding floating rate interest payments.

Liquidity risk

The additional uncertainty on various alternative rates which are
typically published on overnight basis will require additional
liquidity management. The Group’s liquidity risk management
policy has been updated to ensure sufficient liquid resources to
accommodate unexpected increases in overnight rates.

Litigation risk

If no agreement is reached to implement the interest rate
benchmark reform on contracts which have not been transitioned
to the relevant alternative benchmark rates (e.g. arising from
differing interpretation of existing fallback terms), there is a risk
of prolonged disputes with counterparties which could give rise
to additional legal and other costs. The Group is working closely
with all counterparties to avoid this from occurring.

39. €/t T B @)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform (Continued)
HIBOR (Continued)

(ii) Progress towards implementation of alternative benchmark
interest rates
As part of the Group’s risk management for transition, new
contracts entered into by the Group are linked to the relevant
alternative benchmark rates or interest rates which are not
subject to reform to the extent feasible. Otherwise, the Group
ensured the relevant contracts include detailed fallback clauses
clearly referencing the alternative benchmark rate and the specific
triggering event on which the clause is activated.

During the year, for floating rate loans that are linked to HIBOR,
the Group had confirmed with the relevant counterparty HIBOR
will continue to maturity.

The Group is planning to transition the majority of its remaining
LIBOR-linked contracts through introduction of, or amendments
to, fallback clauses into the contracts which will change the basis
for determining the interest cash flows from LIBOR to alternative
reference rate at an agreed point in time.

The following table shows the total amounts of outstanding
contracts and the progress in completing the transition to
alternative benchmark rates as at 31 March 2022. The amounts
of financial liabilities are shown at their carrying amounts.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE T - —F=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform (Continued)

HIBOR (Continued)

(ii) Progress towards implementation of alternative benchmark

interest rates (Continued)

39. €/t T B @)

B E ke S B AR BUK (@)

R =EAENE (@)
EBBRITRIEFRS (8
(i) BEREABEERNEWNER (&)

Financial instruments Maturing in Carrying Hedge  Transition progress for
prior to transition amounts accounting  financial instruments
i
BEAMNESRMIA FHBFH BRE B Btz SMIANBEER
HK$'000
FET
Non-derivative financial liabilities
ENTEEMEBE
Bank loans linked to HIBOR 2022 to 2024 10,146,689 N/A  HIBOR will continue till maturity
HEBRITAER B —T-— TEA BAEARTAEFRSBEEZR
RITER E-FT= ) 8
Y £
Bank loans linked to LIBOR 2022 390,000 N/A  Expected to transition to HKD
HIBOR loan by end of 2022
HERIERTRAZFEHBNIR —T-_— TEA BEHRZZTEZFEBEZRE
TEXR BLTBEBRITRAEREE
Eom
TA
Bank loans linked to LIBOR 2022 155,968 N/A  Fully repaid in May 2022
HERIERTRAZFEHBNIR —T_— TER RZZEZ_FHA28EXN
TTER
Bank loans linked to LIBOR 2023 1,404,000 N/A  LIBOR will continue till maturity
to March 2023
HGBRITRERSHBNER —ZT_= THEA GABTRAEFRSBEER
TER HRZ-ZZ=-=F= A58
Bank loans linked to LIBOR 2024 2,808,000 N/A  Expected to transition to Secured
Overnight Financing Rate
ERIVTAXFEHBBNHE T _HF TEA HHAEEFERRBRME

:I%/TA

ik
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39. €/t T B @)

TR TEQAFENE

AMEREERASENNEESH
TRMEERFEZER -

() XEBRER

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair
values of various financial assets.

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are g%ﬁﬁi N
mEEQ

measured at fair value on a recurring basis FTEIFTEZS N
&

AEEZAFEFABSEZEH
BEDREREM R D FER
E-TRREHABUNEEZS

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these financial assets

are determined. SREBEEZAFEEZER
Fair value
AFE
Fair value
2022 2021 hierarchy
— =EE= DAFEER

Financial assets

EHREE
Held-for-trading Listed equity securities in Hong Listed equity securities in Hong Level 1
investments Kong — HK$104,638,000 (Note i) Kong — HK$686,629,000 (Note i)
FEEERE ERLTRERES — BB LETRAZES—
104,638,000 7% 5T (Kf=Ei) 686,629,000 7T (Mt &) E—

Equity investments

Listed equity securities in Hong

Listed equity securities in Hong

Level 1 for listed

at FVTOCI Kong — HK$135,773,000 (Note i) Kong — HK$54,648,000 (Note i) equity securities
BN TEF AEA BERELTRAES— BB LETRAZS — ERAE H

2EBAZ KA 135,773,000 % 7T (Kt i) 54,648,000 7% 7T (Fff 7Ei) E—&

®E

Unlisted equity investments
— HK$600,093,000 (Note ii)

FLTRARE—
600,093,000 & 7T (Fff =X ii)

Unlisted equity investments
— HK$582,991,000 (Note ii)
EETRAKRE —
582,991,000 . (M = ii)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-ZT-_—F=-A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. € T A um)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis
(Continued)

Notes:

(i) The fair values of the listed equity securities in Hong Kong are
determined based on the quoted market bid prices available on the
Stock Exchange. The fair value measurement is classified as Level 1
of the fair value hierarchy.

(ii) Unlisted equity investments represent the Group’s investments in
entities which are mainly engaged in (a) investments in financial
assets measured at fair value and holding of bank and cash
balances; and (b) trading and storage and logistics of natural gas
and LPG.

The fair values of the unlisted equity investments are determined
by reference to market-based factors such as price-to-book ratio
and enterprise value to sales ratio, asset-based factors considering
the nature of underlying assets and liabilities held by the investees
and net assets value of the investees. The fair value measurement
is classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The directors of
the Company consider that none of these investments is
individually significant.

There were no transfers between instruments in Level 1, 2 and 3
in both years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-_Z-—HF=-A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair
values of various financial assets.

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis
(Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of
financial assets

39. €/t T B @)

EMIBEAFETE @

AMEREERASENAEESE

SREBEATFEZER -

(i) ~"EERBEFEEERZ D
FESFEZEMEELAF
B @)
SREEF="HATEFE
ZH R

Unlisted equity
investments at

FVTOCI

BRAFEFTA

Hib2EUWA

2k LW

BRAEKRE

HK$'000

FHT

As at 1 April 2020 R _FTFWMA—H 732,478
Disposal in= (209,860)
Exchange adjustment P& 53 3 % 60,373
As at 31 March 2021 N_T-_—F=H=+—H 582,991
Addition NE 25,995
Disposal & (24,956)
Exchange adjustment PEE 5, 38 2 16,063
As at 31 March 2022 RZZBE_=—F=A=+—H 600,093

(ii) Fair value of Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities is
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis. The directors of the
Company consider that the carrying amounts of other financial
assets and financial liabilities carried at amortised cost
approximate their respective fair values.

m)ﬁﬁlmﬁ%@;+1#
BAVEFEZCEHREE
&ﬁﬂ%ﬁ“$ﬁ

HMecREERSRABATE
DREARZEBRANRIEAR
ERENNMEE ARBAES
R HEBHKA R 2 EME
REEATRABREERAS
BZAFERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 4. METHELEZEEBHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from TREAEEMETHELE 2 EBEER
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. BFE BHEESNLIERSEH 7
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows EBEHEL BB RS TENBHK
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated HeEMEaRALEEGERETERD
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. HARE LIRS RECAGE -
Amounts due
Borrowings to non-
(including loan controlling
Dividend Consideration interest Lease interest of
payable payables payables) liabilities  subsidiaries Total
BE BB
(BIEREM ARFER
EARE ERKE EXFE) HEER ERHE a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FTAEL AL TAT FTAEL THT AL
(notes 29 and 31)
(Mt sE29231)
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-TFWMA—A — 183,959 39,971,975 232,922 602,611 40,991,467
Financing cash flows MERERE (2,608,662) (39,293) 4,215,957  (249,371) (232,282) 1,086,349
Foreign exchange translation — Sh& T & — 16,425 3,271,760 19,989 53,805 3,361,979
Interest expenses B — — 1,800,947 65,508 — 1,866,455
Dividend declared Bk E 2,608,662 — — — — 2,608,662
New leases entered A — — — 1,646,401 — 1,646,401
Consideration payables ERRE = 20,662 — = — 20,662
At 31 March 2021 N-_E-—F
=A=1+—H — 181,753 49,260,639 1,715,449 424,134 51,581,975
Financing cash flows REHeRE (3,062,449) (19,188) 3,290,168  (296,708) (60,763)  (148,940)
Foreign exchange translation ~ 4p 4 & — 5,581 1,814,422 8,528 14,321 1,842,852
Interest expenses F 25X — — 1,929,253 76,232 — 2,005,485
Dividend declared Bk S 3,062,449 — — — — 3,062,449
New leases entered ¥ET A — — — 66,417 — 66,417
Consideration payables ERRE — 275,026 — — — 275,026
Disposal and winding up HEHBR AR
of subsidiary KBARER — — — — (65,986)  (65,986)
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZ4F
=A=t—H — 443172 56,294,432 1,569,918 311,706 58,619,278
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

41. COMMITMENTS 41. EIE
Operating lease arrangements KEHOZH
The Group as lessor rEBERAEEA
All of the Group’s premises, equipment, vessels and motor vehicles held REBEMERZEHER AN YE R
for rental purposes have committed lessees for the next one and after H MHERAEERRR—FRAF
five years (2021: next one and after five years). BHEFEBA(CZCZE—F: KK —F
MAFIE)-
Lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: HEEENEWAS T
2022 2021
—_E==-= —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Within one year —& R 82,450 146,274
In the second year F_F 22,337 32,106
In the third year E=F 15,483 6,039
In the fourth year FPOF 3,723 3,229
In the fifth year ERF 3,489 2,960
After five years HF1% 2,888 6,346
130,370 196,954
Leases are negotiated for an average term of one to twenty years (2021: MAZEHFHEREZTEA B2 _+F
one to ten years) with fixed rentals. —E-—F:—E+%) BESEE-
Capital commitments B AR E
The Group has capital commitments in respect of the acquisition of NEERWEDE  MELEENUR
property, plant and equipment and construction materials for property, ME MERZBHEZEZM D BI/EH
plant and equipment contracted for but not provided in the A 8284,911,0008 T (= FE = — 4 ¢
consolidated financial statements amounting to HK$284,911,000 (2021: 1,630,321,0007 JT ) 243,323,000/
HK$1,630,321,000) and HK$243,323,000 (2021: HK$284,944,000) U (== = — F : 284,944,000/ T ) 2
respectively. EEIAME ARG W EREEEZ
BAAYE -
As disclosed in note 19, the Group cooperated with CIIF to establish the WM EFI19FT B AEEEAPRKS
Fund. The capital commitment regarding the Group'’s remaining capital VEZ/SZES - NEBHES F & H
contributions to the Fund amounted to RMB1,085,365,000 (equivalent B E AN RE A A RB1,085,365,000
to HK$1,323,616,000) (2021: RMB2,103,952,000 (equivalent to 7L (M8 & 71,323,616,000/8 L) (=Z & =
HK$2,418,336,000)). — & AR ¥2,103,952,0007T (1 & ®

2,418,336,0007% 7T) ) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE—_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE

42. PLEDGE OF OR RESTRICTIONS ON ASSETS 42.

Pledge of assets

The Group pledged certain non-current and current assets and equity
interests over certain subsidiaries to banks or financial institutions to
secure loan facilities granted to the Group. Carrying amount of the
non-current and current assets pledged to banks or financial institutions
to secure loan facilities granted to the Group is as follows:

& E K #H 5 BR Hl

EEER

AEEBRETHBRRZETIER
BERBEERBAERER TRT
XEREE FAKEERZENE
BZHER-BERTROKSBBE
ERASEERZEFRBERER I
mBERSHEERBENT

2022 2021
—E-CF T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Long-term loan facilities REERBME
Property, plant and equipment and investment ME - WENEE
properties AR RE W% 2,992,542 —
Other deposits HEfiz e 67,902 65,476
Short-term loan facilities RHERRE
Pledged bank deposits BEHEFERITER 177,968 277,899
3,238,412 343,375

At the end of the reporting period, the Company’s equity interests in
certain subsidiaries were pledged to a bank for credit facilities granted
to the Group.

Restrictions on assets

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$1,569,918,000 (2021:
HK$1,715,449,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets of
HK$1,531,344,000 (2021: HK$1,697,781,000) as at 31 March 2022.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor and the
relevant leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group has joined a MPF Scheme for all employees in Hong Kong.
The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme at
rate specified in the rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect
of the MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are covered by the
retirement and pension schemes defined by local practice and
regulations. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specific
percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement and pension
schemes. The only obligation of the Group in respect to the retirement
benefits scheme is to make the specified contribution.

The calculation of contributions for PRC eligible staff is based on certain
percentage of the applicable payroll costs. The contribution to the MPF
Scheme is calculated based on the rules set out in the MPF Ordinance
which is 5% on the basic salary of the relevant employee subject to a
specific ceiling.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Apart from the amounts due from (to) related parties and transactions
as disclosed in notes 19, 25, 26 and 29, the Group entered into the
following transactions with major related parties that are not members
of the Group:

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group purchased gas
for total amount of HK$67,420,000 (2021: HK$43,022,000)
from a joint venture.

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group sold gas
appliances, consumables and spare parts for a total amount of
HK$837,519,000 (2021: HK$2,226,599,000) to joint ventures
and associates.

43.
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2021/22 FREIMASIERARAT 20212281 15H %

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group received
engineering design and construction revenue for total amount of
HK$588,875,000 (2021: HK$678,271,000) from joint ventures.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group received
design and construction fee for the building of property, plant
and equipment of the total amount of HK$414,435,000 (2021:
HK$1,245,478,000) from joint ventures.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group purchased
consumables and spare parts for total amount of HK$181,878,000
(2021: HK$484,446,000) from joint ventures.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group sold gas for
total amount of HK$181,359,000 (2021: HK$145,342,000) to a
joint venture.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with the respective holders of the
remaining equity interests holders for a total consideration of
HK$3,000,000,000. Details of the transaction has been disclosed
in note 36.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group entered into 2
time charter contracts with a joint venture for the lease of vessels.
The value of right-of-use assets recognised under the transaction
was approximately HK$1,580,993,000 at the commencement
date of the lease. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
lease payment, lease liabilities and interest on lease liabilities for
the leased vessels are HK$197,923,000 (2021: HK$149,817,000),
HK$1,353,467,000 (2021: HK$1,485,226,000) and
HK$66,165,000 (2021: HK$54,050,000) respectively.

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

B RS @
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) B RS RS )

45.

The remuneration of key management of the Group was as follows:

AEFEXTREEEZMESWT

2022 2021

—_s—-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT FET

Short-term benefits %2 H 12 A 37,555 54,967
Post-employment benefits BB 12 12 A 72 72
37,627 55,039

The remuneration of key management is determined by the
remuneration committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

LEGAL CLAIMS

On 30 March 2017, the Company received a form of claim filed by a
former director of the Company in the Labour Tribunal of Hong Kong
claiming approximately HK$140 million (being the alleged loss of salary
in the sum of HK$21.6 million (annual salary of HK$7.2 million) for the
three financial years ended 31 March 2014 and the aggregate bonus in
the sum of approximately HK$118.4 million for the four financial years
ended 31 March 2014) and other unliquidated damages and interest
from the Company for the alleged wrongful dismissal by the Company
of a former director of the Company as a director and an employee of
the Company on 29 March 2011. By the mutual consent of the parties
to the claim, the claim has been transferred to the Court of First
Instance of the High Court.

In addition, the above former director and several other share option
holders initiated legal proceedings against the Company with regard to
their respective purported exercise of share options, which would have
entitled the relevant persons to a total of 110,000,000 shares of the
Company.
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45.
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45. LEGAL CLAIMS (Continued)

In respect of the aforementioned legal proceedings, the Company has
sought advice from its legal advisors and has been advised that there is
a sound basis for defending the above claims, no amount of contingent
liabilities was provided as at 31 March 2022 and 2021. For details of

the legal proceedings,

please refer to the announcement of the

Company dated 2 June 2017 on the website of the Stock Exchange

(please note that the above former director has since withdrawn his
claims against the Company in respect of HCA751/2017 referred to in

the said announcement).

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation or
registration/

Form of business

45. LR B R @)

b 2 AREFBRME - ARFEH
HZERBRSKE ﬁjﬂéi%ﬂﬁﬁT

%1&%ELL$%\{”Eﬁ?#ﬁ n=

—E-_—&=A=+—H"

$EHB£EJHZ%’,E RFTIREHE - ARAR

RN

BHE2HMARRR T —

T F N A = B B3P 48 b BT # A

4 (=

AR 5}:%
PN

C FAIEE B W& B ER
FIT 5 5F 7A 12 FF HCA751/2017

BEEARRWEAR) e

46. TEHE A T

TEMBERA

e

AIEFEBEWT

Paid up issued share Proportion of nominal value of
capital/ registered issued share capital/ registered

Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
aE B 32 3R BRERTRE EAFAFBERTRE
HEARER Hf EEYE EBREERS SREMER /REMERE AL TEXH
2022 2021
—E--f§ %
% %
HRREEL£(FYNERART  PRC Wholly-foreign Registered 100* 100* Investment holding and treasury
owned enterprises USD234,589,000
("WFOE")
FE INERERT G REZBRRER
234,589,000% 7T
HIRIZEBRAR([HHRIZRE]) PRC WFOE Registered 100* 100" Investment holding and treasury
USD250,000,000
FE SNERERA i REAERRED
250,000,00035 7T
R AR AR R R BT PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 60" 60 Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAR joint venture RMB20,000,000 pipeline construction
FE FONEBRA it ARBHERMBREERR
A K #20,000,0007T
il sl R 9 PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 80" 80" Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA joint venture RMB44,022,000 pipeline construction
FE FINEE DA i RARHERMRREBRER
AR #44,022,0007T
ERPRBTRRER PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 90" 90 Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAR joint venture RMB100,000,000 pipeline construction
FE FONEBRA it ARBHERMBREERR
A R #:100,000,000 7T
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46.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or
registration/

Form of business

Paid up issued share Proportion of nominal value of
capital/ registered issued share capital/ registered

46. TEMME QX BEFHE @

Name of subsidiary operations structure capital capital held by the Company  Principal activities
aF A 3L 3% BRERTRE ARAFRERTRE
HEARER A EERY EBEBER JREMER /RAMEREAELH TEXH
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—
% %
HERMATHAEEE PRC Limited liability Registered 70" 70" Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA company RMB70,000,000 pipeline construction
FE BEREADA i ARRHERMREERR
A K #70,000,0007T
EREFRBTRRER PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100 Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAR company RMB72,000,000 pipeline construction
FE HEREAERA it ARBHERMBEERR
AR #72,000,0007T
ZRFMAARBRRA PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 100* 100* Sales of natural gas and gas
joint venture RMB118,950,000 pipeline construction
FE FINEE DA i ARRHERMREERR
A R #118,950,0007T
ZRATHRMRRER PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 100" 100" Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAR joint venture RMB16,002,000 pipeline construction
FE FONEBRE i ARBHERMBEERR
AR #16,002,0007T
BRI R R PRC WFOE Registered 100* 100* Sales of natural gas and gas
BERAF USD6,060,000 pipeline construction
FE SNERERT i ARRHERMAEERR
6,060,000 7T
BHNRRATRRAER PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 75" 75" Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAR joint venture RMB40,000,000 pipeline construction
FE FONEB DA i ARBHERMBEERR
A B #40,000,000 7
HERRATRRER PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 64* 64* Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA joint venture RMB265,725,000 pipeline construction
FE FINEE DA i ARRHERMREERR
A R # 265,725,000 7T
BEERMBRERRER PRC Limited liability Registered 64" 64" Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAR company RMB38,000,000 pipeline construction
FE HEREERA it ARBHERMBREERR
A K #38,000,0007T
BERRRAMARE PRC Limited liability Registered 64* 64* Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA company RMB20,000,000 pipeline construction
FE BEREEDA i ARRHERMREERR
A K #20,000,0007T
MRFRETIREREE PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 100" 100" Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAR joint venture RMB200,000,000 pipeline construction
FE FONEBRE i ARBHERMBEERR
A R #:200,000,000 7T
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or
registration/

Form of business

Paid up issued share Proportion of nominal value of
capital/ registered issued share capital/ registered

46. TEMME QX EFHE @

Name of subsidiary operations structure capital capital held by the Company  Principal activities
aF A 3L 3% BRERTRE ARAFRERTRE
HEARER A EERY EBEBER JREMER /RAMEREAELH TEXH
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—
% %
HRIE A R TR BB R PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 70% 70* Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA joint venture RMB133,330,000 pipeline construction
FE FINEE AR i RARHERMREBRER
A R #133,330,000 7T
BETRRERAR PRC Limited liability Registered 80" 80" Sales of natural gas and gas
company RMB183,800,000 pipeline construction
FE HEREERA it ARBHERMBREERR
AR #183,800,0007C
BEMEARMATERRR  PRC Limited liability Registered 80" 80" Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA company RMB20,000,000 pipeline construction
FE BEREEDA i RARHERMREBRER
A K #20,000,0007T
EB R SR PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100" Investment in petrochemical
BRAA company RMB1,130,000,000 facilities of storage and
transportation, fundamental
facilities of pier and sales of LPG
FE HEREEDA i AL EREE RER RISE
AR #1,130,000,0007C EMRERERIPGHE
WL RES IR PRC Limited liability Registered 100% 100* Sales, producing and storing LPG
BERDA company RMB300,000,000 and chemical products
FE BEREEDA i HE EERBFLPGR
A K #300,000,0007T tIER
BNESL A RIR A PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100" Sales and manufacturing of highly
BRAA company USD60,000,000 purified LPG, highly purified
propane and butane
e BEREADA i HEREERFLLG &% (L
60,000,000 7T ARERT K
RYI R R & PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100" Sales of LPG
BRAA company RMB400,000,000
FE BEBREERNF 1 LPGHH &
A R 400,000,000 7
Fortune Gas Investment Holdings ~ Hong Kong Limited liability Ordinary 100* 100" Investment holding, sales of natural
Limited company HK$876,980,000 gas and CBM business
EMRRREERBRAA B BEREADA i@ REER RAREE RCBM
876,980,0007% 7T EBRR
EREERRERAR PRC Limited liability Registered 80* 80 Sales of natural gas
company RMB50,000,000
FE HEREEDA it AARBHE
A K #50,000,0007T
BHMRRAREER QA PRC WFOE Registered 100" 100" Investment holding
USD30,000,000
FE SNERERA i REER
30,000,000 7T
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

46. TEMME QX BEFHE @

Place of
incorporation or
registration/

Paid up issued share Proportion of nominal value of

Form of business capital/ registered issued share capital/ registered

Name of subsidiary operations structure capital capital held by the Company  Principal activities
aF A 3L 3% BRERTRE ARAFRERTRE
HEARER A EERY EBEBER JREMER /RAMEREAELH TEXH
2022 2021
—EB=-C T -
% %
EBEMRRER AR PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 100* 100 Sales of natural gas and gas
joint venture RMB64,000,000 pipeline construction
F B FINEE AR i RARHERMRREBRER
A K #64,000,0007T
EMUIHRREER AT Hong Kong Limited liability Ordinary 70% 70 Exploration and production of coal
company USD59,027,780 bed methane
BE BEREMEAR B DRREERER
59,027,780% T
RIS T R B PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100" Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA company RMB100,000,000 pipeline construction
F B BEREEDA i RARHERMREBRER
A K #100,000,0007T
BEERPRARME PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 75" 75% Sales of natural gas and gas
AR DA joint venture RMB16,000,000 pipeline construction
FE FONEBRE it ARBHERMBEERR
A K #16,000,0007T
EARGRRATRAEE PRC Limited liability Registered 99* 99* Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA company RMB150,000,000 pipeline construction
F B BEREEDA i RARHERMREBRER
A R # 150,000,000 7T
MERRATRREE PRC Limited liability Registered 100% 100" Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAR company RMB300,000,000 pipeline construction
& BEREMEAR it ARBHERMBEERR
A R #300,000,0007C
RS 2R CRI) PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100* Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA company USD59,600,000 pipeline construction and
investment holding
& BEREMEAR At ARBHERMBEERR
59,600,000 7T P&
R R 9k R A R B A PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100" Development and investment in
BERDA company RMB10,000,000 clean energy projects
F B BEREEDA i HERREFRRER
A K #10,000,0007T
TERRETRRAEE PRC Limited liability Registered 85* 85 Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAA company RMB397,050,000 pipeline construction
& BEREMEAR it ARBHERMBEERR
AR 397,050,000 7T
HREARERE S PRC Limited liability Registered 100% 100% Wholesale and trading of natural
BERDA company RMB300,000,000 gas and liquefied natural gas
F B BEREEDA i RARRBRICRA RSB
A R #300,000,0007C ZEE
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

46. TEMME QX EFHE @

Place of
incorporation or
registration/

Paid up issued share Proportion of nominal value of

Form of business capital/ registered issued share capital/ registered

Name of subsidiary operations structure capital capital held by the Company  Principal activities
aE ff A 3 3 BREBRITRA ARAFBERTRAE
MEBARER i EEY EBEBEES SEMER /EMEREELLH TEXH
2022 2021
—EB=-C T -
% %
R E SR E 1R PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100 Provision of procurement services
CRINERA R company RMB100,000,000 to group companies
FE EBREEDH 7 1 REERARHEBRY
AR # 100,000,000 7T
Panva Gas Holdings Limited BVI Limited liability Ordinary 100" 100 Investment holding and sales of
company usb1, 111 LPG
BIRRERERAR HERZHE EREEQH i REERRLIPGHE
1IMET
China Natural Gas BVI Limited liability Ordinary 100* 100* Investment holding
Investment Limited company usD100
FERARREERAR HERAHE EBREEDH @ REEKR
[ E
Panriver Investments Company Hong Kong Limited liability Ordinary 100" 100 Investment holding
Limited company HK$1
BIREBRARA B BEREMEAR B RE 2K
1T
Energy Link Investments Limited ~ Hong Kong Limited liability Ordinary 100 100" Investment holding
company HK$1
ERREBRARA B EBREEDH @ REEKR
18T
China Gas Energy Utilization Hong Kong Limited liability Ordinary 100* 100" Investment holding
Holdings Limited company HK$1
R RA R AR A A B HREERA B REEKR
1T
Zhongran Energy Network Hong Kong Limited liability Ordinary 100 100" Investment holding
Development Limited company HK$100
FRERARERER AR B EBREEDH @ REEKR
10078 7T
REFMRERE PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100 Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAA company RMB390,310,000 pipeline construction
FE BEBREERNH i ARRHERRREERR
AR #390,310,0007C
Beijing Gas Development Limited ~ BVI Limited liability Ordinary 100% 100* Investment holding
company usD100
ILRERBRAR HERAHE EBREEDH T REEKR
[ E
| P RERER PRC Limited liability Registered 99" 99* Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAA company RMB300,000,000 pipeline construction
FE BEBREERNH i ARRHERRREERR
A R #300,000,000 7T
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

46. T EM B D AFEE @)

Place of
incorporation or
registration/

Paid up issued share Proportion of nominal value of

Form of business capital/ registered issued share capital/ registered

Name of subsidiary operations structure capital capital held by the Company  Principal activities
aF A 3L 3% BRERTRE ARAFRERTRE
HEARER A EERY EBEBER JREMER /RAMEREAELH TEXH
2022 2021
—s=-= —T-—%F
% %
EMPRRAZTERDA PRC Limited liability Registered 88.91% 88.91* Sales of natural gas and gas
company RMB118,000,000 pipeline construction
F B BEREEDA i RARHERMREBRER
A R #118,000,0007T
HERRERTRE PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100 Development and consultancy
BRAA company RMB80,000,000 services in gas pipeline
construction
e BEREADA i MREE 2% RAARE
A K #80,000,0007T
WEWRRETRREE PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100" Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAA company RMB80,000,000 pipeline construction
& HEREERA it ARBHERMBEERR
A K #80,000,0007T
I REEE AR R PRC Limited liability Registered 85" 60" Development, consultancy services
ERAERDA company RMB107,500,000 and investment in clean energy
F B BEREADA i BRBRF B EARK R
AR #107,500,0007C ®E
FY| R H R EE PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100 Provision of distributed heating
BRAA company RMB300,000,000 services
& HEREERA it RN M R R
A R #300,000,0007C
HIRREAE e PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100 Sales of electricity and
BERDA company RMB500,000,000 development, consultancy
services and investment in clean
energy
e BEREADA i ENHERBRERAE
A R #500,000,000 7T AHARBREE
FYm MR RSB 28 BERE  PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100 Investment holding
BRAA company RMB700,000,000
8 HEREEDA i REEK
A R 700,000,000 7
Zhongran Energy Limited Hong Kong Limited liability Ordinary 100* 100* LPG trading
company HK$2
FREERARA R B BEREEDA L@ LPGE 5
28T
Sky Access Holdings Limited BVI Limited liability Ordinary 100* 100" Investment holding
company usb100
EERLEES BEREMEAR TR REEK
100% 7T
Fresh Goal Limited BVI Limited liability Ordinary 100* 100* Investment holding
company usD1
EHARRA REELHE BEREEDA L@ REER
EY
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. TEMMB A BFE @
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ Form of business capital/ registered issued share capital/ registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital capital held by the Company  Principal activities
aE ff A 3 3 BREBRITRA ARAFBERTRAE
HEARER A EERY EBEBER JREMER /RAMEREAELH TEXH
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—
% %
China Gas Capital Management ~ BVI Limited liability Ordinary 100 100" Group financing and treasury
Limited company usbD100
FERREAERFRAA REELHE BEREEDA L@ SERMERER
[ E
Daily Pride Hong Kong Limited liability Ordinary 80° 80 Investment holding
company HK$62,400,100
HIFBR QA 6 BEREMEAR TR RE 2K
62,400,100 7T
B RREERER PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100" Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA company RMB100,000,000 pipeline construction
F B BEREEDA i RARHERMREBRER
A K #100,000,0007T
RERRIREERAA PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100 Investment in the construction of
company RMB69,980,000 city gas pipeline network,
petrochemical and natural gas
projects
FE HEREEDA At ff HETRAEBER Al
A K #69,980,0007T AAREIEEETRE
BHEBEEREIAR PRC Limited liability Registered 65" 65" Sales of natural gas and gas
BEREMEDA company RMB 133,000,000 pipeline construction
F B BEREEDA i RARHERMREBRER
A R #133,000,000 7T
WA R RS TR R PRC Limited liability Registered 63" 63" Sales of natural gas and gas
ERBRDA company RMB774,027,200 pipeline construction
FE HEREERA i ARRHERRREERR
AR¥774,027,2007C
EGRMRRmRRER PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100 Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA company RMB40,000,000 pipeline construction
F B BEREEDA i RARHERMREBRER
A R 40,000,000 7T
ERELEREARDA PRC Limited liability Registered 71% 51% Provision of value-added services
company RMB200,000,000 and wholesale and retail of
household equipment, electric
appliances, kitchen appliances
and others
HE EBREEDH il REZERBERARE
AR #200,000,0007T EX BRERERERTE
hREERCRINER AR PRC Limited liability Registered 80™ 80" Research and development,
company RMB30,000,000 wholesale, retail, installation, and
maintenance of household
equipment, electric appliances,
kitchen appliances and others
HE EBREEDH il ZARE EF BERERE
AR #30,000,0007C WE #E TE K

R#e
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HE-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or
registration/

Form of business

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

46. TEMME QX BEFHE @

Paid up issued share Proportion of nominal value of
capital/ registered issued share capital/ registered

Name of subsidiary operations structure capital capital held by the Company  Principal activities
aF A 3L 3% BRERTRE ARAFRERTRE
HEARER A EERY EBEBER JREMER /RAMEREAELH TEXH
2022 2021
—g-— ==
% %
Rich Legend International Limited ~ BVI Limited liability Ordinary 100* 100* Investment holding
company usD100
REELHE BEREEDA i@ REER
[ E
FYm R R AR A A PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100 Investment holding
company RMB50,000,000
8 HEREERA i RE 2K
A K #50,000,0007T
WERFRRBZER PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100" Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA company RMB200,000,000 pipeline construction
F B BEREEDA i RARHERMREBRER
A R #200,000,0007T
BEERRETRRER PRC Limited liability Registered 89.55" 89.55 Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAR company RMB11,000,000 pipeline construction
& HEREERA it ARBHERMBEERR
AR #11,000,0007T
IR PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100 Sales of natural gas and gas
company RMB39,500,000 pipeline construction
F B BEREEDA i RARHERMREBRER
A K #39,500,0007T
EBE&ge PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100" Sales of natural gas and gas
company RMB62,000,000 pipeline construction
& HEREERA it ARBHERMBEERR
A K #62,000,0007T
AL E B SR PRC Limited liability Registered 50.66" 50.66" Sales of gas meter and gas pressure
BERDA company RMB62,500,000 regulator and gas pipeline
construction
& HEREAERDA A MERRABALRHE
AR #62,500,0007C EMREBER
Hai Xia Finance Limited Hong Kong Limited liability Ordinary 100* 100* Securities investments
company HK$2
BRI BERAR B BEREAEDA L@ EHRE
28T
EMFRBETRRER PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100" Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAA company RMB42,000,000 pipeline construction
& HEREERA it ARBHERMBEERR
AR #42,000,0007T
MEFRRETIRREE PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100 Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA company HK$10,000,000 pipeline construction
F B BEREEDA i RARHERMREBRER
10,000,000/ 7T

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %74 B #53R & I 5E
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or
registration/

Form of business

46. TEMME QX EFHE @

Paid up issued share Proportion of nominal value of
capital/ registered issued share capital/ registered

Name of subsidiary operations structure capital capital held by the Company  Principal activities
aF A 3L 3% BRERTRE ARAFRERTRE
HEARER A EERY EBEBER JREMER /RAMEREAELH TEXH
2022 2021
—g-— ==
% %
EEMIIRMRE IR PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 66" 66 Design, construction and
s joint venture RMB6,000,000 maintenance of city pipeline
projects
FE FONEBERE i WHRREEEE Rt BR
AR #6,000,0007C R#e
AT BRE R LR PRC Limited liability Registered 100% 100* Development and consultancy
ERERDA company RMB10,000,000 services in natural gas projects
and investment holding
FE HERERERDA A AARER 2 FA#RES
A K #10,000,0007T R DA R 4% & 2 iR
EARRERERE PRC Limited liability Registered 100% 100* Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA company RMB100,000,000 pipeline construction
FE BEREEDA i RARHERMREBRER
A K #100,000,0007T
ABETRERBE PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100" Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAR company RMB60,000,000 pipeline construction
FE HEREERA it ARBHERMBEERR
A K #60,000,0007T
EHRRBEZER PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100" Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA company RMB50,000,000 pipeline construction
FE BEREEDA i RARHERMREBRER
A K #50,000,0007T
TR T PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100 Provision of construction services
BRARA company RMB40,000,000
FE HEREEDA it REZRRY
A K #40,000,0007T
EFZHRERE R PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100" Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA company RMB158,214,000 pipeline construction
FE BEREEDA i RARHERMREBRER
AR #158,214,0007T
ERFREHERER PRC Limited liability Registered 60" 60 Development, consultancy services
BRAA company RMB50,000,000 and investment in natural gas
and clean energy
e BEREADA i XARRBRERFAE &N
AR #50,000,0007C % KR A
BEN R TR R B R PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100" Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAR company RMB35,000,000 pipeline construction
FE HEREERA it ARBHERMBEERR
A K #35,000,0007T
EERHBTIRARE PRC Limited liability Registered 100% 100* Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA company RMB20,000,000 pipeline construction
FE BEREEDA i RARHERMREBRER
A K #20,000,0007T
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. T EM B A FH1E @
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ Form of business capital/ registered issued share capital/ registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital capital held by the Company  Principal activities
aF A 3L 3% BRERTRE ARAFRERTRE
HEARER A EERY EBEBER JREMER /RAMEREAELH TEXH
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—
% %
BRI E TR EE PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100" Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA company RMB30,000,000 pipeline construction
F B BEREEDA i RARHERMRREBRER
A K #30,000,0007T
BHRARBTRRER PRC WFOE Registered 100" 100 Sales of natural gas and gas
BRARA UsSD2,251,843 pipeline construction
FE IERERA it ARBHERMBEERR
2,251,843% T
AP RBR TR R R PRC WFOE Registered 100* 100" Sales of natural gas and gas
BERAF HK$59,450,000 pipeline construction
F B SNERERA i RARHERMREBRER
59,450,0007% 7T
BRMNETHRATHRR PRC WFOE Registered 100" 100" Sales of natural gas and gas
ERBRADA HK$11,500,000 pipeline construction
FE IERERA it ARBHERMBEERR
11,500,000/ 7T
EBRRRTRRER PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100 Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA company RMB60,000,000 pipeline construction
F B BEREEDA i RARHERMREBRER
A K #60,000,0007T
MERRETRIEE PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 100" 100" Sales of natural gas and gas
AR DA joint venture RMB300,000,000 pipeline construction
FE FONEBRE it ARBHERMBEERR
A R #300,000,0007C
e R 9B R AL TR Bl PRC Limited liability Registered 51% 51% Sales of natural gas and gas
BERDA company RMB33,880,000 pipeline construction
F B BEREEDA i RARHERMREBRER
A K #33,880,0007T
BEIPRETRER PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 85 Sales of natural gas and gas
ERAERDA company RMB234,358,158 pipeline construction
& BEREMEAR it ARBHERMBEERR
AR #234,358,158 7
ZEERHRMRER DA PRC Limited liability Registered 70% 70* Sales of natural gas and gas
company RMB30,000,000 pipeline construction
F B BEREEDA i RAARHERMREBRER
A K #30,000,0007T
Electronic Business Development BV Limited liability Ordinary 71" 51% Investment holding
Company Limited company usD100
ETABERERAA ERRLEE BEREMEAR TR RE 2K
100% 7T
# Directly held by group # HEEEERE
# Indirectly held by group ’“’ HEERERE
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

47.

The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of
the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

F=A=1T—HILFE

46. TEMME QX EFHE @

EXRFINESRAYAREXELE
ERETZE

FEZARABZIENER

Al -EFRARRHEEMNBARFEB
TEHEMBRITE -

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE ~ 47. & B Bt B Ak R &
COMPANY
Information about the statement of the financial position of the KARNRHEBRR BRI EKER
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: N
2022 2021
—_==-= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FHT
Non-current assets ERBNE E
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE NEE 2,730 718
Interests in subsidiaries NB AT ZHEZ 15,512,979 10,978,941
Investments in associates REBE R Z2&E 1,363,305 1,363,318
Investments in joint ventures REEBERAIZIEE 606,774 606,774
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BAFEFAREMEE
WAZBRARTA 2,900 2,900
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE L B JB8 A R B IE 30,161,499 25,108,022
Deposit for acquisition of property, plant and WEME  BELREEZS
equipment — 3,162
47,650,187 38,063,835
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47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 47. 78 B B Bk R 3R )

COMPANY (Continued)
2022 2021
—sE=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBT
Current assets MENE E
Other receivables and prepayment H b B Y BR 1B R TR SRR 6,597 1,816
Bank balances and cash RITHEFRAS 727,490 364,293
734,087 366,109
Current liabilities mE A E
Other payables and accruals H b fE S BRIE I JE 5 3R IB 102,484 214,532
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE B B A R RRIE 13,323,899 5,436,798
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE
— due within one year — R —F RN 4,034,354 3,795,090
17,460,737 9,446,420
Net current liabilities mENBEFHE (16,726,650) (9,080,311)
30,923,537 28,983,524
Equity HE
Share capital 1% 7 54,403 52,124
Reserves 56 1% 24,516,599 16,083,308
Total equity G 24,571,002 16,135,432
Non-current liability IEREBEE
Bank and other borrowings RITEEMEER
— due after one year —R—F& 35 6,352,535 12,848,092
30,923,537 28,983,524
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47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

47. 7D 7 B AR OR 3R ()

Movement in the Company’s reserves: AKRrRlz@EEES:
Capital
Share Treasury  Translation Contributed redemption Accumulated
premium shares reserve reserve surplus reserve profits Total
X
RPEE FERREE BERE EREHS BE #E REEF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET FTET FEL FET TET
(Note)
(CiE3)
At 1 April 2020 R-ZZ-FFNA—A 11,655,026 = 69,068 65,475 1,732 4,703,132 16,494,433
Profit for the year FEEa A — — — — — 3,407,712 3,407,712
Exchange difference arising MEEECZERLESE
from translation — — (1,077,337) — — —  (1,077,337)
Repurchase of shares | 8 Bk 1 (132,838) — — — 62 (62)  (132,838)
Dividends paid ERRE = = = = —  (2,608,662) (2,608,662)
At 31 March 2021 R=-ZE-_—F=ZA=+—H 11,522,188 = (1,008,269) 65,475 1,794 5,502,120 16,083,308
Profit for the year FERF — — — — — 4,304,473 4,304,473
Exchange difference arising BEEECZERZE
from translation — — (477,020) — — — (477,020)
Issue of shares, net of BART (MR HHA)
transaction costs 11,598,871 — — — — — 11,598,871
Repurchase of shares [l B8 Bk 10 (2,845,464) (1,085,120) — — 1,641 (1,641)  (3,930,584)
Dividends paid BfTERE = = = — —  (3,062,449) (3,062,449)
At 31 March 2022 R-—ZE-_—_F#=HA=+—H 2027559 (1,085,120) (1,485,289) 65,475 3,435 6,742,503 24,516,599

Note: The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference

M : ARBAZEHSBREARRNRAAT

between the underlying net assets of the subsidiaries acquired by the
Company as a result of the group reorganisation prior to the listing of the
Company's shares in 1995 and the nominal amount of the Company’s
share capital issued as consideration for the acquisition.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY ——
MBRE

For the year ended 31 March

BE=A=1+—HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—2-- —F-—F —ZT-FF —T-NF ZFTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT FE T FET FE T
Results E4
Revenue e A 88,225,193 69,975,381 59,539,681 59,386,062 52,831,958
Profit for the year PiN/NEIE ¥ =N
attributable to owners FE(LF S am F
of the Company 7,662,036 10,478,683 9,188,474 8,224,382 6,095,153
At 31 March
BR=BA=+—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
i —E- % ZTTHF —FT-NAF ZFE)NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHE T FE T FET FET
Assets and liabilities EENGBE
Total assets wEE 163,146,352 140,720,642 112,099,544 109,899,276 82,058,007
Total liabilities FeN = (91,077,199) (80,856,510) (66,299,594) (69,106,688) (49,327,907)
72,069,153 59,864,132 45,799,950 40,792,588 32,730,100
Equity attributable to BEARNA
owners of the Company B AR 63,577,893 51,936,860 39,604,964 35,321,051 28,455,996
Non-controlling interests 3128 % 1 #% 8,491,260 7,927,272 6,194,986 5,471,537 4,274,104
72,069,153 59,864,132 45,799,950 40,792,588 32,730,100

Financial Summary 817§ 2
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PARTICULARS OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

Location

b

Type
5l

Group's interest (%)

FEE Z (%)

Lease term

H

Leasehold land and buildings
HELHRET

In Hong Kong:
M

16/F., Capital Centre

No. 151 Gloucester Road
Wan Chai

Hong Kong

S

E (T

HLITBE1515%

BEARF L1618

In the People’s Republic of China:
REPREARAME :

R T B A K 385022 5%

%A EHBEGIE 812 - 101101 % -

1312« 1448 - 1542 2 1812

A BISARAE
ItRHmERMELZMEE6H

Bt ES
72 ) [ 15 [ B% SR 23U [ 5%
RERE AL A

Investment properties

REY*F

No. 28-30 Kai Tak Road
Kowloon City

Kowloon

Hong Kong

S

JLEE

JLBEK

% 1= 38 28-305%

Bt ES
72 ) [ 15 [ B% R Y[R 3R
ZER P A

Office premises
PREYHE

Commercial

EES
Commercial
[EES

Office premises

FINEL/ES

Commercial

[CES

Vacant land
=E i

Commercial

[EES

100

100

100

100

100

100

100
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Long term lease

FRHHED

Medium term lease

REIE A

Medium term lease

RHIAL

Medium term lease

RHIA L

Long term lease

FRHHED

Medium term lease

REEK

Long term lease

FRHHED



= CHINAGAS
= DA TR

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FERRERBRAA

Room 1601, 16" Floor, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

www.chinagasholdings.com.hk

responsible sources
E‘wiocrg FSC™ C127090

MIX
Paper from




	Cover
	About China Gas
	Contents
	Milestones
	Financial Highlights
	Operational Highlights
	Natural Gas
	Operational Locations of Natural Gas

	Liquefied Petroleum Gas
	Operational Locations of Liquefied Petroleum Gas

	Value-Added Services
	Urban Heating
	Dual-Carbon & New Energy
	Chairman's Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
	Corporate Governance Report
	Directors' Report
	Corporate Information
	Contents
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Financial Summary
	Particulars of Major Properties
	Back Cover



